
  

 

 Contacting the Council:  Switchboard 01782 717717 .  Text 07800 140048  

Email webmaster@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk.  www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 

Castle House 
Barracks Road 
Newcastle-under-Lyme 
Staffordshire 

ST5 1BL 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny 

Committee 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

PART 1 – OPEN AGENDA 

 
1 APOLOGIES    

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

3 MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING   (Pages 3 - 8) 

 To consider the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 June 2020. 
 

4 UPDATE FROM CABINET    

 Nothing to report 
 

5 BACK ON TRACK - CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC RECOVERY 
PLAN UPDATE   

(Pages 9 - 18) 

6 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND RECOVERY PLAN   (Pages 19 - 22) 

7 FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW REPORT - FIRST 
QUARTER (APRIL - JUNE) 2020-21   

(Pages 23 - 50) 

8 CIPFA GUIDE TO FINANCIAL SCRUTINY   (Pages 51 - 176) 

9 WORK PROGRAMME   (Pages 177 - 182) 

10 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME    

 Any member of the public wishing to submit a question must serve two clear days’ notice, 
in writing, of any such question to the Borough Council 
 

11 URGENT BUSINESS    

 To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100B (4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 
 

Date of 
meeting 
 

Thursday, 17th September, 2020 

Time 
 

7.00 pm 

Venue 
 

Finance, Assets and Performance Scrutiny Committee - Virtual 
Meeting - Conference 

Contact Geoff Durham 742222 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:webmaster@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


  

12 DATE OF NEXT MEETING - MONDAY 14 DECEMBER 2020   
 

 

  
Members: Councillors Mark Holland (Chair), Bert Proctor (Vice-Chair), Mrs Gillian Burnett, Andrew Fear, 

Tony Kearon, Mike Stubbs, Paul Waring, Kyle Robinson, Mrs Amelia Rout, Graham Hutton, 
Ms Sarah Pickup and Andrew Parker 
 

Note: only the following Members from the full membership who have been  
nominated to attend this Zoom meeting are required: 
 
M Holland (Chair), G Burnett, G Hutton, K Robinson, S Pickup, M Stubbs; B Proctor 
(Vice Chair) 
 
Members of the Council: If you identify any personal training/development requirements from any of  the 
items included in this agenda or through issues raised during the meeting, please bring them to the 
attention of the Democratic Services Officer at the close of the meeting. 

 
Meeting Quorums :- 16+= 5 Members; 10-15=4 Members; 5-9=3 Members; 5 or less = 2 Members. 

 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBER SCHEME (Appendix 9, Section 4 of Constitution) 
 
 The Constitution provides for the appointment of Substitute members to attend Committees.  

The named Substitutes for this meeting are listed below:-  
  
  

Substitute Members: John Cooper 
John Tagg 
Kenneth Owen 

Barry Panter 
Mrs Elizabeth Shenton 
Dave Jones 

 
 If you are unable to attend this meeting and wish to appoint a Substitute to attend in your 

place you need go: 
 

 Identify a Substitute member from the list above who is able to attend on your behalf 

 Notify the Chairman of the Committee (at least 24 hours before the meeting is due to 
take place) NB Only 2 Substitutes per political group are allowed for each meeting 
and your Chairman will advise you on whether that number has been reached 

 
Officers will be in attendance prior to the meeting for informal discussions on agenda items. 
 
Online Committee Meeting Joining Instructions 
 
This meeting will be held virtually using Zoom.  
 
Watching the Meeting. 
 
You can attend the meeting online at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87367242153 
 
You can also use the Zoom App or telephone 0330 088 5830 or 0131 460 1196 
 
The Conference ID for telephone and Zoom App users is: 873 6724 2153 
You do not require a password or pre-registration to access this committee meeting. 
Please note, as an attendee you will only be able to watch the meeting. You will not be able 
to vote, ask questions or discuss the materials presented to the committee. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87367242153


Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

1 

FINANCE, ASSETS & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 25th June, 2020 
Time of Commencement: 7.00 pm 

 
 
Present: Councillor Mark Holland (Chair) 
 
Councillors: Bert Proctor 

Mrs Gillian Burnett 
Mike Stubbs 
 

Kyle Robinson 
Graham Hutton 
Ms Sarah Pickup 
 

 
 

 
Officers: Jan Willis Interim Executive Director - 

Resources and Support 
Services and Section 151 
Officer 

 Roger Tait Head of Operations 
 Daniel Dickinson Head of Legal & Governance 

/Monitoring Officer 
 Denise French Democratic Services Team 

Leader 
 Geoff Durham Mayor's Secretary / Member 

Support Officer 
 David Elkington Head of Customer and Digital 

Services 
 
 
 
Also in 
Attendance: 

Martin Hamilton 
 
 
Councillor Simon Tagg 
 
 
Councillor Stephen Sweeney 
 

Chief Executive 
 
 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
and Service Improvement, 
People and Partnerships 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and 
Efficiency 
 

 
Note: In line with Government directions on staying at home during the current stage 
of the CV-19 pandemic, this meeting was conducted by video conferencing in 
accordance with the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020. 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
There were no apologies. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest stated. 
 

3. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING  
 
Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 January, 2020 

be agreed as a correct record. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

2 

 
4. CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC UPDATE  

 
Consideration was given to a report providing the Committee with a Covid-19 update 
in terms of the issues arising and actions taken within the service areas that fall 
under the Committee’s remit. 
 
Members’ attention was drawn to the appendix to the report which was a discussion 
paper with Covid-19 implications for this Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The Leader, Councillor Simon Tagg introduced the report which covered the 
following areas: 
 
Customer and Digital Services: 
 
Prior to the lockdown, the Council had already invested to ensure that staff could 
work remotely if necessary.  During lockdown, applications such as Teams and Zoom 
were utilised to enable remote meetings.  The Leader praised the IT section for the 
work that they had done in setting up the meetings facility, customer helplines and 
ensuring that staff could work from home effectively.  Members’ attention was drawn 
to paragraphs 3 to 5 of the appendix which referred to the Contact Centre, Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Reduction. 
 
People and Organisational Development: 
 
New policies had been developed to ensure fair and consistent practice across the 
workforce and to ensure everyone’s safety.  There had also been discussions with 
the Trade Unions. 
 
Legal and Democratic Services: 
 
The Group Leaders had met early on in the pandemic and had made a commitment 
to reconvene committee meetings virtually and Newcastle had been one of the first 
Council’s in the country to hold a virtual Planning Committee. 
 
There had been three Cabinet meetings and further meetings with Group Leaders to 
discuss the way forward. 
 
Financial Impact: 
 
The Council’s financial position had been impacted upon by the pandemic, through a 
combination of lost income and additional costs.  Car parks were now open and J2 
would be re-opening some of its activities shortly which would help with the recovery 
process. 
 
The Council had received almost £1.3m from the Government to help to support 
Covid related activity and the impact of the pandemic on the Council’s income.  The 
Council was lobbying the Government for further support. 
 
Recovery: 
 
The Cabinet had endorsed a recovery plan – ‘Back on Track’ to get the economy 
back to its pre-lockdown position as quickly and as safely as possible. 
 

Page 4



Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

3 

The Leader thanked all officers of the Council for the work that they had done 
throughout the pandemic and for what was being done for the recovery process. 
 
The Chair echoed the Leader’s comments and also thanked Council staff for how 
they had responded to the crisis. 
 
Councillor Pickup stated that the waste operatives had done a great job and asked if 
there had been any Covid cases amongst them.   
 
The Leader confirmed that there had been no Covid-19 cases amongst the 
operatives.  Some had self-isolated, either because they had displayed symptoms 
themselves or a member of their family had displayed symptoms, but none had 
contracted the virus. 
 
Councillor Pickup referred to paragraph 20 of the appendix and asked why the 
Council was losing £65,000 per month. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance and Efficiency, Councillor Stephen Sweeney stated 
that the Council had to hire more refuse vehicles to enable the collection of 
recyclable materials into one container.  This incurred an additional cost as the 
materials had to be sent away to be sorted.  This cost would reduce with the new 
recycling service now in place. 
 
The Leader stated that this Council had made the conscious decision to continue 
with the garden and recyclable waste collections throughout lockdown adding that it 
was the right thing to do.  The Council was aware of the cost implications but the 
introduction of the new system would reduce costs. 
 
Councillor Hutton congratulated officers for everything that had been achieved and 
made reference to the recycling waste teams. 
 
Councillor Stubbs made reference to a comment made earlier in the year by the 
Executive Director – Resources and Support Services, Jan Willis, that there was a 
possibility that a Section 114 Notice may have to be issued.  Given what was now 
known, Councillor Stubbs asked what the position in respect of the Notice was now.  
 
The Leader advised the position on this was receding as the Government had issued 
the grant.  The budgets, going forward – not just for this year but the following two 
would be considered closely. 
 
Ms Willis stated that the last Cabinet update said that the immediate prospect of the 
issuing of a Section 114 Notice had receded but it was difficult to say at this stage 
what the full extent of the impact would be as the continued extent of lockdown was 
still unknown and there could be further grants from Government. 
Ms Willis added that the Council could still balance the books for this financial year 
and should the need arise to draw from the reserves, they would then need to be 
replenished.  The Section 114 Notice would be kept on the table until it was clear that 
it was no longer required.  The Notice would not be useful as it would put a freeze on 
spending and the current position was due to a reduction in income and not from 
overspending.  There may be a point where such a Notice needed to be issued but 
there was nothing immediate.  In addition, there could be a further funding package 
received from the Government. 
 
The Leader advised that the Government were being lobbied and local MP’s were 
fighting for more funding to enable the Council to carry on through the pandemic. 

Page 5



Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

4 

 
Cllr Stubbs stated that he was pleased that MP’s were being lobbied and asked if 
more could be done such as the use of local press to promote the Council. 
 
The Chair stated that the Council had been adequately compensated so far but 
agreed that the receipts could not look at future years. 
 
The Leader advised that the Council was asking for a guaranteed scheme for 
Business Rates and Council Tax as plans were needed to maintain the Business 
rates income. 
 
Councillor Robinson congratulated officers for their work during the pandemic and 
stated that he had concerns about the finances, having seen in a recent Cabinet 
report that the reserves were low.  He asked if there was a level for reserves and if 
they would have to be dipped into soon.  
 
In addition, with the reduction in revenue, would it affect spending plans now or in the 
future and would any projects have to be put on hold? 
 
The Leader stated that it had to be recognised that reserves had been raised and 
would need to be raised higher, adding that reserves were much higher than they 
were in 2017 under the previous administration. 
 
Councillor Sweeney stated that a plan was being put into place to replenish and 
increase the reserves. 
 
Ms Willis advised that, in addition to the General Fund reserves there were other 
reserves that could be used so there were resources available. 
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) did make provision for 
increasing the revenue balances in future years as part of a longer term strategy.  
The MTFS would be revisited by the end of the summer when there would hopefully 
be a greater clarity of Government funding. 
 
Councillor Robinson stated that this was a difficult financial situation for the Council 
and referred to borrowing and projects. 
The Leader stated that the Council would try to keep all projects on track as 
commitments had been made.  A Capital Review Group had been set up and was 
looking at the projects which could be afforded at present. 
 
Councillor Sweeney added that everything was under constant review. 
 
Councillor Stubbs enquired if the Council had any ringfenced reserves and if so, 
would it be the Cabinet or Council who would un-ringfence them? 
 
Ms Willis stated that there were some ringfenced reserves but there were some un-
ringfenced that could be used to support the budget if there was a need to. 
 
Councillor Burnett stated that there was a need to look at support and recovery of 
local groups, for example community, school and church groups. 
 
The Leader advised that a lot had been picked up in the grants scheme.  Community 
Centres would be able to reopen from 4 July and those groups needed to be viable to 
continue as without such groups, a lot of volunteers would be lost.   
 

Page 6



Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

5 

The Leader added that he had provided funding to the scout group from his County 
Council Fund to help with their costs and stated that the Government did need to 
address support for community groups.  
 
Councillor Robinson agreed with Councillor Burnett’s comments and stated that the 
pandemic had helped to highlight the issue of social isolation and he hoped that the 
leadership and Council continues with the support to vulnerable people.   
 
Many people who had been receiving help had said that it had been amazing and 
that it would be nice if they could get involved with something similar after the 
pandemic. 
 
Councillor Sweeney agreed, stating that he had been involved in Zoom LAP 
meetings and everyone who had been offering help did not want to see it lost. 
  
The Leader advised the Committee that this was included within the ‘Back on Track’ 
Recovery Plan and the Portfolio Holder for Community Safety and Wellbeing, 
Councillor Helena Maxfield was working on it.  It was important that the Council 
continued to work with Support Staffordshire and the Realise Foundation who were 
doing online activities to keep connected with volunteers. 
 
Councillor Robinson asked the Leader, in response to the Coronavirus the 
Government will have ideas for Local Authorities to move forward and manage better 
which could involve a reorganisation.  If the County Council approached this 
Authority about unitisation, what would the response be? 
 
The Leader advised that there was a White Paper coming out in the summer.  The 
current model in Staffordshire works.  Reference was made to the Minister for 
Regional Growth and Local Government, Simon Clarke MP who had stated that one 
size did not fit all and where authorities prove that they can deliver there is no need 
to change the structure. 
 
Councillors’ Hutton Stubbs and Proctor all agreed that moving to a Unitary Authority 
would be disastrous and would move democracy away from Newcastle. 
 
The Leader agreed and stated that he did not expect any authorities in Staffordshire 
to go down that route and he was pleased to hear the comments of Simon Clarke MP 
who had said that authorities were different sizes and should work better together. 
 
The Chair stated that there was nothing to feed back to the Cabinet as the Leader 
and Deputy Leader had been in attendance. 
 
Resolved: That the report be received and the comments noted.       
 
  
 
 
 
    
 

5. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 
 

Page 7



Finance, Assets & Performance Scrutiny Committee - 25/06/20 

6 

COUNCILLOR MARK HOLLAND 
Chair 

 
 

Meeting concluded at 7.50 pm 
 

Page 8



  
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO  

 
Finance Assets and Performance Scrutiny Committee 

17 September 2020 
 
Report Title: Back on Track - Coronavirus Pandemic Recovery Plan Update. 
 
Submitted by: Executive Management Team 
 
Portfolios: All 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 

To inform the Committee of the actions being taken across the Council to recover from the impact of the 
Coronavirus Pandemic. 

Recommendation 
 
That the Committee considers whether it wishes to raise any queries or issues with Cabinet.  

Reasons 
 
To enable the Committee to undertake its remit of scrutinising corporate strategy.   

 

 
1. Report 

 
1.1 The attached report was submitted to Cabinet on 9th September 2020 and is submitted to 

the Committee in its role of undertaking corporate scrutiny.  
 
2. Appendix 

 
2.1 Report to Cabinet 9th September 2020 

  
 

  
  
  

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  
  

 
  
  

 
  
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



  
 

  

 
  
  

 
  

 
  
  
  

 
  
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

Page 10



  
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 

Choose an item. 
09 September 2020 

 
Report Title: Back on Track - Coronavirus Pandemic Recovery Plan Update 
 
Submitted by: Chief Executive 
 
Portfolios: All 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To inform the Cabinet of the actions being taken across the Council to recover from the impact of the 
Coronavirus Pandemic. 

 

Recommendation 
 
1. It is recommended that Cabinet note this report and endorse the work being undertaken to 

recover from the pandemic. 
  

Reasons 
 
To allow Cabinet to publicly consider the actions being undertaken in order to recover from the pandemic.  

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 Cabinet has regular reports detailing the Council’s response to the Coronavirus pandemic 

and, latterly, progress in delivering its recovery plan.  As work progresses nationally to ease 
the lockdown restrictions, this report provides the current position regarding the recovery 
effort. 

 
1.2 The recovery plan continues to be closely monitored by the Leader and Cabinet Members 

who are leading on specific work streams, with the Executive Management Team continuing 
to manage the day to day recovery effort alongside the ongoing elements of incident 
response which continue to be required. 

 
2. The Recovery Plan 

 
 2.1 This report addresses the Council’s current position across five areas of the recovery work: 

 Reopening Safe, Successful Retail Centres 

 Supporting Health & Wellbeing 

 Economic Recovery 

 Stepping-up Council Services 

 Financial Recovery 
 

 

Page 11



  
 

  

Reopening Safe, Successful Retail Centres 

 

2.2 Through work undertaken since June 2020, and previously reported to Cabinet, the 

Council has put arrangements in place to enable the safe re-opening of Newcastle and 

Kidsgrove town centres and the various district centres across the borough.   

 

2.3 More recently, the Council has been supporting the safe re-opening of pubs and cafes, 

with activity focussed on: 

 

 Provision of advice to pubs and cafes on how to re-open in a Covid secure way; 

 Facilitating pavement licenses for pubs and cafes, and nil cost to the businesses; 

 Monitoring compliance with government guidance regarding social distancing; 

 

2.4 To encourage footfall in the town centre, the Council has facilitated additional specialist 

markets, including a new Record Fair and a Young Traders market. 

 

Supporting Health & Wellbeing  

 

2.5 Following the easing of lockdown, and significant reduction in demand for the service, the 
Council discontinued its standalone helpline for individuals to reach out for assistance, and 
reverted to taking calls through its overall call centre.  Access to support is still available 
on line. At the onset of Covid-19 pandemic a Newcastle-under-Lyme Covid-19 Support 
Network (the Network) was established involving the Council, the Realise Foundation & 
Support Staffordshire. The aim of the Network has been to provide a co-ordinated 
response locally to ensure that everyone in need of support received it. This involved 
working with volunteers and voluntary & community organisations. Realise have co-
ordinated the delivery of support to individuals in need, and have had a team of staff 
allocated to the Network and we are working to create a legacy beyond dealing with the 
demands of Covid-19 and has the potential to provide the foundations on which community 
development activities in other circumstances can be based.  

 

2.6 Homeless & Rough Sleepers - in March the Government required District and Borough 

Councils to provide emergency accommodation for any rough sleepers in their area and 

provided funds to support this.  The Council is currently providing emergency 

accommodation for 19 individuals in a mix of bed and breakfast and range of temporary 

accommodation, with support tiered according to need. 

 

2.7 Work is continuing to ensure ongoing support for this cohort, in line with Government 

guidance.   

 

Economic Recovery 

2.8 As at 14th August the Council had paid out £21.793m to around 1900 businesses under 

the Government’s grant schemes for small businesses and businesses in the retail, 

hospitality and leisure sectors, and the discretionary fund established to support those 

businesses which did not meet the criteria of the initial government programmes.  These 

grant schemes closed in August in line with government direction.   

 

2.9 The Council’s economic recovery programme will involve a mix of immediate direct 

developments, alongside longer term strategic initiatives.  A bid has been made to the 

Page 12



  
 

  

Future High Streets Fund for schemes to facilitate the regeneration of Newcastle Town 

Centre, with a specific focus on the Ryecroft site. 

  

2.10 In addition to this, extensive work with partners is continuing to develop the Town Deal 

proposals for both Newcastle and Kidsgrove, and elsewhere on the agenda for this 

Cabinet Meeting is a report detailing the bids submitted under the Town Deal advance 

funding scheme recently launched by the Government. The Council is also bringing 

forward key sites for development including Sidmouth Avenue and the Newcastle mortuary 

site. 

 

Stepping-up Council Services 

 

2.11 Since the commencement of the lockdown, staff who have been able to effectively work 

from home have done so and as a consequence, the majority of services have continued 

with minimal disruption. As the lockdown has eased, services most impacted by the 

lockdown have been stepping back up to normal levels.  Key issues are: 

  

 J2 – reopened in August on a Covid secure basis.  This has involved putting in place 
social distancing and hygiene measures, and implementing a booking system rather 
than the previous “open access” where controlling the number of customers on site 
would be more difficult.  Attendances at J2 have grown steadily although subsequently 
a problem with the main swimming pool has meant that this facility is currently out of 
use. 

 

 Museum – this facility is now reopened, but with restrictions in place around numbers 
permitted in the building and a more restricted access to the collection than normal. 

 

 Customer Contact facilities – assisted self-service facilities at Castle House were 
reintroduced in August for those customers unable to access services online or by 
phone. The performance of the customer contact service has remained strong in 
terms of the percentage of calls answered and time taken to answer notwithstanding 
that there was a 75% increase in the volume of calls in June as the customer services 
team responded to a large number of queries about the roll out of the new waste and 
recycling service, the annual elections canvass and exceptional demand in revenues 
and benefits. Revenues and benefits performance has also remained strong with new 
Council Tax reduction claims and changes of circumstances being processed in less 
than 4 days on average, an improvement of the same quarter last year despite a huge 
jump in the number of new claims received during April and May and a significant 
amount of resources being diverted to deal with business support grant applications 
and administration of business rate reliefs and the council tax hardship fund. 

 

 Bereavement – demand for service has returned to the usual level however.  Steps 
are being taken to increase the numbers able to attend funerals whilst still maintaining 
social distancing.   

 

 Taxi Licensing – the service is focusing on supporting existing drivers, with no new 
licence applications currently being processed.  Taxi testing has been suspended.  
Nevertheless, through holding remote licensing hearings and other measures in place, 
there remains an appropriately licenced adequate taxi and hackney carriage fleet in 
operation.  

 

2.12 A review of service readiness to return to normal service as part of the recovery plan has 

identified the following services where challenges are expected to either continue or, in 

some instances, increase in the coming months. 

Page 13



  
 

  

 

 Inspections and enforcement activity – in a number of areas either the health and 

safety issues presented by Covid, or the temporary closure of businesses, has meant 

that officers are working through a significant backlog of casework.  This is across a 

number of Council service areas including housing grants, food premises inspections, 

planning enforcement, pest control etc. 

 

 Homeless Support – having responded successfully to the Government call to 

provide accommodation to all rough sleepers and others presenting as homeless, 

there is a requirement to sustain that provision and the associated support on an 

ongoing basis.  Demand during this time has been approximately double the normal 

level, and this presents pressure both on availability of places and the associated 

costs. 

 

 Taxi driver and vehicle licencing & inspections – As highlighted above, this is a 

service significantly impacted by the pandemic in terms of service delivery.  As a 

consequence, there is a backlog of both current and new driver/vehicle licence 

applications.  In addition, vehicle inspections continue to be suspended and, as such, 

a significant demand for inspections can be anticipated placing pressure on the 

Garage Workshop. 

 

 Local Outbreak Control measures – this is a new responsibility for the Council 

involving, primarily, the Environmental Health service which will have a significant role 

in managing any local Covid outbreaks associated with businesses or certain high risk 

premises.  This function was initially envisaged to be a reactive service, stepping up 

when an outbreak occurred, but in the light of experience nationally, is now 

undertaking work pro-actively.  This involves carrying out visits to high risk premises 

with a view to identifying potential issues and addressing them promptly with business 

owners to reduce the risk of infections or local outbreaks. The Council has received 

£50k Government funding via the County Council to support this function.  The Leader 

of the Council sits on the County-wide Local Outbreak Board. 

 

 Other Pressures – in addition to addressing the service pressures above, the Council 

is responding to the financial impact of the pandemic by refreshing its Medium Term 

Financial Plan, and accelerating work on the Digital Strategy and Commercialisation.  

This will be an additional work pressure across the Council alongside the service 

specific issues.  The Council is also currently rolling out the new recycling service. 

 
2.13 The challenges identified fall disproportionately on a number of services.  Environmental 

Services, which covers licencing & environmental health and is leading on the air quality 
project on behalf of the Borough and Stoke-on-Trent City Council, is likely to be the focus 
for significant additional demands.  This is under constant review by the Executive 
Management Team and Cabinet, which will direct priorities and resourcing. 
 

Financial Recovery 

 
 
 

2.14 The pandemic continues to have a significant impact on the Council’s financial position 

through a mix of lost income and additional costs. To date Government funding of £1.743m 

has been secured (including £170k of new burdens funding to offset the costs of 

administering Coronavirus business support grant and hardship relief schemes), which 

has reduced the immediate pressure on Council finances. Additional costs have also 

begun to fall with the return of a degree of normality and the roll out of the new waste and 

Page 14



  
 

  

recycling service.  However, the current forecast is still for a net revenue overspend of 

£321k in this financial year, assuming no further imposition of lockdown measures. 

 

2.15 The Council’s revenue budget relies on service income from fees and charges of c£850k 
per month across a wide range of services, with a significant proportion coming from J2 
and car parking.  The Council has been actively monitoring the impact of the lockdown 
and the working practices required to ensure safe practice.  Across the business, net 
monthly income losses stabilised at c£276k during the first quarter but have now started 
to recover as the lockdown has eased. The Government announcement that it will fund 
income losses above the first 5% at the rate of 75p in the pound in the current financial 
year will to a significant degree insulate the Council from income related financial risks.  

 
2.16 The scheme compensates for income that local authorities generate independently which 

is defined as a sale, fees and charges, and is unable to be recovered – for example, car 
parking charges or receipts from museum charges. It does not include commercial income, 
such as rents. The 5% deductible will be calculated using sales, fees and charges budgets 
for 2020/21 as this represents what the Council expected to collect from these income 
sources at the start of the year. Compensation will be provided to mitigate the net budget 
gap which income losses have created, i.e. after the savings that the Council has made 
regarding the furlough scheme.  It is currently estimated that of the £2.4m forecast income 
losses in 2020/21 the Government will fund £1.5m leaving the Council with a deficit of 
£0.9m which will need to be funded from revenue resources or reserves. 

 

2.17 Local tax income is collected by billing authorities and paid into local ‘collection funds’ (the 
Council is a billing authority). Where there is a shortfall in tax receipts (compared to 
expected levels), this leads to a deficit on the collection fund. Billing and major precepting 
authorities are usually required to meet their share of any deficit during the following 
financial year. In response to forecast shortfalls in tax receipts relating to COVID-19, the 
government is proposing that repayments to meet collection fund deficits accrued in 2020-
21 will instead be phased over a three-year period (2021-22 to 2023-24) to ease immediate 
pressures on budgets. The phased amount will be the entire collection fund deficit for 
2020-21 as estimated on the 15 January 2021 for council tax and in the 2021-22 NNDR1 
for business rates. 

 
2.18 MHCLG will continue to work with CIPFA and local government on the detailed operation 

of the scheme – including the accounting, audit and reporting implications – with a view to 
providing guidance to councils later in the year. 

 
2.19 The current forecast shortfalls in tax receipts, and the proposed repayments under this 

scheme are shown below: 
 

Tax Total Deficit 
Forecast 

Council’s 
Share 

Repayable 
2021/22 

Repayable 
2022/23 

Repayable 
2023/24 

Council Tax £1.325m £0.156m 
(11.8%) 

£0.052m £0.052m £0.052m 

NNDR £12.132m £4.853m 
(40%) 

£1.618m £1.618m £1.617m 

NNDR 
Section 31 
Measures 

(£11.246m) (£4.497m) 
(40%) 

(£1.499m) (£1.499m) (£1.499m) 

Total £2.211m £0.512m £0.171m £0.171m £0.170m 

 
2.20 The Government announcement made on 2 July referred to a further apportionment 

between MHCLG and Local Government of irrecoverable tax losses (i.e. debts required to 
be written off for businesses ceasing to trade), however there has been no further mention 

Page 15



  
 

  

of this in the technical note received and details of how this will operate in practice are still 
awaited. 

 
2.21 The Council continues to actively lobby our local Members of Parliament and through 

national networks as part of the wider public sector family, to make the case for further 

Government support to address Covid-19 related costs and loss of income.  Particular 

emphasis in our lobbying has been the impact on Business Rates and Council Tax 

collection and the implications for future financial years. 

2.22 Work is continuing on the development of a financial recovery plan including: 

 Benchmarking of Council service performance and budgets; 

 Review of performance against the Council Plan to date, and confirmation of Council 

priorities post Covid;  

 Identification of savings opportunities, including accelerated delivery of the digital and 

commercial strategies and exploration of alternative service delivery models; 

 Refresh of the Medium Term Financial Plan in the light of the above. 

3.  PProposal  
  
3.1 Cabinet are recommended to note this report. 

 
4. Reasons for Proposed Solution 

 
4.1 This report serves to brief Cabinet on the work being undertaken to address the 

Coronavirus pandemic, and the financial impact that the pandemic is having on the 
Council, and the recovery arrangements being put in place. 

 
5. Options Considered 

 
 5.1 N/A 

 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications 

 
 6.1 Addressing the impact of Coronavirus locally has involved adjustment to some service 

provision.  When making such changes there are a number of legal and statutory 
implications to take into account.  These are all appropriately factored into decision taking 
by the Incident Management Team. 

 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 7.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
8.1 The Council’s General Fund balance as at 31st March 2019 was £1.548m.  Careful 

monitoring of the financial position will be required over coming weeks and months leading 
to prompt corrective action where necessary to ensure that reserves are not exhausted 
and the Council remains in a position of being able to deliver a balanced budget position 
in the current financial year and beyond. 

  
9. Major Risks 

 
 9.1 The Coronavirus pandemic, in the round, represents a significant risk to the Council.  This 

report sets out how that risk is being addressed. 
 

Page 16



  
 

  

10. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
10.1 N/A 

  
11. Key Decision Information 

 
 11.1 This is not a key decision. 

 
12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
 12.1 None 

 
13. List of Appendices 

 
 13.1 Back on Track – Recovery Plan 

 
14. Background Papers 

 
14.1 None  
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



  
Published 11 September, 2020 
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO  

 
Finance Assets and Performance Scrutiny Committee 

17 September 2020 
 
Report Title: Financial Sustainability and Recovery Plan 
 
Submitted by: Executive Director Resources and Support Services 
 
Portfolios: All 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To inform the Committee of the actions being taken to formulate a financial sustainability and recovery 
plan in response to the Coronavirus Pandemic. 

 

Recommendation 
 
1. It is recommended that Committee note this report and comment on the work being undertaken 

to develop a post COVID financial sustainability and recovery plan. 
  

Reasons 
 
To allow the Committee to consider and comment on the financial recovery actions being undertaken in 
response to the Coronavirus pandemic to ensure that the council continues to be financially sustainable in 
the medium to long term.  

 
1. 
 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 

Background 
 
Over the past decade, the council has successfully adjusted to an increasingly difficult financial 
reality. Between 2010/11 and 2017/18 government grants were reduced by almost a half and 
revenue support phased out entirely, leaving the council wholly dependent on income raised locally 
from fees and charges and council tax and business rates revenues to fund service delivery. These 
reductions have been accompanied by continuing uncertainty about future funding with the 
delayed of the business rates retention and the Fair Funding review, both of which could 
fundamentally change how much funding individual local authorities will receive.  
 
The pressures already on council’s revenue budget have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 
crisis which, notwithstanding the additional funding allocated by government to help the council 
manage the immediate impact of lost income, reductions in planned savings and additional 
service delivery costs, is likely to impact council finances for the foreseeable future as the 
council, local businesses and residents start to recover from the economic consequences of the 
pandemic. Many of the financial strategies now being developed in response to COVID-19 will 
set the scene for service planning and budgets years to come. 
 

 
2. Issues 

 
The Financial Impact of COVID-19 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



  
Published 11 September, 2020 
 

  

 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 
2.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As reported to Cabinet on 9th September, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a 
significant impact on the council’s financial position. To date Government funding of £1.743m 
has been secured (including £170k of new burdens funding to offset the costs of administering 
Coronavirus business support grant and hardship relief schemes), which has reduced the 
immediate pressure on Council finances. Additional costs have also begun to fall with the return 
of a degree of normality and the roll out of the new waste and recycling service. However, the 
current forecast is still for a net revenue overspend of £321k in this financial year, assuming no 
further imposition of lockdown measures.  
 
The Council’s revenue budget relies on service income from fees and charges of c£850k per 
month across a wide range of services, with a significant proportion coming from J2 and car 
parking. The Council has been actively monitoring the impact of the lockdown and the working 
practices required to ensure safe practice. Across the business, net monthly income losses 
stabilised at c£276k during the first quarter but have now started to recover as the lockdown has 
eased. The Government announcement that it will fund income losses above the first 5% at the 
rate of 75p in the pound in the current financial year will to a significant degree insulate the 
Council from income related financial risks.  
 
The scheme compensates for income that local authorities generate independently which is 
defined as a sale, fees and charges, and is unable to be recovered – for example, car 
parking charges or receipts from museum charges. It does not include commercial income, such 
as rents. The 5% deductible will be calculated using sales, fees and charges budgets for 
2020/21 as this represents what the Council expected to collect from these income sources at 
the start of the year. Compensation will be provided to mitigate the net budget gap which income 
losses have created, i.e. after the savings that the Council has made regarding the furlough 
scheme. It is currently estimated that of the £2.4m forecast income losses in 2020/21 the 
Government will fund £1.5m leaving the Council with a deficit of £0.9m which will need to be 
funded from revenue resources or reserves.  
 
Local tax income is collected by billing authorities and paid into local ‘collection funds’ (the 
Council is a billing authority). Where there is a shortfall in tax receipts (compared to expected 
levels), this leads to a deficit on the collection fund. Billing and major precepting authorities are 
usually required to meet their share of any deficit during the following financial year. In response 
to forecast shortfalls in tax receipts relating to COVID-19, the government is proposing that 
repayments to meet collection fund deficits accrued in 2020- 21 will instead be phased over a 
three-year period (2021-22 to 2023-24) to ease immediate pressures on budgets. The phased 
amount will be the entire collection fund deficit for 2020-21 as estimated on the 15 January 2021 
for council tax and in the 2021-22 NNDR1 for business rates.  
 
MHCLG will continue to work with CIPFA and local government on the detailed operation of the 
scheme – including the accounting, audit and reporting implications – with a view to providing 
guidance to councils later in the year.  
 
The current forecast shortfalls in tax receipts, and the proposed repayments under this scheme 
are shown below:  
 

Tax Total Deficit 
Forecast 

Council’s 
Share 

Repayable 
2021/22 

Repayable 
2022/23 

Repayable 
2023/24 

Council Tax £1.325m £0.156m 
(11.8%) 

£0.052m £0.052m £0.052m 

NNDR £12.132m £4.853m 
(40%) 

£1.618m £1.618m £1.617m 

NNDR 
Section 31 
Measures 

(£11.246m) (£4.497m) 
(40%) 

(£1.499m) (£1.499m) (£1.499m) 

Page 20



  
Published 11 September, 2020 
 

  

 
 
2.7 
 
 
 
 
2.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total £2.211m £0.512m £0.171m £0.171m £0.170m 

 
The Government announcement made on 2 July referred to a further apportionment between 
MHCLG and Local Government of irrecoverable tax losses (i.e. debts required to be written off 
for businesses ceasing to trade), however details of how this will operate in practice are still 
awaited.  
 
The Council continues to actively lobby our local Members of Parliament and through national 
networks as part of the wider public sector family, to make the case for further Government 
support to address Covid-19 related costs and loss of income. Particular emphasis in our 
lobbying has been the impact on Business Rates and Council Tax collection and the implications 
for future financial years.  
 
The council’s strategic response 
 
As the council formulates its response to the post COVID financial sustainability challenge there 
are a number of key questions that it needs to consider: 
 

 Are the services being provided by the council still appropriate and valued by the 
community? 

 Is the council delivering its services in an optimal way, considering new methods of 
delivery and sourcing options? 

 Does the council have an understanding of costs and performance across the entirety of 
its service portfolio and how these compare with other similar local authorities? 

 Does the council have a complete and accurate picture of its asset maintenance and 
renewal costs over the longer term? 

 How does the council allocate its resources against immediate and future requirements 
and also prioritise the requirements and expectations of the local community? 

 How is the council ensuring that all parts of the organisation are working in concert to an 
agreed set of strategic priorities and a financially sustainable outcome? 

 
 
Work has already commenced on the development of a financial recovery plan including 

updating medium term financial forecasts and reserves risk assessments in the light of latest 

intelligence and identification of savings opportunities arising from accelerated delivery of the 

digital and commercial strategies and exploration of alternative service delivery models. In 

parallel with this work a review of performance against the Council Plan to date and confirmation 

of Council priorities post COVID is also being undertaken. The outcome of all this work will be 

reported to November Cabinet in the form of a refreshed Medium Term Financial Strategy and a 

set of financial sustainability principles that will guide the development of the MTFS and budget 

proposals for 2021/22 and beyond as greater clarity emerges about the longer term impact of 

COVID and the shape of the forthcoming Comprehensive Spending Review and local 

government funding proposals. 

 
 

 

3. 
 
3.1 

 Proposal  
  
The Committee are recommended to note this report and to comment on the work being 
undertaken to develop a post COVID financial sustainability and recovery plan. 

 
4. Reasons for Proposed Solution 

 

Page 21



  
Published 11 September, 2020 
 

  

This report serves to brief the Committee on the work being undertaken to address the financial 
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic and to develop a strategic response that will ensure that the 
council continues to be financially sustainable in the medium to long term. 
 

  
5. Options Considered 

 
 5.1 N/A 

 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications 

 
 6.1 Addressing the impact of Coronavirus locally has involved adjustment to some service 

provision.  When making such changes there are a number of legal and statutory implications 
to take into account.  These are all appropriately factored into decision taking by the Incident 
Management Team. 

 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 7.1 None directly arising from this report. 

 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
8.1 The Council’s General Fund balance as at 31st March 2019 was £1.548m.  Careful monitoring 

of the financial position will be required over coming weeks and months leading to prompt 
corrective action where necessary to ensure that reserves are not exhausted and the Council 
remains in a position of being able to deliver a balanced budget position in the current 
financial year and beyond. 

  
9. Major Risks 

 
 9.1 The Coronavirus pandemic, in the round, represents a significant risk to the Council.  This 

report sets out how the financial dimensions of that risk are being addressed. 
 

10. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
10.1 N/A 

  
11. Key Decision Information 

 
 11.1 This is not a key decision. 

 
12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
 12.1 None 

 
13. List of Appendices 

 
 13.1 Back on Track – Recovery Plan Cabinet 9th September 2020 

 
14. Background Papers 

 
14.1 None  
 

 
  

 

Page 22



  
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO  

 
Finance Assets and Performance Scrutiny Committee 

17 September 2020 
 
Report Title: Financial and Performance Review report – First quarter (Apr-Jun) 2020-21. 
 
Submitted by: Executive Management Team 
 
Portfolios: Corporate & Service Improvement, People & Partnerships, Finance & Efficiency 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
To provide the Committee with the opportunity to scrutinise the Financial and Performance Review report 

for the first quarter of 2020-21. 

 

Recommendation 
 
That the Committee considers whether it wishes to raise any queries or issues with Cabinet.  

Reasons 
 
To enable the Committee to undertake its remit of scrutinising financial monitoring and performance 

management. 

 

 
1. Report 

 
1.1 The attached report was submitted to Cabinet on 9th September 2020 and is submitted to 

the Committee in its role of undertaking financial and performance scrutiny.  
 
2. Appendix 

 
2.1 Report to Cabinet 9th September 2020 

  
 

  
  
  

 
 

  
  

 
  

 
  
  

 
  
  

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



  
 

  

  
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
  
  
  

 
  
  

 
  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 

Page 24



  

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
09 September 2020 

 
Report Title: Financial and Performance Review report – First quarter (Apr-Jun) 2020-21. 
 
Submitted by: Executive Management Team   
 
Portfolios: Corporate & Service Improvement, People & Partnerships, Finance & Efficiency 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 

Purpose of the Report 

To provide Cabinet with the Financial and Performance Review report for the first quarter of 2020-21. 
 

Recommendation 
That Members note the contents of the attached report and continue to monitor and challenge the  
Council’s performance alongside its financial performance for the same period. 
 

Reasons 
The Financial and Performance Management monitoring reports provide information on a quarterly basis 
regarding the performance of individual council services and progress with delivery against our priorities, 
alongside related financial information on the organisation. 
It should be noted that certain activities from 20 March 2020 were impacted by Covid 19 and the resulting 
actions taken by the Council to protect and ensure support is available to everyone.  
 

 
1. Background 

 
 1.1 This quarterly report provides Members with a detailed update on how the Council has 

performed during the first quarter 2020/21 by presenting performance data and progress 
summary set within a financial context.  The report provides broad financial information 
(Appendix A) and also details service performance (Appendix B) for the first quarter 2020/21. 

 
1.2 This report covers the peak period of the Covid 19 lockdown, when a number of customer 

facing services were required to close, or where the customer base simply stopped using the 
service.  Despite these unprecedented circumstances, as the summary of the overall 
performance picture is presented in section 4 of this report reflects, performance has 
generally held up well. 

 
2. 2020-21 Revenue and Capital Budget Position 
 
2.1     The Council approved a General Fund Revenue Budget of £15,690,000 on 19 February 

2020. Further financial information is provided in Appendix A. 
 
3. Development of the Financial and Performance Report 
 
3.1 The performance section –Appendix B was reviewed and updated for 2020-21 and the 

indicators continue to reflect the priorities in the Council Plan.  In addition to reporting on key 
performance indicators, the report includes a progress summary for each priority, detailing 
the progress with the delivery of planned activities.   

 
 

Page 25



  

  

3.2 Additional performance information is provided, not only to ensure the monitoring of the 
corporate activities of the council, but also to inform Members, businesses and residents of 
performance in their local economy. 

 
   
4 Performance 
 
4.1 The latest performance information for quarter one has been analysed and all indicators 

monitored for this period are listed in the table found in Appendix B. 
 
4.2 Any indicators failing to meet the set targets include a comment explaining why the indicator 

has not performed well, and what steps are being taken to ensure improvement in the future. 
 
4.3 For this report a total of 16 indicators were monitored, and the proportion of indicators which 

have met their target (where set) or are within tolerance levels during this period stands at 
87%. It should be noted that several indicators were not monitored this quarter due to the 
closure of some services for example, the Brampton Museum and leisure facilities. 
 

4.4 There are 5 indicators off target this quarter, and officers consider that the performance 
against these indicators does not give rise to serious cause for concern at present (see 
commentary provided at Appendix B). The management of each of the service areas 
concerned continue to monitor and take steps to deal with under achievement of targets 
where possible and/or appropriate, taking into account the limitations presented by the 
Covid19 situation.  

 
4.5 Progress on delivery of planned activities is summarised for each priority and no concerns 

are highlighted. 
 

5. Legal and Statutory Implications 
 
5.1 The Council has a duty to set targets for performance of a range of functions and needs to 

monitor these closely.     
  
6. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
6.1 There are no differential equality issues arising directly from this monitoring report.  

  
7. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
7.1 Any positive variance for the full year on the General Fund Revenue Account will enable that 

amount to be transferred to the Budget Support Fund and will be available in future years 
for use as the Council considers appropriate.  Conversely, if there is an adverse variance, 
the amount required to cover this will have to be met from the Budget Support Fund. 

  
8. Major Risks 

 
8.1 The ongoing changing market conditions represents the greatest risk to the revenue budget, 

particularly with regard to the impact it may have upon income receivable in relation to 
services where customers may choose whether or not to use Council facilities or in the case 
of the waste/recycling service where the volume of recycled materials is liable to fluctuate. 
The impact of Covid 19 is more apparent in the reporting of this quarter, impacting on many 
areas and the situation will continue to be monitored through the normal budget monitoring 
procedures. 

 

8.2 The capital programme will require regular monitoring to identify any projects which are 
falling behind their planned completion dates. This will be carried out by the Capital 
Programme Review Group, which meets on a monthly basis together with quarterly reports 
to Cabinet. 

 

Page 26



  

  

8.3 The above represents a high level view of risk. There are detailed risk registers available if 
members wish to see them.  

  
 

9. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 
 
9.1  N/A 

  
10. Key Decision Information 

 
10.1 Included on the Forward Plan 

  
11. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
11.1  N/A 

  
12. List of Appendices 

 
12.1 Financial information (Appendix A), and Performance (Appendix B). 
 

  
13. Background Papers 

13.1 Working papers held by officers responsible for calculating indicators. 
  

 
 

  

Page 27



  

  

Financial Position Quarter One 2020/21 

 
 

1. General Fund Revenue Budget 
 

1.1 The Council approved a General Fund Revenue Budget of £15.690m on 19 February 2020. The actual 
position compared to this budget is continuously monitored by managers, EMT and Portfolio Holders 
in order to detect any significant variances of expenditure or income from the approved amounts 
contained in the budget. 

  

1.2 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the Council’s financial position through a mix 
of lost income and additional costs. Government funding of £1.573m has been secured which includes 
a third tranche of funding announced on 16 July 2020. In addition to this funding the Government has 
advised that they will be sharing income losses incurred as a result of COVID-19, for which the Council 
forecasts to receive £1.507m. This support has significantly relieved pressure on the Council’s revenue 
budget during the remainder of the year. 

 
1.3 The Council’s revenue budget relies on service income from fees and charges across a wide range of 

services, with a significant proportion coming from Jubilee 2 and car parking. The Council has been 
actively monitoring the impact of the lockdown on income and the Council’s working practices required 
to ensure safe practice and the safety of its residents.  

 
1.4 In the longer term, any impact on either business rates collection (due to business failure) or Council 

Tax collection (due to non-payment) will materialise in 2021/22. The Government have announced that 
they will share collection fund losses and have advised that the Council can recover any deficits over 
3 years. 

 
1.5 The consequences of the Coronavirus on the Council’s financial position will depend significantly on 

the duration of the lockdown and on the scale and timing of further Government financial support. The 
Council is actively lobbying our local Members of Parliament and through national networks as part of 
the wider public sector family, to make the case for further Government support to address COVID-19 
related costs and loss of income. Particular emphasis in our lobbying has been the impact on Business 
rate and Council tax collection. 

 
1.6 The Council continues to strongly manage budgets and spending. Action has been taken to furlough a 

number of staff, primarily from Leisure, where there is no ability or need to redeploy. This will enable 
the Council to recoup a proportion of their salary costs from the Government. Staff continue to be on 
full pay, and their contracts of employment are unaffected, with them returning to their usual roles as 
soon as the easing of lockdown permits. Furlough funding is estimated to amount to £0.176m, with 
Leisure facilities reopening at the end of July. 

 
1.7 Careful monitoring of the financial position will be required over coming weeks and months leading to 

prompt corrective action where necessary to ensure that reserves are not exhausted and the Council 
remains in a position of being able to deliver a balanced budget position in the current financial year 
and beyond. 

 
2. Capital Programme 

 

2.1 A Capital Programme totalling £12,454,103 was approved for 2020/21. Of this total £10,454,103 relates 
to the total cost of new schemes for 2020/21 together with £1,000,000 for schemes funded by external 
sources (Disabled Facilities Grants), £1,000,000 contingency. In addition £3,024,776, was brought 
forward from the 2019/20 Capital Programme, resulting in a total Capital Programme of £15,478,879 
for 2020/21. 

 
2.2 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the financial impact this has placed on the Council, a review of 

the 2020/21 Capital Programme has been completed with the assistance of Budget Holders and 
members of the Capital, Assets and Commercial Investment Review Group. The rationale behind this 

Page 28



  

  

review was to establish which of the capital projects approved in the programme were essential or 
health and safety related, were unable to be commenced due to the pandemic, could be deferred to 
the following year due to resources and services available during the crisis or were no longer required. 

 
2.3 The revised 2020/21 Capital Programme now totals £7,302,631 which includes £1,000,000 for 

schemes funded by external sources (Disabled Facilities Grants), £250,000 contingency to reflect the 
remainder of the year. A summary of these changes can be found in appendix A attached. 

 
 

3. Revenue Budget Position 
 

3.1 As at the end of the first quarter, the general fund budget shows an adverse variance of £0.089m. It is 
forecast that this variance will increase to £0.330m by the close of the financial year if no further action 
is undertaken. 

 
3.2 The main reasons for the overall adverse variance are: 

 
a. Income shortfalls from sales, fees and charges which are eligible for partial reclaim via the Income 

Losses Scheme total £0.956m at the end of the first quarter, it is forecast that these losses will 
increase to £2.602m by the close of the financial year. 
 

b. Additional expenditure pressures of £0.496m at the end of the first quarter (forecast to increase to 
£1.240m at the close of the financial year) as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 
These include Waste and Recycling (£334k disposal costs and hire of vehicles to allow social 
distancing at the end of the first quarter), Homelessness (£85k provision of accommodation at the 
end of the first quarter), 

 
c. Housing Benefits – there has been a shortfall in the recovery of housing benefits overpayments 

when compared to the budget of £0.045m during the first quarter, it is forecast that this will increase 
to £0.111m by the close of the financial year. In addition to this Housing Benefits payments made 
by the Council which are not fully subsidised by the Department of Works and Pensions are being 
incurred, mainly around the provision of accommodation for vulnerable people, it is estimated that 
the shortfall from this will amount to £0.300m by the close of the financial year. 

 
d. A top up of the general fund reserve to its minimum level regarding the 2019/20 deficit of £0.207m. 

 
3.3 These adverse variances are partially offset by the following favourable variances: 

 
a. Government Funding to offset to offset pressures that the Council has/will continue to face as a 

result of the COVID-19 pandemic, £1.358m had been received during the first quarter, with a further 
£0.215m imminent. 

  
b. It is anticipated that the Council will be reimbursed £1.507m in relation to the Income Losses 

scheme for eligible sales, fees and charges income shortfalls. 
 

c. Furlough scheme funding of £0.138m has been received to date, it is estimated that a further 
£0.038m will be received for July. 

 
d. £0.170m will be paid to the Council for the administration of the COVID-19 Business grants 

schemes. 

 
e. Expenditure has been reduced wherever possible throughout the Council to ensure that only 

absolutely necessary spending is being incurred, this has helped to reduce the adverse variance 
on a service by service basis. It has been forecast that this situation will continue throughout the 
remainder of the financial year. 

 

Page 29



  

  

3.4 Cabinet and the Executive Management Team will continue to be updated on the Council’s financial 
position and actions taken in the forthcoming weeks and months. This will include a revised 
recommended level of reserves and the financial implications of this. 

 
 

4. Capital Programme Position 
 

4.1 The Capital Programme approved by Council in February 2020 has been updated to take account of 
amounts brought forward from 2019/20 where planned expenditure did not occur. This has been added 
to the budget for 2020/21 (apart from cases where costs have been reduced or expenditure will no 
longer be incurred). In addition a review of the Capital Programme has been completed (referenced in 
section 2 of the report) as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore the revised budget for capital 
projects in 2020/21 now totals £7,302,631.  

 
4.2 The expected total capital receipts due to be received this year following the sale of assets will amount 

to £3.745,000. Deposits in respect of the disposal of assets totalling £150,000 have been received to 
date. A summary of the expected income is shown in the table below. 

 

Funding Amount (£’000) 

Proceeds from disposal of assets 2,945 

Proceeds from Right to Buy sales 400 

Proceeds from sale of old Waste 

Recycling Fleet 

400 

Total 3,745 

 

4.3 The Capital Funding required for the 2019/20 programme includes £3,508,298 of capital receipts. The 
receipts received during the year amounted to £763,000, £2,290,000 expected to be received during 
2019/20 will now be received in 2020/21 due to completions delays and Covid-19. The remaining 
£455,298 relates to two assets which will need to be re-listed due to withdrawal of interest from the 
purchaser and change in circumstances. 

 

4.4 £3,546,689 of the revised budget was expected to be spent by 30 June; the actual amount spent was 
£3,538,661 resulting in a favourable variance at the end of the first quarter of £8,028. The expenditure 
in the first quarter predominately relates to the purchase of the new Recycling Waste Service Fleet and 
recycling bins. 

 

5. Treasury Management 

 

5.1 Borrowing will be required during 2020/21 to fund the revised capital programme however no borrowing 
arrangements have been made to date. 

 
5.2 The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) is currently completing a “Future Lending Terms” consultation, 

seeking views from local authorites and other stakeholders. This consulation period closing on 31 July 
2020 and there is speculation that the outcome of this review will see the PWLB reduce its borrowing 
rates. 

 
5.3 The PWLB is one of the borrowing options the Council is currently reviewing to fund its capital 

programme and will await the outcome of the consultation before securing borrowing requirements for 
the capital programme. 

  

Page 30



  

  

 
Appendix A 

2020/21 Revised Capital Programme (Revised Programme shown in detail in second table) 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Approved 
2020/21 

Programme 

Revised 
2020/21 

Programme 

£ £ 

Service Area - Council Modernisation 380,000 254,653 

Total 380,000 254,653 

Service Area - Housing Improvements 1,070,000 1,071,000 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 131,531 97,000 

Total 1,201,531 1,168,000 

Service Area - Environmental Health 10,000 10,000 

Service Area – Street Scene and Bereavement 
Services 295,600 197,000 

Service Area - Recycling and Fleet 3,766,000 3,503,703 

Service Area - Leisure 3,682,000 1,135,000 

Service Area - Museum 95,000 97,536 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 55,547 20,000 

Service Area - Engineering 165,873 232,873 

Total 8,070,020 5,196,112 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 1,702,553 333,866 

Total 1,702,553 333,866 

      

CONTINGENCY/FEASABILITY STUDIES 1,100,000 350,000 

      

TOTAL 12,454,103 7,302,631 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



  

  

 
 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 
Proposed Programme 

2020/21 
£ 

 

PRIORITY - Local Services that work for Local People 

Service Area - Council Modernisation 

Mobile Technology Roll Out 30,000 

Desktop Technology Refresh 8,000 

Microsoft LAR Uplifts 50,000 

Digital Delivery Integration Costs 30,000 

Replacement of Civica APP 30,000 

Replacement of Civica Financials 30,000 

Implementation of SharePoint 20,000 

Mobile Telephony Refresh 10,000 

Pilate Gauge Replacement 6,653 

Packet Shaper refresh 20,000 

E-payments replacement 20,000 

Total (Service Area) 254,653 

Total Priority 254,653 

PRIORITY - Growing our People and Places 

Service Area - Housing Improvements 

Disabled Facilities Grants 1,000,000 

Empty Homes Grants 6,000 

Carbon Management 65,000 

Total (Service Area) 1,071,000 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 

Stock Condition Survey Works 97,000 

Total (Service Area) 97,000 

Total Priority 1,168,000 

  

PRIORITY - A Healthy, Active and Safe Borough 

Service Area – Environmental Health 

CCTV/Body worn cameras 10,000 

Total (Service Area) 10,000 

Service Area - Streetscene & Bereavement Services 

Footpath Repairs 20,000 

Play Area Refurbishment 30,000 

Railings/Structures Repairs 15,000 

Britain in Bloom 15,000 

Traveller Encroachment 5,000 

Memorial Survey 5,000 

Crematorium Monthly Gardens 5,000 

Pool Dam Marshes LNR 87,000 

Grounds Maintenance Invest to Save Programme 15,000 

Total (Service Area) 197,000 

Service Area - Recycling & Fleet     

Replacement Bins/Containers 50,000 

Wheelie Bins – New Recycling Service 870,000 

Paper Recycling Internal Bin Caddie 43,703 

Twin Body RCV for New Recycling Service x 7 1,650,000 

New Food Waste Collection Service Vehicles x 7 490,000 

Corporate Fleet Replacement 300,000 

Page 32



  

  

Transfer Station Alterations (New Recycling Service) 100,000 

Total (Service Area) 3,503,703 

Service Area - Leisure 

Aqua Sauna Refurbishment 75,000 

Carbon Management 40,000 

Jubilee 2 Pool Filters 20,000 

Kidsgrove Sports Centre 1,000,000 

Total (Service Area) 1,135,000 

Service Area - Museum 

HLF Match Funding 75,000 

CCTV Replacement/Upgrade 20,000 

Museum Project 2,536 

Total (Service Area) 97,536 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 

Stock Condition Survey Works 20,000 

Total (Service Area) 20,000 

Service Area - Engineering 

Ryehills over Marian Platt walkway 45,000 

Kidsgrove Loopline Bridge Over Walkway in Park 37,865 

Road Bridge over former Railway, Audley 30,000 

Car Park at Butchers Arms 20,000 

St James Closed Churchyard, Newchapel 12,008 

St James, Church Street, Audley 88,000 

Total (Service Area) 232,873 

Total Priority 5,196,112 

  

PRIORITY - A Town Centre For All 

Service Area - Managing Property & Assets 

Stock Condition Survey Works 274,866 

Midway Car Park, Newcastle 10,000 

Markets 40,000 

Bus Shelters 9,000 

Total (Service Area) 333,866 

Total Priority 333,866 

    

CONTINGENCY 250,000 

FEASIBILITY STUDIES 100,000 

    

TOTAL 7,302,631 

 

Page 33



  

  

 
  

Page 34



  
Corporate Performance Quarter 1 2020-21 

  

Priority 1: Local Services that Work for Local People 

Progress Summary  
Overall, our performance with a combination of monitoring and target driven indicators for this priority is positive in this quarter but work is underway to impact 
on the result. 
 A summary of progress with planned activities  for Priority One  from the Council Plan 2018-2022 are as follows:- 

 Increase Access to Information; 

 Throughout the early stages of the Covid19 Lockdown, the Council maintained services by encouraging customer self service via the website, and 

through effective call centre support.  This was a good test of the changes previously introduced to migrate to a modern customer relationship 

management system, which allowed much greater self-service than previously. 

 

 Improve Customer Satisfaction; 

 Develop Customer Service 

In this quarter, a review on how Customer Services is delivered is being undertaken. Two key themes that are being looked at is how we use the insight data and 
feedback from customers in shaping the services moving forward and the benefits of Customer Service Excellence both locally in Customer Services and also across 
all front facing services delivered from other sites. 

 Improving the use of Customer Insight 

 The Customer and Digital Services Team continue to work on ways to collect citizen feedback more effectively.  Automatic surveys are offered to 

customers at the end of telephone calls and online forms, asking customers to provide feedback. There is a continued approach to look at how we 

can improve on the gathering and interpretation of this data. 

 

 Digital Delivery :-Agree a transparent digital strategy: – 

 Investment in digital systems were tested this quarter by the Covid19 Lockdown.  The Planning Service for example, which is now fully on line, 

maintained performance with the whole team working remotely, and Planning Committee operating virtually. Technology to support remote 

working was rolled out to all staff required to work from home during the COVID lockdown, allowing service delivery to continue uninterrupted for 

the most part.  

 

 Deliver new Recycling and Waste Service: 

During this quarter the decision was made to roll out the new recycling service ahead of its original planned introduction in September, as the new service is simpler 
to operate and more efficient, and therefore more able to deal with the effect of Covid related issues on staff numbers and social distancing. The roll out was 
undertaken in two phases starting on southern district rounds with distribution of bins and bags commencing at the end of May 20. First collections of the new service 
in the South of the borough started on Monday 8th June, and has been very successful with high participation, high quality material, and very positive feedback from 
residents who really like the new service. Roll out of bins and bags to the north of the borough commenced in the last week of June (Qtr 1) with the first collections 
commencing early July. 
 

 Establish Workforce Strategy: 

P
age 35



  

  

 Develop robust, innovative and efficient work force plans  

Despite the Covid 19 situation, work has continued across services in the development of robust, innovative and efficient work force plans which align to the council 
vision for the future. 
 
Progress summary continued 

 Develop organisational culture  

High on the list of priorities is the engagement of staff in the development of organisational values and behaviours; from which recognition and reward, development 
and learning and leadership strategies will be developed. Work was paused on this toward the end of quarter 4 due to significant resource channel to the Covid-19 
response, however work to distribute a staff survey and develop a values realisation process to inform the culture commenced in this quarter. HR are continuing to 
work with all managers to coach and mentor them through all the HR policies to embed good practice and develop their skills in managing staff successfully to enable 
a positive working culture. 

 Ensure staff wellbeing 

There has been a strong focus on staff wellbeing over recent months, particularly around Mental Health, stress reduction and support. This includes a new Employee 
Assistance Programme and mental health helpline and a Thriving During Isolation workbook. Work will continue to develop other key People Policies which are 
designed to promote equity of practice, engagement, wellbeing and commitment to continuous improvement including a commitment embraced by the JNCC to sign 
the Dying to Work Charter in partnership with Trade Union colleagues. 

 To review and continue to develop key People policies  

Ongoing discussions with the Trade Unions on Organisation Change and Redeployment have been paused during the Covid-19 outbreak, but the HR team has 
continued to work with all managers to coach and mentor them through all the HR policies to embed good practice and develop their skills in managing staff 
successfully to enable a positive working culture. 

 

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

1.1 Environmental 
Health  

Cllr. Trevor 
Johnson 

Percentage of food 
premises that have a 
zero or one national food 
hygiene rating 

Low 

1.24%                  
(14 out of 

1,131 
published 
premises) 

0.88% 
(10 out of 

1138 
published 
premises) 

- 
5% 

Delivery of this planned 
programme was prevented during 
the Covid lockdown however, over 
two hundred Covid-19 queries and 
complaints received, and the team 
continue to communicate with 
food premises and other licensed 
premises in order to advise and 
record future appointments. 

- 

1.2  
New 

Environmental 
Health  

Cllr. Trevor 
Johnson 

Percentage of category A 
and B food business 
inspections completed 
on time 

High 100% 97% - - - 

1.3 
New 

Environmental 
Health  

Cllr. 
Stephen 
Sweeney 

No. Accidents/Incidents 
reported (RIDDOR) 

Low 2 1 1 - 

There was one incident which was 
slip, trip, fall and no further action 
required. There is no target set as it 
would be inappropriate to set a 
target in this respect. 

- 

  

P
age 36



  

  

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

1.4a Recycling & 
Fleet 

Cllr. Trevor 
Johnson 

Household collections 
from the kerbside (%):- 

 Dry Recycling 
High 16.32% 20.24% 18.26% 20% 

Dry Recycling and food collection 
performance significantly affected 
by Covid. Separate food waste 
collections were suspended to 
concentrate resources into refuse, 
recycling and garden waste, as the 
department suffered a loss of 25% 
of its workforce due to Covid self-
isolation and shielding. Tonnage of 
refuse increased significantly, 
26.04% up on previous quarter 1 
figures taken over the last three 
years. Recycling was up by 10.28%, 
but as refuse was so much greater, 
in overall percentage of the total 
amount of waste collected, it 
showed a decline. This trend is not 
unique to NuLBC, with similar 
patterns experienced throughout 
the country. 

 

1.4b   

 Food High 5.14% 5.86% 0.10% 5% - 

1.4c   

 Amount of 

residual  Waste 

per household 

Low 110.66kgs 103.64kgs 131.19kgs 

107.5kgs 
(per 

household) 
cumulative 

 

1.4d  Operations  Cllr. Trevor 
Johnson 

Number of missed 
kerbside collections:-                                        
Total    (per 100,000 
collections)  

Low 71 76.54 119.51 
80 (per 
100,000 

collections) 

In this quarter there were a total of 
1,207,424 collections of residual, 
garden waste, recycling and food. 
There were missed collections of 
Residual - 577, Garden Waste – 349 
and Recycling -517. Covid had a 
significant effect on staff numbers 
as stated above, meaning staff 
from other departments were 
redeployed onto collection rounds 
where they were unfamiliar. Rates 
of missed collections were worse in 
April, but improved by the end of 
June as redeployed staff became 
more familiar with the service 
rounds, and some staff returned 
from shielding. 

 

P
age 37



  

  

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

1.5 Operations  Cllr. Trevor 
Johnson 

Levels of street and 
environment cleanliness 
(LEQ survey) free / 
predominantly free of 
litter, detritus, graffiti 
and fly-posting) 

High - 

93.77% 
93.56% 
99.78% 
100% 

- 

91%            
91%           
97%                
99% 

The surveys are undertaken at a 
later date. 

- 

1.6 Customer & ICT Cllr. Simon 
Tagg 

Percentage of requests 
resolved at first point of 
contact  

High 99% 99% 99.28% 97% 
An excellent result, exceeding the 
target set in Qtr. 1.  

1.7 Customer & ICT Cllr. Simon 
Tagg 

% Unmet demand 
(number of calls not 
answered as a % of total 
call handling volume)  Low 6.33% 12.15% 10.29% 10% 

Performance is just slightly off 
target but within tolerance levels, 
and is an improved result for this 
quarter despite telephone contacts 
remaining high at 35,360 
compared to 35,330 in Qtr 4.   

 

1.8  Digital Delivery Cllr. Simon 
Tagg 

Total number of digital 
on-line transactions 
(Jadu). 

High - 20,581 18,640 - 
The number of online transactions 
in the Jadu system remains high. 

- 

1.9  Communication Cllr. Simon 
Tagg 

Total number of unique 
users to the website 
 

High 101,097 107,005 124,917 79,500 
There was a total of 124,914 
unique users in this quarter, well 
up on the previous quarter.   

1.10 Revenues & 
Benefits 

Cllr. 
Stephen 
Sweeney 

Time taken to process 
Housing/Council Tax 
Benefit new claims and 
change events 

Low 4.93 days 2.56 days 3.73 days 10 days 

This result is well within target and 
improved on last year’s result in 
spite of a spike in universal credit 
claims due to COVID during April 
and May. 

 

1.11 Revenues & 

Benefits 

Cllr. 

Stephen 

Sweeney 

Percentage of Council 

Tax collected High 27.30% 97.3%*  26.5% 24.12% 

The Council Tax Collection rate is 
slightly down on Qtr 1 last year and 
soft reminders have been sent in 
the last 4 weeks.  

 

1.12 Revenues & 

Benefits 

Cllr. 

Stephen 

Sweeney 

Percentage of National 

non-domestic rates 

collected 
High 29.50% 99.47% 20.6% 26.22% 

The result is below target this 
quarter due to the impact of COVID 
and suspension of recovery action 
for Business Rates. 

 

P
age 38



  

  

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

1.13 Human 

Resources 

Cllr. Simon 

Tagg 

Average number of days 

per employee lost to 

sickness 

Low 2.45 days 8.62 days 2.45 days  

2 days 
 Qtr 1 
8 days          
annual 

(cumulative) 

The Qtr 1 sickness figure of 2.45 
days is just over the target. Work is 
ongoing to ensure consistency of 
application of attendance 
management policy. It was 
anticipated that sickness absence 
may increase due to Covid-19 but it 
has not had a dramatic effect on 
this indicator.  

 

1.14 

New 

Human 

Resources 

Cllr. Simon 

Tagg 

Staff turnover 

Low 9.09% 4.19% 0.95% 10% 
The turnover is down on the figure 
for this quarter last year.   

1.15 

New 

Human 

Resources 

Cllr. Simon 

Tagg 

Staff vacancy rates 

Low 11.63% 5.08% 0.19% - Vacancy rates are low this quarter. - 

*The result is within tolerance 

 

  

P
age 39



  

  

Priority 2: Growing our People and Places 

Progress Summary  
For this section, we had the introduction of four new indicators for planning in the second quarter which measure the speed and quality of decisions. A summary of 
progress with planned activities  for Priority 2 from the Council Plan 2018-2022 are as follows:- 

 Deliver Joint Local Plan  

In February 2020, the Councils agreed to produce the Joint Local Plan in two parts; Part One Strategy and Policies and Part Two Site Allocations. There were due to 
be two consultations this year, with Part One being subject to consultation in April/May 2020 and Part Two in the Autumn of this year. Due to the impact of Covid 
19, consultation on Part One of the Plan must now be postponed as it is not possible to carry out the consultation in a way which would have met the Councils 
obligations set out in the Joint Statement of Community Involvement. Work will continue on the Draft Joint Local Plan aiming to minimise any potential delay to the 
overall plan timetable. As such, it is proposed that both parts of the Draft Plan will be subject to one 6 week public consultation in the Autumn. 
 

 Delivery of the  Economic Development Strategy and action plan 

Progress with delivery of the Economic development Strategy and action plan is set out in more detail below against individual projects – One Public Estate, Prepare 
a Town Centre Strategy, market, and business support. Establish a Town Centre Communications Group and Develop a Kidsgrove Town Centre Investment Plan.  
Additionally, in response to Covid-19 the Council addressed the issue of re-opening town centres post-Lockdown through the ‘Back on Track’ recovery plan. The 
Council also received notification of the Restarting High Street Safely Fund and in Quarter2 will submit and deliver proposals for Newcastle and Kidsgrove Town 
Centres in response to this fund. 
 

 Progress University Growth Corridor 

As the delivery of the UGC is dependent on the adoption of the Joint Local Plan, this work is being pursued through the review of the plan. Consultation with Silverdale 
and Keele Parish Councils will continue in line with the wider plan consultation process.    
 

 Deliver appropriate housing to those in need: 

 
 Retender Housing Advice service – 

 Newcastle housing advice (NHA) service delivers the Council’s homelessness, housing advice and housing register services in the Borough. The Council 

has made the decision to bring the service back in-house by 1st April 2021, over the forthcoming year the Council will be working with the current 

contractor Midland heart to transfer the service effectively. The Council has been successful in securing funding from the MHCLG for the appointment 

of a Rough Sleeper Navigator, this 12 month post will be established in April 2020 within the NHA team.  

 
 Joint allocation policy and procurement of a Choice Based Lettings system 

The Council has adopted a new Joint Housing Allocations Policy in-conjunction with Aspire Housing. This joint policy will allow customers of the Borough to access 
social housing owned and managed by Aspire Housing and other Private Registered Providers to whom the Council has partnerships within the Borough. The Council 
and Aspire Housing is procuring a joint Choice Based Letting (CBL) system during 2020/21 that will deliver the platform for the administration function of the housing 

P
age 40



  

  

register. This will allow our customers to make one application for social housing, a greatly improved approach compared to our current systems requiring 2 
applications. During the first quarter the specification was developed and Locata were chosen to deliver the IT system through a framework agreement.  
 
 
Progress Summary continued 

 One Public Estate   

 
The Borough Council have received as sum of £50,000 from ‘One Public Estate’, (a body set up to encourage public agencies to work together to make better use of 
their property assets), to cover the cost of undertaking the masterplanning of Knutton Village. This will involve preparing proposals for the use or development of a 
number of cleared sites around the centre of Knutton in the ownership of the Borough and County Councils and Aspire Housing. The objective is to of bring forward 
new housing development in the area and to assess the potential for investing in the improvement and consolidation of community facilities.  Aspire Housing is also 
contributing to the resources of the Study with a view to it reviewing its role as a provider of affordable housing in the area, including that of housing for the elderly.  In 
this quarter, White Young Green completed a draft final report which has taken into account the physical, financial and practicalities of the viability of development 
and considered the views of local stakeholders and ward members, and this is now being reviewed by the Borough and County Councils and Aspire Housing (all of 
which are significant landowners in the area). Officers are now preparing for public consultation on the proposals which will start in Quarter 2. There will be financial 
implications for the Council and our partners which will need to be considered. The bid for Town Deal funding may consider helping to address some of the abnormal 
costs of bringing forward a suitable scheme. 
 

 Consideration of a property investment model and Property Diversification 

 
Consideration is being given to the Borough Council taking a more active role in developing its sites (i.e. by way of forming a property development company or 
similar) either on its own or in a partnership arrangement. The Commercial Strategy 2019-24 was approved by Cabinet in and the commercial investment advisors 
appointed to review and advise in respect of the Council’s commercial portfolio. Work on this has been ongoing throughout quarter 1, during quarter 2 the draft 
report will be considered.  
 

 Masterplan of land at:- Chatterley Close area  by Bradwell crematorium; off Liverpool Road, Keele Golf Course and Birchenwood 

 
The specification for the masterplan of land in the Chatterley Close area, Bradwell, was completed and tenders submitted to ensure a qualified and experienced 
consultant can undertake the work.  The intention is to report to cabinet in October on the next steps of the consultation on the extension of the Cemetery. Keele 
masterplan was approved in principle last year and is subject to consideration as part of the development of the Joint Local Plan. Following the Phase 1 environmental 
impact assessment for Birchenwood, a preliminary ground investigation  
survey was delayed due to Covid but has now been commissioned. 
 

 Planning Consent – Sidmouth Ave  

 
Planning approval was granted in December 2019 for the partial demolition and change of use of the former Registry Office into a single dwelling and the provision 
of three new detached dwelling in Sidmouth Avenue. In Qtr 4 2019/20 alternative options were considered in respect of developing the site and in quarter 1 2020/21 
the decision was taken to market the site, this has been done with a closing date for the beginning of September.     
 

 

P
age 41



  

  

  

P
age 42



  

  

 

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good is Result  
Qtr 1 

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

2.1 Property Cllr. Paul 

Northcott 

Percentage of investment 
portfolio vacant (NBC owned) Low 7 % 8.3% 7% 12% 

This indicator remains well 

within target.  

2.2 Planning & 

Development 

Cllr. Paul 

Northcott 

Speed of major development 
applications (P151a) High - 

80% 
(Apr 2018- 
Mar 2020) 

84.6% 
(Jul 2018 - 
Jun 2020) 

60% 

These indicators remain well 
within target and are 
improving or being 
maintained at an acceptable 
level. 

 

2.3 Quality of major development 
applications (P152a) Low - 

1.6% 
(Jan 2017 – 
Dec 2018) 

3% (Apr 
2017 – 

Mar 2019) 

10% 
 

2.4 Speed of non-major 
development applications 
(P153) 

High - 
87.5%  

(Apr 2018-
Mar 2020) 

88.7% (Jul 
2018 – 

Jun2020) 

70% 
 

2.5 Quality of non-major 
development applications 
(P154) 

Low - 
0.9% 

(Jan 2017 – 
Dec 2018) 

1% (Apr 
2017 – 

Mar 2019) 

10% 
 

  

P
age 43



  

  

Priority 3: A Healthy, Active & Safe Borough 

Progress Summary  
Overall the performance for this priority advises the progress where possible, however the impact of Covid 19 is considerable to service provision or where facilities 
have had to close during this period. 
A summary of progress with planned activities  for Priority 3 from the Council Plan 2018-2022 are as follows:- 

 Secure J2 Remedial works 

Following consultation with Cabinet the Aqua Sauna is now being redesigned as a Pilates room. This will enhance the health and wellbeing offer at Jubilee2 and 
create a unique customer experience. It is envisaged that this project will be completed in the Autumn of 2020. 

 Secure J2 commercialisation 

During lockdown memberships at Jubilee2 fell by 20% which was in line with the industry average. Jubilee2 opened with a reduced capacity on the 25th July 2020 
to comply with industry and Government advice on social distancing. Work is progressing with Alliance Leisure to ensure members are retained and two new 
schemes have been launched. Options are also being considered to identify how we can reduce operational costs, and should these ideas be deemed appropriate, a 
business case will be raised to agree the necessary investment. In addition, options are being explored for the Council to deliver a school swimming programme 
which should bring additional income into the service, from January 2021. 

 Kidsgrove Sports Centre 

Work is continuing with WDC and the community group to secure a financially viable scope of works that suits both the needs of the community groups’ business 
model and the budgetary constraints of the Council.  Additional funding opportunities are being investigated also. Advance works / internal strip out works by WDC 
are then hoped to commence in October 2020, upon completion of the property transfer from Staffordshire County Council in October. 
 

 Secure funds for Museum Extension 

The council is awaiting the Permission to Start from the National Lottery heritage Fund. Once that has been received the invitation to tender will be released on open 
tender.  
 

 Open Space Strategy  

Due to the pandemic, the Heart of England in Bloom campaign and all local Newcastle in Bloom competitions and activities have been suspended for 2020 – the 
intention is to roll most of the planned activities forward to 2021. The Green Flag Awards scheme has been reviewed and will proceed in 2020 on a desktop assessment 
basis with a mystery shop site visit later in the year. The Council has entered 7 sites.  
 

 Streetscene Fleet procurement 

Procurement of fleet and equipment for the insourcing of the Bereavement Services Grounds Maintenance was successfully completed, allowing grounds 
maintenance at the cemeteries and crematorium to continue at a time when these sites are very important to bereaved families. 
 

 Feasibility study for Crematorium  extension 

An officer working group was established to progress the feasibility study and this work was linked into the masterplanning commission for the Chatterley Close area 
which has been completed. A workshop to discuss initial findings was held in April 2020 and a report is being prepared for consideration by Cabinet in October 2020. 
 
 

P
age 44



  

  

 
Progress Summary continued 

 Affordable Funeral Scheme 

A suite of tender documents has been prepared for issue to local suppliers. However, the pandemic has meant there is a delay due to other priorities and capacity 
issues across the whole sector so the timeline is being reviewed.  

 Deliver Capital Programme projects 

              Work was completed on a number of sites to install deterrent measures to discourage unauthorised encampments and railing/fencing repairs.  

 Protect our communities by delivering priority community safety, food safety & licensing projects: 

 Taxi Licensing Policy  

In the first quarter of 2019-20, members of the Licensing and Public Protection Committee approved the content of the taxi policy.  The policy document is a wide 
scale reform of the current policy, to ensure that the Council has a policy that is fit for purpose in respect of the legislative framework and administration of the 
service. Members of the Licensing and Public Protection Committee approved the policy and agreed that the policy has been implemented on 1st November 2019 
with two exceptions noted to be undertaken in January 2020. The equality training and completion of a new knowledge test has now been completed in quarter 4 
resulting in full implementation of the policy. 

 Environmental Health & Licensing 

A new responsibility for the authority this quarter is for the team to ensure the Covid 19 restrictions were applied and in place as directed by Government. Also the 
new pavement licensing regime is to be administered by the service, this is a temporary licence which allows premises to apply for a licence for tables & chairs and 
other furniture on the pavement outside of their premises. In addition, the service is supporting the County Council in the Covid outbreak controls for high risk 
premises. It is unknown at present how long these responsibilities will remain in place. 

 Commission new CCTV Service 

Following approval by Cabinet and the Business Improvement District Board for the commissioning of the CCTV service with Stoke City Council significant work has 
been undertaken to make the service live by 1st April 2020. A new CCTV Policy has also been approved alongside the development of a range of documents which 
form the legal contract with Stoke City Council. The replacement CCTV cameras in the town centre and Midway have been successfully installed and are operational. 
The new cameras in Bridge Street need additional electricity supply which unfortunately was not completed prior to the Covid-19 lockdown. This will be picked up 
by the relevant contractors once the businesses are back operating.  

 Town Centre ASB enforcement 

A range of Partnership activity continues to be co-ordinated this quarter, including; the CCTV implementation and monitoring; identifying ASB hotspot areas to target 
harden and make more secure; working closely with partners to identify individuals in need of support, working with the rough sleepers team to ensure that 
appropriate support is provided, utilising the Council’s civil enforcement powers such as Community Protection Notice Warnings (CPNWs ), Community Protection 
Notices and Injunctions, continued enforcement of PSPOs for the Town Centre and Queen Elizabeth Park, working with the Police to encourage use of Section 
34/35/59 powers (criminal powers), and developing a range of community safety projects to improve the aesthetics of the town centre and contribute to improving 
perceptions of safety. The council has an appointed Rough Sleeper Co-ordinator to assist in galvanising partnership activity with some of our vulnerable residents. As 
part of the Covid-19 Everyone In response, the Council provided additional accommodation and support to Rough Sleepers to encourage engagement where possible. 

 Air Quality Local Development Plan 

Work is continuing with Stoke-on-Trent City Council and Staffordshire County Council to create the North Staffordshire Local Air Quality Plan to bring about 
improvements in Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels. This quarter has seen progress with development of all the business cases and drafting outline business case. 

P
age 45



  

  

 
  P

age 46



  

  

 

 Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 
Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

3.1a 

Community 
Safety 

Cllr. 
Helena 
Maxfield 

Anti-Social Behaviour 
(ASB) cases:- 
-New cases received 
during the quarter 

     

There are currently 11 
cases discussed at the ASB, 
Youth Violence and Gangs 
Case conference.  

- 

Low 117 71 107 - - 

3.1b 
-Current open  cases at 
the end of the quarter  

Low 28 6 11 - - 

3.1c 
-Cases closed in the 
quarter  

High 97 71 102 - - 

3.2  
Community 

Safety 

Cllr. 

Helena 

Maxfield 

Number of  referrals 
made regarding 
vulnerability by 
participating 
organisations at the 
Daily Hub 

High 40 27 56 - 

A total number of 56 
referrals were made from 
Daily Hub meetings that 
have taken place over the 
period 1 April – 30 June 
2020. 

- 

3.3 
Culture & 

Arts 

Cllr. Jill 

Waring 
Number of people 
visiting the museum 

High 

16,775        

Qtr 1    

(cumulative) 

8599*   
 Qtr 4    

(57300) 
cumulative) 

- 
 (59,000 

cumulative) 

The museum and leisure 
facilities closed due to 
COVID-19 on March 20th so 
there were no visitors from 
20 March 2020 to date. 

- 

3.4 Leisure 
Cllr. Jill 

Waring 

Number of people 
accessing leisure and 
recreational facilities  

High 

141,579          

Qtr 1 

(cumulative) 

118,667    

 Qtr 4   

(545,516 

cumulative) 

- 
 (600,000 

cumulative) 
- 

3.5  Leisure 
Cllr. Jill 

Waring 

Net growth   in  J2 
Membership 
(Quarterly) 

High 
1.01% 

(3,057) 

-5.17% 
    (2899 

members) 
- 

(3,250 
members)      

6.31% 
Annual  

- 

P
age 47



  

  

Priority 4: A Town Centre for All 

Progress Summary  
For this quarter, the results demonstrate a varying level of activity and further comments are detailed in this report. 
A summary of progress with planned activities  for this priority  from the Council Plan 2018-2022 are as follows:- 

• Prepare a Town Centre Strategy  

The Council has been successful in progressing to the next stage of the Future High Street Fund and has been invited to take part in the Town Deal. As part of the 
Future High Streets Fund the Council has commissioned Stantec to assist in the development of the Business Case in line with MHCLG requirements, initial plans were 
submitted to MHCLG in quarter 4 and further development of the bid took place in Quarter 1.  The final bid will be approved and submitted by the end of July 2020.  
Partners have come together to establish the Town Deal Board, which in Quarter 1 worked with the appointed consultants AECOM to put out a call for projects, 
consider these against the strategic outcomes for the Town Deal and start development of the Town Investment Plan which has to be submitted by the end of October 
2020.  The Government has also offered all Town Deal additional ‘accelerated funding’ to deliver quick win projects, which have to be notified to MHCLG by 14 Aug 
2020 and completed by end March 2021. The council and Newcastle Town Deal Board have been working with AECOM to develop a suite of early interventions to 
use this additional funding in a way that is in line with the Town investment Plan proposals. 

 Market  

The Service Improvement Plan for the market was presented at the June 2019 Cabinet and the Economic Development & Enterprise Scrutiny Committee where it 
was approved with recommendations noted and for delivery in 12 months. The Town Centre Officer has been appointed and progress made in delivering the 
improvement plan, this has included moving some of the stalls to the southern side of the Guildhall where there is greater footfall and to enable use of the stalls for 
the farmers market.  Plans were also made to focus on specialist markets such as the successful Continental Market.  During Quarter 1 market activity was suspended 
during Lockdown.  During this period the opportunity was taken to appoint a contactor to install lighting on market stalls in the upper market area. Unused market 
stalls at the lower end of the market were also removed to condense the market to the more popular northern area. Additional Visiting Markets have been added to 
the event calendar with the successful Continental Street Market and new Sunday Record Fair attending in Quarter 2.  The Town Centre action group meets on a 
quarterly basis. 

  Business Support  

Work continues in signposting business queries to the Growth Hub and maintenance of Business support pages on website. The Business pages on the website have 
been updated in the light of Covid-19 to signpost businesses to sources of information and support. Around 900 business have contacted the council for business 
advice via the online form since March 2020, plus additional queries by phone. In June, all contacts were sent a copy of the council’s re-opening checklist, a link to 
add their details to the Shop Local page and a request to hold their contact details on file if they were interested in receiving a regular e-newsletter. Over 100 
responded to this request, which gives an excellent starting point to keeping business updated in the future. Additionally, a Business Recovery page has been set up 
on the website, as well as a ‘Shop Local’ page aimed at giving consumers information about the re-opening of local businesses and the steps they are taking to protect 
customers. A specific business information Twitter account has also been set up.  The 2019 Business Boost competition was completed with over 20 businesses taking 
part in 4 prize categories. The Business Boost competition will not be going ahead in 2020 but will be re-launched in 2021 with a revised format, focusing on businesses 
who have survived and thrived during the pandemic.  

 Parking Policy  

The Council adopted a new Car Parking Strategy in 2019/20. The Council is working to establish card payments on the pay and display car parks which has included 
the purchase of 12 ticket machines, these were due to be installed at the end of March however the manufacturer has unfortunately placed production on hold due 
to Covid and the machines are now due to be installed in quarter 2. The Council has also commenced in quarter 1 the procurement of a new contractor for the 

P
age 48



  

  

delivery of a mobile phone APP to enable drivers to pay for their parking and extend without the need to return to their cars. The 3 month notice has been served on 
the current contractor with the intention of the new service commencing in Quarter 3.    
Progress Summary continued 

 Establish Town Centre Communications Group  

A core group which consists of the Borough Council, Business Improvement District, HitMix Radio, Newcastle College, New Vic Theatre and Newcastle-based 
information platform BaBaBaboon continue to meet on a regular basis and the goal is to share and jointly promote positive messages and information about 
Newcastle town centre. HitMix Radio are due to bring their roadshow to the Sunday Record Fair in July and have heavily promoted the event in the weeks before on 
their broadcasts. 

 Develop a Kidsgrove Town Centre Investment Plan 

Partners have come together to form a Kidsgrove Town Deal Board (KTDB) which has continued to meet monthly, supported by the appointed consultants, AECOM. 
A readiness checklist has been submitted to MHCLG outlining the town’s preparedness to develop new plans. AECOM are continuing to lead and develop both the 
Newcastle-under-Lyme and Kidsgrove Town Investment Plans, working in partnership with the two Town Boards, Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council, wider 
organisations and the area’s communities to deliver the Town Investment Plans. These Investment Plans will review and build on existing plans where appropriate; 
create the conditions for further investment; and realise lasting and sustainable benefits for the area’s residents and businesses. The Government has also offered 
all Town Deal additional ‘accelerated funding’ to deliver quick win projects, which have to be notified to MHCLG by 14 Aug 2020 and completed by end March 2021. 
The council and KTDB have been working with AECOM to develop a suite of early interventions to use this additional funding in a way that will enhance the projects 
being included in the Investment Plan.  

Ref Service  
Area 

Portfolio 

Holder 

Indicator Good 
is 

Result  
Qtr 1  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 4  

2019-20 

Result  
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

Target 
Qtr 1 

2020-21 

How have we performed? Status 

4.1  

Regeneration 
& Economic 
Development  

Cllr. 
Stephen 
Sweeney 

Car parking usage:-
Number of tickets 
purchased 

High 114,874 100,209 - - 
Charges for car parking were 
suspended during this period 
due to COVID-19.  

- 

4.2   
Regeneration 
& Economic 
Development  

Cllr. 
Simon 
Tagg 

Footfall 
High 809,546 675,820 - - 

This will be reported in the 
next quarter. - 

4.3 
Regeneration 
& Economic 
Development 

Cllr. 
Stephen 
Sweeney 

Average stall occupancy 
rate for markets 

High 57% - - 60% 
The markets were suspended 
at the beginning of lockdown 
but have recommenced now.  

- 

 

 N/A Performance information not available at this time or due to be provided at a later date 

 
Performance is not on target but direction of travel is positive 

 
Performance is not on target where targets have been set 

 

Performance is on or above target 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 

  

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM’S 
REPORT TO  

 
Finance Assets and Performance Scrutiny Committee 

17 September 2020 
 
Report Title: CIPFA Guide to Financial Scrutiny  
 
Submitted by: Head of Finance 
 
Portfolios: Finance and Efficiency 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 
To provide the Committee with guidance to assist in the scrutiny of the Council’s finances including 
performance management, timeliness, adequacy and user friendliness of public information in addition to 
the robustness of in-year reporting and value for money. 

Recommendation 
That the attached CIPFA guide to “Scrutinising Public Accounts” be received and considered. 
  

Reasons 
To ensure that the Council’s financial monitoring and performance are appropriately scrutinised and 
reviewed. 

 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 Local government makes up a significant portion of general government. In fact, local 

government’s share of land and buildings held is higher than all central government bodies 
(including the Department of Health, Department for Education and Ministry of Defence). 

 
1.2   Councils operate independently of central government and are accountable to their local 

electorates for the services they provide. 
 

1.3   Local authority accounts have a crucial role to play in providing accountability to taxpayers 
and other stakeholders for spending public money. 

 
1.4   Local government financial statements are designed to enable individual authorities to 

demonstrate performance both in the way in which they organise themselves and, more 
importantly, in how they budget against the general fund to provide services. 

 
1.5  The Expenditure and Funding Analysis brings together local authority performance reported 
        on the basis of expenditure measured under proper accounting practices with statutorily 

defined charges to the general fund. 
 
Financial statements include: 

   The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

   Movement in Reserves 

   The Balance Sheet 

   Cash Flow Statements 

   Notes to the Accounts. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



  
 

  

 
 

2. Issues 
 

 2.1   The decade following the global financial crisis has shone a light on public finances like 
never before. The huge cash injection by governments around the world to shore up the 
banking sector and more recently the impact of Covid-19 has resulted in the doubling of 
debt in the UK and near financial collapse for others. The debate will rage on as to the 
action taken by governments and no doubt will be the theme for many commentators for 
several years to come. 

 
2.2   To be able to assess the impact of this significant increase in debt and day-to-day policy 

decisions on the nation’s public finances has added to the need for greater scrutiny of 
public finances. 

 
2.3   CIPFA have produced the guide to “Scrutinising Public Accounts” to assist the users and 

readers of Public Sector information. 
 
2.4  Areas for review and scrutiny may include the following:- 
 

 Performance Management - It can be difficult in the public sector to directly link inputs (or 
spend) and activities to outputs and outcomes. Annual Service Plans set out a 
department’s objectives, how it will use its resources to achieve them and how its 
performance should be measured. Progress against these objectives is provided in the 
performance section of the annual report and accounts. 

 

 Timeliness – Is information produced in a timely manner enabling the committee to have 
sufficient time to review and comment? 

 

 Adequacy and user friendliness of public information - Provide clearer, user-friendly 
information by thinking about how the information is presented (i.e. plain language and 
better use of data visualisation). 

 

 Robustness of in-year reporting – Is the in-year reporting sufficient to inform committee 
members on the Council’s financial and performance management position. 

 

 Value for Money - Value for money study focuses on a specific area of expenditure, and 
seeks to reach a judgement on whether value for money has been achieved. Good value 
for money as the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes. 

 
3. Proposal 

 
 3.1 That the Committee reviews the CIPFA guide to “Scrutinising Public Accounts”. 

 
4. Reasons for Proposed Solution 

 
4.1 To assist in the scrutiny of the Council’s finances including performance management, 

timeliness, adequacy and user friendliness of public information in addition to the 
robustness of in-year reporting and value for money. 

  
5. Options Considered 

 
 5.1 Not Applicable. 

 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications 

 
 6.1 There are no such implications arising directly from this report.  

Page 52



  
 

  

 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 7.1 There are no equality implications arising directly from this report.  

 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
 8.1 There are no such implications arising directly from this report.  

 
9. Major Risks 

 
 9.1 There are no major risks arising directly from this report. 

 
10. Sustainability and Climate Change Implications 

 
 10.1 There are no such implications arising from this report.  

 
11. Key Decision Information 

 
 11.1 This report does not relate to a Key Decision. 

 
12. Earlier Cabinet/Committee Resolutions 

 
 12.1 This report does not relates to any earlier Cabinet or Committee resolutions. 

 
13. List of Appendices 

 
 13.1 Appendix 1 – CIPFA Scrutinising Public Accounts. 

 
  
  

 
 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



scrutinising
public accounts

A guide to government finances

Page 55



CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional body for people in 
public finance. Our 14,000 members work throughout the public services, in national audit agencies, in major 
accountancy firms, and in other bodies where public money needs to be effectively and efficiently managed. 
As the world’s only professional accountancy body to specialise in public services, CIPFA’s qualifications are the 
foundation for a career in public finance. We also champion high performance in public services, translating our 
experience and insight into clear advice and practical services. Globally, CIPFA shows the way in public finance 
by standing up for sound public financial management and good governance.

CIPFA values all feedback it receives on any aspects of its publications and publishing programme. Please 
send your comments to customerservices@cipfa.org

Our range of high quality advisory, information and consultancy services help public bodies – from small 
councils to large central government departments – to deal with the issues that matter today. And our 
monthly magazine, Public Finance, is the most influential and widely read periodical in the field.

Here is just a taste of what we provide:

 � TISonline  � CIPFA-Penna recruitment services

 � Benchmarking  � Research and statistics

 � Advisory and consultancy  � Seminars and conferences

 � Professional networks  � Education and training

 � Property and asset management services

Call or visit our website to find out more about CIPFA, our products and services – and how we can support 
you and your organisation in these unparalleled times.

020 7543 5600 
customerservices@cipfa.org 
www.cipfa.org

Page 56

mailto:customerservices%40cipfa.org?subject=
mailto:customerservices%40cipfa.org?subject=
http://www.cipfa.org


scrutinising
public accounts

A guide to government finances

Page 57



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page ii

Published by:

CIPFA  \  THE CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC FINANCE AND ACCOUNTANCY

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN

020 7543 5600  \  customerservices@cipfa.org  \  www.cipfa.org

© November 2018 CIPFA

ISBN 978 1 84508 505 6

Designed and typeset by Ministry of Design, Bath  
(www.ministryofdesign.co.uk)

No responsibility for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action 
as a result of any material in this publication can be accepted by the authors or 
publisher.

While every care has been taken in the preparation of this publication, it may 
contain errors for which the publisher and authors cannot be held responsible.

Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of research or private study, or 
criticism or review, as permitted under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 
1988, this publication may be reproduced, stored or transmitted, in any form or 
by any means, only with the prior permission in writing of the publishers, or in the 
case of reprographic reproduction in accordance with the terms of licences issued 
by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside 
those terms should be sent to the publishers at the above mentioned address.Page 58

http://www.cipfa.org.uk


Page iii

Foreword

The decade following the global financial crisis has shone a light on public finances like never 
before. The huge cash injection by governments around the world to shore up the banking 
sector resulted in the doubling of debt in the UK and near financial collapse for others. The 
debate will rage on as to the action taken by governments and no doubt will be the theme for 
many scholars and commentators for several years to come. 

To be able to assess the impact of this significant increase in debt and day-to-day policy 
decisions on the nation’s public finances has added to the clamour for greater scrutiny of 
public finances. 

The UK government is one of the most transparent in the world, ranked eighth in the 
Transparency International rankings. One thing is clear – there is a wealth of information 
available. In an era of fake news and information overload, often the challenge is knowing 
where to look and what questions to ask to be able to scrutinise public spending.  

One document above all others is key in this process – the annual accounts. All public sector 
bodies are required to prepare and present financial statements. Although these documents 
may often look impenetrable, this should not put citizens off seeking a better understanding 
of what government is spending on individual public services, long-term debt and the trends 
in government debt. The key factor is that the accounts are audited independently so the 
information in the accounts can be relied upon.   

This publication’s aim is to help guide the interested citizen to decipher the nomenclature 
in public finances, understand the process for agreeing the amounts given to individual 
departments and then assess how well they have performed. 

A better understanding by the citizen will add to a more informed debate about public 
finance and good public financial management and hold the government to account based 
on evidence not perception. 

Richard Douglas 
Chair of the CIPFA Governments Board

Page 59



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page iv

Page 60



Page v

Acknowledgements

The author of this CIPFA publication, Manj Kalar, would like to thank the following people for 
their help and guidance:

 � Gavin Freeguard, Institute for Government

 � Aaron Chung, Institute for Government

 � Emily Andrews, Institute for Government 

 � Larry Honeysett, Head of Scrutiny Unit, House of Commons

 � Dr Henry Midgley

 � Rhiannon Price, Head of Publishing, CIPFA 

 � Susan Furber, Editor, CIPFA

Page 61



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page vi

Page 62



Page vii

List of Annual Reports and 
Accounts

To help provide the reader with insights into government financial statements, this 
publication refers to a number of central government departments’ annual report and 
accounts for the year 2017/18. 

In order of appearance, this publication includes annual report and accounts for: 

 � HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC)

 � Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)

 � Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) (formerly the Department for 
Culture, Media and Sport)

 � Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (formerly the 
Department for Communities and Local Government) 

 � Home Office

 � Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)

 � Competition and Markets Authority (CMA)

 � Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) (formerly the Department of Health).

In addition, there is an extract from the Home Office Resource Accounts 2004.

Page 63



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page viii

Page 64



Page ix

Contents

OVERVIEW.................................................................................................................................................................... 1
TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY – WHERE TO LOOK FOR INFO? ......................................................2
BUDGETS, ESTIMATES AND ACCOUNTS ..............................................................................................................2
QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE GOVERNMENT (PUBLIC) SPENDING ....................................................4
LOCAL GOVERNMENT .............................................................................................................................................5
FUNDING ..................................................................................................................................................................5
ACCOUNTABILITY ...................................................................................................................................................6
QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE LOCAL GOVERNMENT SPENDING ........................................................6
HEALTH .....................................................................................................................................................................7
DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS ............................................................................................................................7
THE WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) .............................................................................................8
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ...........................................................................9
RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................................................................................................9
FURTHER READING ................................................................................................................................................9

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................................................11
INCREASING PUBLIC SCRUTINY ........................................................................................................................11
PUBLIC FINANCES ................................................................................................................................................12
THE CONSTITUTION AND ITS ROLE IN SCRUTINY ..........................................................................................12

CHAPTER 2: BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES.....................15
THE SPENDING REVIEW ......................................................................................................................................15
ESTIMATES .............................................................................................................................................................17
THE SPENDING LIMITS ........................................................................................................................................18
RESTRICTIONS ON SWITCHES ............................................................................................................................19
SCRUTINY UNIT ....................................................................................................................................................23
FURTHER SUGGESTED READING ........................................................................................................................24

CHAPTER 3: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS .............................25
PERFORMANCE REPORT ......................................................................................................................................26
SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLAN (SDP) ................................................................................................................26
ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT ..................................................................................................................................28
REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT ...............................................................................................................29
STATEMENT OF PARLIAMENTARY SUPPLY (SOPS) ...........................................................................................31
COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL’S CERTIFICATE ..............................................................................32
QUALIFIED AUDIT OPINION ...............................................................................................................................33
EXCESS VOTE .........................................................................................................................................................33
FINANCIAL REPORT .............................................................................................................................................35
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS .......................................................................................................................38
SUMMARY ..............................................................................................................................................................38

CHAPTER 4: DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS ........................................................................................................39
CONTEXT ................................................................................................................................................................40
FUNDING ................................................................................................................................................................40
THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS ................................................44
SUMMARY ..............................................................................................................................................................46
FURTHER READING ..............................................................................................................................................46Page 65



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page x

CHAPTER 5: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS ...................................................47
FURTHER READING ..............................................................................................................................................52

CHAPTER 6: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN HEALTH ...............................................................................................53
LOCAL NHS TRUSTS ..............................................................................................................................................57
SUMMARY ..............................................................................................................................................................59
FURTHER READING ..............................................................................................................................................60

CHAPTER 7: WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) ..................................................................................61
WHAT IS THE WGA? ..............................................................................................................................................61
THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES ..............................................................72
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ..................................................................................................................................72
REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT ...............................................................................................................72
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ....................................................................................................................................72
CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL ...........................................73
KEY QUESTIONS TO CONSIDER ..........................................................................................................................76
SUMMARY ..............................................................................................................................................................76

CHAPTER 8: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ........................................................77
GOVERNMENT’S PLANNING AND PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK ..................................................................77
SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLANS (SDPS) ............................................................................................................77
OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION ..................................................................................................................79
PUBLIC VALUE .......................................................................................................................................................79
SUMMARY ..............................................................................................................................................................80
FURTHER READING ..............................................................................................................................................80

CHAPTER 9: OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION ................................................................................................81
OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS (ONS) .......................................................................................................81
DATA GOV UK WEBSITE .......................................................................................................................................81
INSTITUTE FOR GOVERNMENT (IfG) ..................................................................................................................82
INSTITUTE FOR FISCAL STUDIES (IFS) .............................................................................................................84
OFFICE FOR BUDGET RESPONSIBILITY (OBR) .................................................................................................85
NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE (NAO) ........................................................................................................................86
HM TREASURY .......................................................................................................................................................92
CABINET OFFICE ...................................................................................................................................................94
SELECT COMMITTEE REPORTS ...........................................................................................................................94
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (FOI) REQUESTS .................................................................................................98
CONCLUSION .........................................................................................................................................................99

CHAPTER 10: OPPORTUNITIES/AREAS FOR FURTHER IMPROVEMENTS ........................................................101
ACCESS TO THE INFORMATION AND MAKE PUBLIC DATA PUBLIC ........................................................... 101
TIMELINESS AND OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW ............................................................................................... 104
SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................................................... 105

ANNEX: CHECKLIST OF KEY QUESTIONS/AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS .......................................................................................................................107

SOURCES AND FURTHER READING ................................................................................................................ 108

Page 66



Page 1

Overview

The UK general government is, according to the Office for National Statistics (ONS) Blue Book, 
“made up of units providing services for collective or individual consumption that are not sold 
at market prices. These units are usually funded by compulsory payments (taxes) and may be 
involved in the redistribution of national income (for example, benefits and state pension)”.

The sector includes government departments and agencies, local authorities, the devolved 
administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, the state education system, the 
National Health Service (NHS), the armed forces and the police. Non-departmental public 
bodies are also included in the general government sector.

The Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) forecasts UK government to spend almost £820bn 
in the year 2018/19, which represents 38.4% of national income. To fund this, receipts from 
taxes, fees and sales of goods and services is forecast to be £775bn, leaving a shortfall of 
£37bn (deficit) which the government will have to borrow. 

Using the Public Expenditure Statistical Expenditure Analysis (PESA), which is based on 
the National Accounts concepts, the spending will be on the following areas (Figure 0.1). 
Pensions, healthcare and welfare make up half the total government spend. 

Figure 0.1: Total forecast expenditure for 2018/19

Pensions
20%

Health Care
18%

Education
10%Defence

6%

Welfare
13%

Protection
4%

Transport
4%

General 
Government

2%

Other Spending
17%

Interest
6%

Balance
0%

Source: Data from PESA data, based on COFOG categories accessed from UK Spending 

Page 67



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 2

TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY – WHERE TO LOOK FOR 
INFO? 

The challenge may be that we do not know what we do not know insofar as knowing where to 
get the information, understanding the different terminology and knowing the questions to 
ask around what government spends in order to assess whether it is doing this well. 

The UK government has made huge efforts and strides to provide greater transparency 
as recognised by Transparency International (TI) in its annual Corruption Perceptions 
Index (CPI). In the 2017 CPI, the UK government is ranked alongside Luxembourg and 
the Netherlands as the eighth least corrupt country in the world. The UK government has 
increased transparency by making public data public through the Open Government Data 
platform, delivering greater accountability through the improvements to the financial 
reporting frameworks to make these understandable and accessible and publishing the Whole 
of Government Accounts (WGA), which is the most comprehensive consolidation bringing 
together 7,000 government bodies. 

However, negative headlines over the latest public spending let-downs challenge perceptions. 
Public service delivery failures include increasing wait times in the NHS, budget overspend, 
government outsourcing and procurement failure. Such instances can lead the public to 
question whether the government is spending the money given to it effectively, efficiently 
and economically.

To comprehend what is really happening and come to an informed view, the layperson needs 
to be able to understand what information is available and scrutinise this effectively by 
asking the right questions and knowing where to look for the answers. Only then can the 
government be held to account. The best place to start is to follow the money. 

BUDGETS, ESTIMATES AND ACCOUNTS
Firstly, what is the process for allocating government spending?

Every three to four years the spending review usually takes place and sets out the 
government’s future spending plans. These plans are developed to fit in with the 
government’s aim to achieve public expenditure control:

 � to support the achievement of macro-economic stability by ensuring that public 
expenditure is controlled in support of the government’s fiscal framework 

 � to provide good incentives for departments to manage spending well so as to provide 
high quality public services that offer value for money to the taxpayer (Consolidated 
Budgeting Guidance (updated annually)).

The budgets include a breakdown of the resource and capital in the departmental expenditure 
limits (DELs) for each government department, including amounts to be paid to local 
government, health and the devolved administrations for each DEL for a number of years 
ahead. 

These spending review totals form the basis of subsequent Main Estimates that are voted by 
Parliament. 

Page 68

https://data.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consolidated-budgeting-guidance-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consolidated-budgeting-guidance-2018-to-2019


OVERVIEW

Page 3

Estimates, also known as ‘supply estimates’, are documents presented to Parliament setting 
out the government’s plans for spending for a financial year. The estimates cover (‘control’) 
total spending allowed by each department and the ambit (what they are allowed to spend 
money on.) Note this process covers most government spending but there are a few specific 
exceptions where funding has been approved in other legislation, namely Consolidated Fund 
Standing Services covering specific functions or costs such as judges’ salaries, returning 
officers’ expenses and payments to the EU. 

Figure 0.2: The relationship between total managed expenditure and 
the different spending controls applied 

Totally Managed
Expenditure

(TME)

Departmental
Expenditure
Limits (DEL)

Administration

Capital DEL

Resource AME

Capital AME

Annual Managed
Expenditure

(AME)

Resource DEL

These documents need to be approved by Parliament before government departments 
can spend money. Therefore, this is an important part of the Parliamentary scrutiny of 
government spending plans. 

Accounts
Government departments are required, under the Government Resources and Accounts 
Act (GRAA 2000) to prepare annual report and accounts using commercial style financial 
reporting requirements (IFRSs). The annual accounts must be independently audited by the 
National Audit Office (NAO) or by another body appointed by them. The head of the NAO, 
the comptroller and auditor general (C&AG), will add their audit opinion following a detailed 
assessment. The C&AG is appointed by the Crown for a fixed term tenure and is an officer of 
Parliament, independent of government. 

The audited accounts are a key resource to providing scrutiny for public spending. They 
include information on:

 � performance – telling the story

 � accountability 

 � financial statements.

However, there is some debate whether the annual report and accounts deliver accountability 
for public spending as highlighted in the recent Public Administration and Constitutional 
Affairs Select Committee (PACAC) Accounting for Democracy report (2017) and its update 
(2018). 

Page 69

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/20/contents
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/9502.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubadm/1197/1197.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 4

QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE GOVERNMENT (PUBLIC) 
SPENDING 

All public sector entities must prepare annual financial statements and are, by and large, 
prepared on the same basis so that they can be added together to provide a whole of 
government perspective. 

As the financial statements now follow commercial style, financial reporting standards to 
aid comparability and provide consistency with the private sector have become increasingly 
complex. Indeed, many would argue that they are too complex due to the sheer volume – a 
standard set of accounts is around 150 pages plus disclosures. In part this reflects the reality 
of the current financial processes such as accounting for public finance initiatives (PFIs) and 
public private partnerships (PPPs). 

To help scrutinise spending, the reader of the accounts should consider the following ten 
questions:

1. Have the accounts been qualified? If so why?

2. Did the department or government body achieve what it set out to achieve?

3. Is there any information on capability and efficiencies? Does the performance report 
provide any information on efficiencies made by the organisation and/or their capability 
to deliver?

4. Is there anything unusual in the non-executive director’s (NED) report?

5. Risk management – what are the comments on internal audit’s judgement of the control 
environment?

6. Are there significant movements between the current year and previous year on  assets, 
liabilities, expenditure or revenue?

7. What has happened to long-term liabilities including PFIs (or its successor PF2)? 

8. What has happened to provisions? Have these increased? Are there any new provisions? 

9. What has happened to contingent liabilities that are not remote (these may become 
provisions)? Any increases in these will result in more money being committed in future 
years leaving less for other spending priorities.

10. What is the trend on the core tables? Do the department’s stated aims seem achievable 
based on the projected spending levels? 

In addition, it is worth checking whether there have been any ministerial directions. A 
ministerial direction is a document from the minister(s) instructing officials to pursue a 
specific course of action which does not follow the best advice given by the lead official (the 
permanent secretary who is also the accounting officer) for the department.  

The accounting officer must follow the Treasury rules to manage public money as set out in 
the Treasury’s Managing Public Money guidance. If there are any doubts over the value for 
money or propriety of a spending proposal, the accounting officer may seek a ministerial 
direction. 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money


OVERVIEW

Page 5

LOCAL GOVERNMENT
Local government makes up a significant portion of general government. In fact, local 
government’s share of land and buildings held is higher than all central government bodies 
(including the Department of Health, Department for Education and Ministry of Defence).

Councils operate independently of central government and are accountable to their local 
electorates for the services they provide. 

Local government bodies in England include:

 � county councils  – have responsibility for services across all the county, including 
education, transport, planning, fire and public safety, social care, libraries, waste 
management, trading standards, etc

 � district, borough and city councils – have responsibility for services such as rubbish 
collection, recycling, council tax collections, housing and planning applications

 � unitary authorities and London and metropolitan boroughs – a single tier of local 
government which provides all the local services provided by the two-tier councils (ie in 
London and metropolitan areas, some services such as fire, police and public transport 
are provided through ‘joint authorities,’ such as the Greater London Authority).

The position is different in the devolved administrations: 

 � In Scotland, there are 32 local authorities (or councils) that provide public services, 
including education, social care, waste management, libraries and planning.

 � In Wales, there are 22 unitary authorities (county and county borough councils) that 
deliver a wide range of services such as education (must be made available under UK and 
Welsh law), trading standards, libraries, leisure and tourism, environmental health, refuse 
and recycling, transport and highways, housing, social services, etc.

FUNDING
Local government receives funds from central government through grants from the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the block grant to the devolved 
administrations, the Department for Education (DfE) for schools funding or the Home Office 
for police. These funds are supplemented with local taxes such as council tax or precepts 
for police and fire authorities and, increasingly, other income (ie from car parking and other 
services.) 

Local government bodies are legally required to present a balanced budget for approval from 
the locally elected councillors setting out planned income (including proposed council tax 
increases) and expenditure. Since 2010–2018, central government funding has almost halved 
in real terms and spending power (government funding plus council tax) has decreased by 
28.6%. However, increasing demand for local services has put significant pressure on local 
government finances. Many have managed the reduction through use of reserves, cutting 
back on discretionary public services, reducing staff and outsourcing back office functions. 
However, as the spending cuts continue there are real questions over the medium to long-
term sustainability of local authorities as highlighted in the NAO Financial Sustainability of 
Local Authorities 2018 report.   

Page 71

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 6

ACCOUNTABILITY
Similar to central government financial statements, local authority accounts have a crucial 
role to play in providing accountability to taxpayers and other stakeholders for spending 
public money. 

Local government accounts follow accounting standards set out in the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) prepared by CIPFA/LASAAC. 
These largely follow the same standards as central government and work together with 
central government as an observer to the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB). 

Local government, the Treasury and CIPFA are working together to resolve and implement 
current cost (depreciated replacement cost (DRC)) for highways in local government which 
would align it to the measurement rule used by central government (Department for 
Transport). Implementing DRC would remove one of the long-standing audit qualifications in 
the WGA. 

Local government financial statements are designed to enable individual authorities to 
demonstrate performance both in the way in which they organise themselves and, more 
importantly, in how they budget against the general fund to provide services.

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis brings together local authority performance reported 
on the basis of expenditure measured under proper accounting practices with statutorily 
defined charges to the general fund (including the House Rent Allowance).

Financial statements include:

 � the comprehensive income and expenditure statement

 � movement in reserves 

 � the balance sheet

 � cash flow statements

 � notes to the accounts. 

QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
SPENDING

The questions to check in the local government set of audited financial statements are very 
similar to those outlined for central government. They include the following:

1. Have the financial statements been qualified by the auditors?

2. What are the changes in assets?

3. What are the changes in liabilities?

4. What are the changes in income?

5. What are the changes in expenditure?

6. What is the movement in reserves? What is the trend information? What is the 
movement in usable reserves?

7. What are the levels of provisions? Are there any major changes? 

Page 72



OVERVIEW

Page 7

8. What are the levels of contingent liabilities? Are there major changes, particularly non-
remote contingent liabilities?

9. What is the auditor’s opinion on the value for money audit?

10. Have other reports of financial distress been made?

HEALTH 
Of the total UK central government spending, spending on health (£147bn in 2017/18) is 
second only to pensions (£161bn), representing a huge proportion of the total of central 
government spending (£628bn).

Figure 6.2 in Chapter 6 clearly demonstrates just how complex the health and social care 
delivery landscape is and the sheer number of different organisations involved. Each of the 
organisations will have its own accountabilities and is required to prepare annual accounts.

Spending for the NHS has been largely protected from the cuts to public spending. Therefore, 
the overall reduction in public spending has been disproportionately larger in other ‘not 
protected’ areas of government spending. 

The NHS is largely funded by general taxation (80%), and the remainder is made up through 
National Insurance and 1% through patient charges (for example prescriptions in England 
and Wales but not Scotland). 

The Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) consolidates all the individual health 
bodies (in Figure 0.4) to provide a good starting point to assess how the health sector is 
performing. As this is a central government department, the questions to consider when 
scrutinising government spending are the same. In addition, the individual health bodies, 
including NHS trusts, are also required to prepare audit financial statements. 

DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS
The Scottish Parliament, the National Assembly for Wales and the Northern Ireland Assembly 
were established and took control in 1999. As their history and administrative structures are 
different, so are the funding arrangements for each.

The UK government retains responsibility for national policy on all matters that have not 
been devolved, such as foreign affairs, defence, social security, trade and macro-economic 
management.

The funding of the devolved governments is largely through the block grant and yearly 
adjustments made according to the Barnett formula. Increasingly income raising powers 
(taxes) are being devolved from the UK government to the devolved governments, depending 
on the different agreements with Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

Each jurisdiction has its own independent auditor general appointed by the Crown who 
provides their opinion on the financial accounts.

Page 73



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 8

THE WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA)
The UK WGA is one of the most comprehensive sets of government accounts in the world. It 
brings together over 7,000 government bodies accounts including central government, local 
government, health and public corporations (such as the BBC and Channel 4). 

The WGA is prepared by the Treasury and is audited by the C&AG. Since its first publication 
in November 2011 (for the financial year 2009/10), there have been significant improvements 
to the WGA. However, some challenges remain including the timeliness of the report and the 
wider use of the WGA. In the 2018 Spring Statement, the chancellor committed to completing 
a review of the government balance sheet.

The WGA provides a broader picture of government revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities 
than the ONS measures in the national accounts. 

Figure 0.4: Comparison highlighting the additional information provided by 
the WGA compared to the national accounts

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Non Financial 
Assets

Non Financial 
Assets

Government 
Borrowing 

Public Sector 
pensions

Provisions

PFI contracts

Government 
Borrowing 

Government 
Borrowing 

Government 
Borrowing 

Assets

Liabilities

National Accounts Measures WGA

Public sector 
net debt

Public sector 
net financial 

liabilities

Public sector 
net worth

The WGA measure includes additional information on both government assets and 
liabilities compared to the narrower national accounts’ measures. Figure 0.4 highlights the 
key differences between the different national accounts measures: ranging from public 
sector net debt which is simply the difference between liquid financial assets (ie cash) 
and government borrowing, to public sector net worth which includes a wider measure of 
assets – non-financial assets (eg land and buildings), illiquid financial assets (eg debtors 
and prepayments) and liquid financial assets, but only includes government assets. More 
complete information on the government liabilities is included in the WGA such as public 
sector pensions, provisions and PFI. 

Page 74



OVERVIEW

Page 9

More information about long-term assets and, importantly, liabilities will help inform better 
decision making and more effective long-term planning. 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT
It can be difficult in the public sector to directly link inputs (or government spend) and 
activities to outputs and outcomes such as education spending. This is even harder in the 
context of central government as it is largely the policy making arm and not the front line 
delivery vehicle for public services provided. 

According to The Government’s Planning and Performance Framework: Single Departmental 
Plans, single departmental plans (SDPs) set out a department’s objectives, how it will use its 
resources to achieve them and how its performance should be measured. Progress against 
these objectives is provided in the performance section of the annual report and accounts.

RECOMMENDATIONS 
The UK government is recognised as being in the top ten most transparent countries 
in the world, according to the CPI 2017. To further enhance transparency and deliver 
greater accountability to allow enhanced scrutiny of public spend there are three specific 
recommendations.

First, there should be greater accessibility to the information the government provides (ie 
information to be available as an Excel file/other downloadable data files rather than only as 
a PDF, as the former present information in a more accessible format). 

Second, the timeliness in which the information is provided should be improved in order to 
be used more effectively (eg faster completion of the annual report and accounts and the 
publication of the WGA). Furthermore, possible in-year reporting that has been audited would 
be useful to allow information to be used in ‘real time’. 

Third, the government should consider how it can make the information more user-friendly. 
The implementation of the Simplifying and Streamlining Statutory Annual Report and 
Accounts (CM8905) recommendations has made a difference. Furthermore, a greater use of 
data visualisation would help. 

FURTHER READING
 � Consolidated Budgeting Guidance (updated annually)

 � HM Treasury Managing Public Money

 � Whole of Government Accounts 2016/17 

 � The Government’s Planning and Performance Framework: Single Departmental Plans

 � House of Commons Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee: 
Accounting for Democracy: Making Sure Parliament, the People and Ministers Know How 
and Why Public Money is Spent  

 � Fourteenth Report of Session 2016/17 and update (2018)

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-and-performance-framework/the-governments-planning-and-performance-framework#single-departmental-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-and-performance-framework/the-governments-planning-and-performance-framework#single-departmental-plans
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330725/simplifying_annual_reports_print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/330725/simplifying_annual_reports_print.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consolidated-budgeting-guidance-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/managing-public-money
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whole-of-government-accounts-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-and-performance-framework/the-governments-planning-and-performance-framework#single-departmental-plans
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubadm/1197/1197.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 10

Page 76



Page 11

CHAPTER 1 

Introduction 

There is an increasing global demand for governments to be more open and transparent about 
their use of public funds. Questions such as how public funds are used, if this is as intended 
and who is ultimately accountable, have led governments to increase their commitment to 
implement accrual accounting. This is estimated to increase from 31% in 2015 to 71% by 
2020, according to the PwC Global Survey on Accounting and Financial Reporting by Central 
Governments (Second Edition) (2015). Fundamentally, it is a question of the public’s trust in 
the state to use public funds to deliver public services that deliver value for (public) money.

In 2017, the Transparency Internationsal (TI) in its annual Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI) 
acknowledged the UK government’s significant improvements to increase transparency. One 
major step on this journey has been the publication of the WGA, the most comprehensive 
set of consolidated financial statements for the UK which uniquely includes both central 
government and local government bodies. 

Other initiatives to increase transparency include: 

 � implementing accrual accounting (commercial style financial reporting) across central 
government to align with other parts of the wider public sector

 � the financial management reform programme – a new performance management 
framework across central government 

 � greater transparency through making more government data publicly available.

INCREASING PUBLIC SCRUTINY
The Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee (PACAC) Accounting for 
Democracy report and its update highlight that despite many improvements in government 
financial reporting and management information, the UK government still does not have full 
accountability and transparency. While a considerable amount of information is published by 
public bodies, the real issue may be how understandable and accessible the information is. 

This publication’s key aim is to help the taxpayer and citizen understand terminology around 
public finances, the framework and systems used in the UK public sector, the information 
available, and how and where to look to achieve greater scrutiny and accountability for public 
spending.

This publication examines the different types and sources of information that are available 
to parliamentarians, ministers, taxpayers and citizens to allow proper scrutiny of public 
spending. In addition, it explains the different terminology in laymen’s terms, uses actual 
examples from various public sector bodies and highlights where to look in a set of central 
government department’s set of accounts to pick out key areas to check. Furthermore, 

Page 77

https://www2.anm.gov.my/PublishingImages/SitePages/DokumentasiAkruan/4.0 P4_PwC Global survey.pdf
https://www2.anm.gov.my/PublishingImages/SitePages/DokumentasiAkruan/4.0 P4_PwC Global survey.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmpubadm/95/95.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubadm/1197/1197.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 12

it examines other data and published reports that can help provide scrutiny and ensure 
accountability. 

However, there are gaps, and this publication highlights the limitations to enable the reader to 
have a full understanding of the information that is available and appreciate the limitations. 
Finally, there are suggestions on what could be done to further improve the information 
available, which ultimately comes down to supply and demand. If there is sufficient demand, 
the government will endeavour to provide information as seen in its commitment to meet the 
transparency and open government data agenda.  

PUBLIC FINANCES 
In 2017/18, the UK government spent over £800bn (£627bn was spent by central 
government). This is largely paid for by the government income of £744bn, the main source 
which is taxes, and the shortfall is funded through government borrowing. 

Government borrowing, or the ‘deficit’, was £42.6bn according to ONS figures, the lowest since 
2007. However, government debt is now the highest in peace time (general government gross 
debt was £1,786.3bn at the end of December 2017, according to ONS statistics released in 
April 2018), equivalent to 87.7% of gross domestic product (GDP). 

THE CONSTITUTION AND ITS ROLE IN SCRUTINY
Each year the UK government sets out the legislative agenda in the Queen’s Speech and 
Parliament exercises scrutiny over the finances through the estimates process. 

Although the House of Commons’ constitutional role remains, in practice the Treasury 
has assumed the function of controlling expenditure and delegated accountability to 
departmental accounting officers since 1866 with the introduction of the Exchequer and 
Audit Departments Act 1866, which states that it is:

an Act to consolidate the Duties of the Exchequer and Audit Departments, to regulate the 
Receipt, Custody, and Issue of Public Moneys, and to provide for the Audit of the Accounts 
thereof.

The Treasury sets out guidance for budgeting, financial reporting and managing public 
money that departments and departmental accounting officers must follow.  

Every year Parliament authorises proposed government spending through the Supply and 
Appropriation Acts (often referred to the ‘supply process’). This is based on the spending 
review, which loosely sets out the government’s intentions and allocates a total spending 
envelope. The estimates process provides more detail on spending for each department and 
has to be formally approved by Parliament. If departments spend more than that approved in 
any of the budgets agreed, or the spend is outside that allowed (the ‘ambit’), this is deemed 
to be a breach. Retrospective approval is required. Not all government spending is approved 
through the supply process as there may be standing legislation approving the spending such 
as judges’ salaries. 

Page 78

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/29-30/39/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/29-30/39/contents


CHAPTER 1 \ INTRODUCTION

Page 13

At the end of the financial year, all public bodies, including central government departments, 
agencies and local government bodies, are required to prepare and publish audited financial 
statements that show where the funds have been spent. 

Public sector financial statements are prepared following the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) developed by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), adapted as appropriate by the independent Financial Reporting Advisory Board 
(FRAB). The same standards are followed by the private sector. Adaptations may be 
needed where standards are silent on public sector issues such as taxes. In this case, the 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) are applied. 

The financial statements are part of the annual report and accounts and are subject to an 
independent audit review by the NAO (or an external auditing body appointed by the NAO), 
headed by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG). This provides assurance to the reader 
that the information is ‘true and fair’. However, there are some important caveats to this.

First, the C&AG does not audit all the information in the annual report and accounts – the 
C&AG will review the narrative sections only to confirm that the figures quoted are the same 
as those  audited in the financial statements. The performance report and accountability 
section will usually be marked up to state that they have been subject to audit. Often readers 
tend to read the narrative section and not delve into the detailed financial statements. 
Ironically, it is this section that is not subject to audit. 

Second, all accounts will have an element of estimation, such as the estimate for the useful 
life of assets which is used to calculate the annual depreciation charge. This is one of many 
estimates used in the accounts to match the cost of the asset over the time period it is 
used and is calculated using the methodology in the accounting standards. There is often 
the perception that the accounts must be 100% accurate. In reality, estimates and other 
assumptions will impact the preparation of the accounts and the supporting notes. The 
auditors will assess whether the assumptions and estimates accounts are true and fair.

Parliament will exercise scrutiny based on the NAO’s audits of all government accounts, and 
the C&AG will provide their opinion on the accounts. Other House of Commons bodies, such 
as departmental select committees, the Public Accounts Committee (PAC) and the Public 
Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee (PACAC) all have key roles to play in 
examining government expenditure and holding ministers and officials to account for their 
spending decisions. 

Page 79



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 14

Page 80



Page 15

CHAPTER 2

Budgeting in central 
government, spending reviews 

and estimates 

THE SPENDING REVIEW
The spending review usually takes place once every three to four years and is an internal 
government review of future spending plans. The outcome is announced in Parliament and 
sets out the proposed spending limits (resource and capital deparmental expenditure limits) 
for each department for each of a number of years ahead. The spending review totals form 
the basis of subsequent Main Estimates voted by Parliament. 

Page 81



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 16

Figure 2.1: The stages of the financial cycle extract 

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

Au
g

Se
pt

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne

Ju
ly

Au
g

Se
pt

Oc
t

N
ov

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

N
ov

De
c

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

Cu
rr

en
t fi

na
nc

ia
l y

ea
r

St
ag

e 
of

 F
in

an
ci

al
 C

yc
le

N
ex

t fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r

Pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r

M
ai

n
Es

ti
m

at
es

Es
ti

m
at

es
D

ay
 D

eb
at

es

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

ts
an

d 
Ac

co
un

ts

Se
le

ct
 C

om
m

it
te

e
Sc

ru
ti

ny
**

Es
ti

m
at

es
D

ay
 D

eb
at

es

Su
pp

ly
 a

nd
Ap

pr
op

ri
at

io
n 

Bi
ll

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

ry
Es

ti
m

at
es

Es
ti

m
at

es
D

ay
 D

eb
at

es

Bu
dg

et

Pl
an

ni
ng

 a
nd

 F
or

ec
as

tin
g

Re
ve

nu
e 

Ra
is

in
g

Pu
bl

ic
 S

pe
nd

in
g

Re
po

rt
in

g 
an

d 
Ac

co
un

ta
bi

lit
y

OB
R 

Fi
sc

al
Fo

re
ca

st
s

OB
R 

Fi
sc

al
Fo

re
ca

st
s

Sp
en

di
ng

Re
vi

ew
*

Sp
ri

ng
U

pd
at

e

Fi
na

nc
e

Bi
ll

Notes: 
* Spending Review happens once every three to four years 
** Select Committee Scrutiny of Departmental Annual Reports and Accounts may continue 
well into the financial year

Source: The Estimates Process and 2017-18 Main Estimates guide
Page 82

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8028


CHAPTER 2 \ BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES

Page 17

ESTIMATES
Estimates, also known as supply estimates, are the documents presented to Parliament 
setting out the government’s plans for spending for a financial year. These need 
Parliamentary approval before government departments can go ahead and commit to spend. 
This is known as supply. This process covers most government spending but there are a few 
specific exceptions where other legislation allows the spending, including judges’ salaries.  

The estimates process includes:

Vote on
Account

Main
Estimates

Supplementary
Estimates

Statement of 
Excesses

Vote on Account
The Vote on Account is the consideration and approval of an advance of funding for the 
first four months of the financial year (April to July) for each government department. This 
usually represents 45% of the previous year’s total spending. The Vote on Account is normally 
published in February and approved by Parliament in March, in time for the start of the 
new financial year commencing in April. Otherwise, government departments would not be 
allowed to spend any money at the start of the financial year.

Main Estimates 
This is the consideration and approval of the spending plans for the new financial year for 
each government department. Main Estimates are normally published in April, but not 
approved until July. Money already authorised through the Vote on Account is deducted from 
the amounts required for the year to provide government with funding for the remainder of 
the financial year. 

The Main Estimates are explained and updated annually so that the user can better 
understand the spending plans of the government that are voted by Parliament. 

The estimates set out include:

 � the spending limits

 � the ambit.

Page 83



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 18

THE SPENDING LIMITS
The Treasury sets out the guidance on budgeting and the spending controls in the 
Consolidated Budgeting Guidance, updated annually. The purpose of the controls is to 
“support the achievement of the fiscal framework and provide management incentives for 
departments”.  

The fiscal mandate sets out the government’s aim to “return the public finances to balance 
at the earliest possible date in the next Parliament”. The independent Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) assesses how well the government is performing against this aim (more 
information is provided in Other sources of information in Chapter 9.) 

Total government spending
The total amount that the government spends is also known as the total managed 
expenditure (TME). This is split up into:

 � departmental budgets – the amount that government departments have been allocated 
to spend (ie DELs)

 � money spent in areas outside budgetary control – all spending that is not controlled by a 
government department and includes welfare, pensions and debt interest payments and 
others (ie annually managed expenditure (AME)).

Departmental expenditure limit (DEL)
The government budget that is allocated by the spending review to be spent by each 
government department is known as the DEL. 

Departmental budgets include the running of the services that it oversees, such as schools or 
hospitals, and the everyday cost of resources such as staff.

Annually managed expenditure (AME)
AME is deemed to be more difficult to control as it is spent on programmes that are demand-
led such as welfare, tax credits, public sector pensions or debt interest.

It is spent on items that may be unpredictable or not easily controlled by departments and 
are relatively large in comparison to other government departmental spending.

Resource and capital spending
Both DELs and AMEs can be further split into resource spending and capital spending.

Resource spending is money that is spent on day-to-day resources and administration costs. 
Capital spending is money that is spent on investment and things that will create growth in 
the future.

Control totals apply to the following: 

 � Resource DEL (RDEL) – Resource budgets are the Treasury’s control over the level of 
current spending. Within the resource budget some transactions will have an immediate 
or near-immediate impact on the fiscal position, for example pay and procurement. 
Other transactions will only have an effect in future periods, for example the take-up 

Page 84



CHAPTER 2 \ BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES

Page 19

of provisions, or revaluation of assets. Both types of transaction fall within the resource 
budget.

 � Administration costs – Administration budgets are controlled to ensure that as much 
money as practicable is available for front line services and programmes. Over the last 
few years, government departments have faced significant cuts to the administration 
budgets to help reduce government spending overall. Provision in the resource budget 
that is not in administration budgets is termed programme spending. 

 � Capital DEL (CDEL) – Capital budgets are controlled because net investment increases 
net borrowing, impacting on the level of government debt.  

Planning totals apply to:

 � resource AME (RAME)

 � capital AME (CAME).

Departments have to monitor AME spending closely and tell the Treasury if they expect AME 
spending to rise above forecast. Although the Treasury accepts that in some areas AME is 
inherently volatile and may mean departments are not always able to manage the spending 
within budgets in that financial year, any expected increases in AME need the Treasury’s 
approval. 

Government departments are free to switch or ‘vire’ funding between spending limits during 
the year. They do not have to seek Parliament’s permission to do so as long as they keep 
within the overall spending limits already approved (by Parliament). More information is 
available in the Consolidated Budgeting Guidance (updated annually).

RESTRICTIONS ON SWITCHES 
Departments are restricted in the switches they may make between the control totals. 

The diagram below shows the interaction between the different control totals and where 
switched between budgets are allowed or not.

Page 85



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 20

Figure 2.2: Total managed expenditure 

Programme

Staff costs
Goods & services
Current grants
Rent
Maintenance

Admin

Resource DEL

Asset purchases
and sales
Major improvements
Capital grants
Loans

Switch from one budget to another allowed

Switch from one budger to another not allowed (or allowed under
exceptional circumstances)

Capital DEL

D
ep

ar
tm

en
ta

l E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 L
im

it
s 

(D
EL

)
pl

an
ne

d 
in

 S
pe

nd
in

g 
Re

vi
ew

s

Welfare payments
Pensions
Write-downs in asset values
Provisions for liabilities

Resource AME

Asset purchases
and sales
Major improvements
Capital grants
Loans

Capital AME

An
nu

al
ly

 M
an

ag
ed

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 (A
M

E)

To
ta

l M
an

ag
ed

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

Source: House of Commons Briefing Paper: The Estimates Process and 2017-18 Main Estimates 

Protected budgets
In some areas, the government made a commitment to ‘protect’ spending from the cuts 
made to public sector spending, including the NHS, schools and foreign aid. This means that 
these departmental budgets will not be cut during this government. As a consequence, other 
areas of the public sector/areas of spend have had to deliver higher levels of cuts to reach the 
overall TME spend control totals.

Page 86

file:///C:\Users\SusanF\Downloads\CBP-8028.pdf


CHAPTER 2 \ BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES

Page 21

The ambit
The ambit is defined as the rules governing what the department is allowed to spend money 
on or the income it can use to offset spending. If the spending is outside the ambit, then the 
accounts will be automatically qualified (as excess vote) by the C&AG as the government 
department did not have the authority from Parliament to spend the money. This is a very 
important control and many central governments have had their accounts qualified over the 
years for relatively small amounts spent outside the ‘ambit’. 

However, in exceptional cases, this may not always result in an audit qualification. For 
example, in the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) Annual Report 
and Accounts 2017/18, the C&AG gave an unqualified opinion on regularity – financial 
penalties arising from the European Commission funded scheme, stating: 

The value of disallowance penalties accrued in year was £51.8 million (2016-17: £11.7 
million). Whilst this level of cost to the taxpayer is significant, I do not consider this to be 
material in the context of the department’s gross expenditure of £6 billion. I have therefore 
issued an unqualified opinion on the regularity of the department’s 2017-18 financial 
statements.

In the case where government income is higher than the amount forecast, the ‘extra income’ 
must be surrendered as a Consolidated Fund Extra Receipt (CFER). 

Supplementary Estimates
The Supplementary Estimate process is used where departments wish to draw down 
additional funding, higher than previously authorised in the Main Estimates. There are several 
reasons why this may be the case, including:

 � machinery of government changes – where a department takes on new functions/
responsibilities during the financial year it may need extra funding to meet these

 � changes to forecasts where spend areas are difficult to predict (eg welfare spending)

 � claims on the reserve – the reserve is money held by the Treasury for emergency 
unforeseen expenditure

 � to move money between budgets (ie from resource to capital) – note departments are not 
allowed to switch budgets the other way round (ie between capital and resource)

 � transfers between government departments – this would be in the case of departments 
working together on joint programmes

 � underspends – where departments do not think they will use all the funds by the end of 
the financial year, the amounts are given back to the Treasury – they may be able to use 
this amount the next year under the ‘budget exchange’ provision, although this is not 
guaranteed.  

It is worth noting that the process is far more streamlined following the Clear Line of Sight 
(Alignment) Project. Prior to the project, there were over 11 different reporting events that 
were reduced to only three – the Main Estimate, one supplementary estimate and the 
accounts. Therefore, there is now only one opportunity to make any amendments to the 
amount voted by Parliament.

Page 87

https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/Scrutiny/finance-glossary-0717.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05617
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05617


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 22

Statement of excesses 
The statement of excesses is an opportunity for Parliament to consider any requests for 
retrospective approval of any spending beyond the level (control totals) or coverage (ambit) 
previously approved by Parliament. Examples include where inevitable expenditure is incurred 
or exceptional mistakes have arisen. 

Figure 2.3: Parliamentary scrutiny of financial management

GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS 

PUBLIC 
ACCOUNTS 
COMMITTEE
Uses NAO reports to 
question depts’ 
Accounting Officers on 
economy efficiency and 
effectiveness of public 
spending.    
This does not cover 
policy 

DEPARTMENTAL 
SELECT COMMITTEES 
Review policies, and spend 
for respective departments  

SCRUTINY UNIT
Review all Annual report 
and accounts, and 
estimates for departmental 
select committees  

PUBLIC 
ADMINISTRATION & 
CONSTITUTIONAL 
AFFAIRS SELECT 
COMMITTEE

NATIONAL 
AUDIT OFFICE

OFFICE FOR 
BUDGET 
RESPONSIBILITY

1. Independently 
produces 
economic 
forecasts on 
public finances 

2. Assesses 
Treasury’s 
costing of 
Budget changes 

3. Judges govt’s
performance on 
meeting the 
fiscal objectives  

0.370 financial 
statements certified; 
£1.6 trillion public 
income and 
expenditure 
(2017-18)

0.65 value for money 
reports  

Source: Scrutiny Unit

Departmental select committees 
Each of the main government spending departments has its own departmental select 
committee. The membership reflects the party proportions of the House of Commons. The 
House of Commons as a whole elects select committee chairs based on party allocations. 
Members within each party elect committee members. Information on the composition of the 
select committees is available on the Parliament website.  

One of the core tasks of select committees is to examine the spending and performance of 
government departments. Committees conduct inquiries, leading to reports which often 
make recommendations to the departments. These often receive press coverage and are an 
important means by which Parliament can influence government and so the government is 
held accountable to Parliament.

The Public Accounts Committee (PAC)
The PAC examines reports from the C&AG. The PAC looks at the efficiency and effectiveness 
with which government departments and other bodies have used their resources to meet 
their objectives. It also examines some accounts where the C&AG has qualified their audit 
certificate or made a specific report to the House of Commons. Page 88

https://www.parliament.uk/


CHAPTER 2 \ BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES

Page 23

Unlike departmental select committees, the PAC usually takes oral evidence from 
departmental officials rather than ministers because the PAC does not generally question 
policy. Instead, it examines the way in which policy is implemented (further information is 
provided in the Other sources of information section).

The Treasury Select Committee
The Treasury Select Committee’s responsibilities include scrutinising the Treasury, HRMC, 
the Bank of England, the OBR, the Financial Conduct Authority and the government’s overall 
fiscal policies and management of the economy, including the government’s fiscal mandates, 
borrowing, taxation, spending reviews, Budgets and Spring Statements (previously Autumn 
Statements).

SCRUTINY UNIT
The Procedure Committee recommended the creation of a new unit to help to select 
committees to examine the government’s spending plans following the introduction 
of resource accounting and budgeting and, in 1998/99, three-year spending plans and 
departmental reports. 

This recommendation was developed further with the need to establish a special unit 
to support committees in pre-legislative scrutiny as well as financial scrutiny (Liaison 
Committee report). This lead to the creation of the Scrutiny Unit in 2002.

The Scrutiny Unit provides support to MPs by: 

 � supporting departmental select committees in scrutinising draft bills 

 � co-ordinating the evidence-taking sessions of public bill committees

 � providing financial expertise to departmental select committees, including: 

 – Main and Supplementary Estimates

 – departmental annual report and accounts 

 – spending review settlements, Budget Statements, Autumn Statements, etc 

 � debates on public spending (estimate days).

The Scrutiny Unit provides interactive guidance. Although these presentations/guides are 
designed primarily for parliamentarians, they are available and accessible to all and are 
an important tool for delivering better understanding on what happens and why, as well as 
signposting specific areas which may be of interest. 

Spending review 
The spending review is defined as: 

Internal Government reviews of future spending plans held every few years. The outcome of a 
Spending Review is announced in Parliament, and sets out the proposed Resource and Capital 
DEL limits for each department for each of a number of years ahead, The Spending Review 
totals form the basis of subsequent Main Estimates voted by Parliament.

Source: Scrutiny Unit’s Finance Glossary

Page 89



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 24

This is updated regularly and the next spending review is in autumn 2018 as announced by 
the chancellor of the exchequer at the Spring Statement 2018. 

There is considerable analysis and guidance to support the reader to understand impact 
across all government departments and what is happening to budgets, impact on policies etc. 

Summary
To effectively scrutinise central government spending, the first step is to understand how 
funding is allocated to government departments. The spending review sets out the overall 
aims for the government over a hree to four year period. The detailed spending limits are 
provided in the Main Estimates that are approved by Parliament in the annual Supply and 
Appropriations Acts (updated each year). Parliamentary debates on the estimates provide an 
opportunity for ministers to question the policy and spending priorities. During the year there 
is a final opportunity to review the amounts required through the Supplementary Estimates 
process. Parliament is able to scrutinise spending through departmental select committees. 

To help make sense of this information, there are many guides and interactive analyses 
provided by the Scrutiny Unit. 

FURTHER SUGGESTED READING
 � House of Commons Procedure Committee Authorising Government Expenditure: Steps to 

More Effective Scrutiny (Fifth Report of Session 2016–17)

 � The Estimates Process and 2017–18 Main Estimates

 � Liaison Committee, First Report of Session 2000-01, Shifting the Balance: Unfinished 
Business (HC 321, paras 76–77)

 � HM Treasury’s The Clear Line of Sight (Alignment) Project

 � HM Treasury Guidance: How to Understand Public Sector Spending

 � Scrutiny Unit briefing guides on the Spending Review, Estimates: Main Estimates and 
Supplementary Estimates (updated annually)

 � Scrutiny Unit Interactive Analysis of the Estimates

Page 90

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/190.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/190.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8028
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/history-of-unit/
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/history-of-unit/
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05617
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-understand-public-sector-spending
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/Scrutiny-Unit/Spending_review_ALL_DEPTS.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8028#fullreport
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/Scrutiny/Main_estimates_all_17_18.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/Scrutiny/Sup_estimates_all_16_17.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/reports-and-publications/


Page 25

CHAPTER 3 

Top areas to examine in a 
set of central government 

accounts

Annual report and accounts often seem to be impenetrable and only decipherable by a select 
few. However, the key aim of the financial statements is to provide greater transparency, 
accountability and comparability for the users of the accounts.  

In the public sector, as there are a number of stakeholders that are interested in government 
income and spending, the challenge is to know: 

 � where to start what questions to ask

 � where to look to find the answers.

The Treasury publishes illustrative financial statements and other guidance to aid accounts 
preparers following the financial reporting manual (FReM), as shown in Figure 3.1.

Figure 3.1: The Treasury’s illustrative guides (these are referred to using 
their respective colours)

Department Yellow

Agency Pink

Non-Departmental Public Body Green

Pension Scheme Magenta

Trust Statement Purple

Source: HM Treasury Government Financial Reporting Manual 

The annual report and accounts are split into three main areas:

 � performance – telling the story

 � accountability

 � financial statements.

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-financial-reporting-manual-2017-to-2018


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 26

This breakdown was introduced following HM Treasury’s Simplifying and Streamlining 
Statutory Reports and Accounts (CM 8905, July 2014) review of central government financial 
statements. The review highlighted that: 

Anecdotal evidence has suggested that users of these documents find them inaccessible and 
difficult to understand, limiting their use not just from an external accountability perspective 
but also for improving financial management more broadly.

Source: Simplifying and Streamlining Statutory Reports and Accounts

PERFORMANCE REPORT
The performance report provides a narrative overview of the key activities and outcomes. 
Treasury set out the high level structure for this section to ensure consistency and 
comparability across all government departments and should include: 

 � clear statement of the purpose and activities of the organisation

 � high-level financial information with cross references to the audited accounts

 � trend information based upon segmental/management information data

 � commentary against trends and performance against policy

 � expected future policy changes. 

The Ministry of Justice was highly commended in the NAO and PwC Excellence in Reporting 
Public Sector Awards 2016/17, receiving special recognition for clarity:

The annual report sets out its overall mission and strategic objectives up front, and follows up 
with a frank evaluation of its performance. The judges noted the MOJ’s readiness to be open 
about its challenges and areas of underperformance, and the disclosures on actions taken to 
address them. 

SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLAN (SDP)
In 2016, the Cabinet Office introduced SDPs “as the basis for the government’s planning and 
performance framework”. The latest iteration is seen as an improvement on previous versions, 
but commentators question the number of performance measures and prioritisation. 

Each department sets out its key departmental objectives and how it will achieve these, 
performance against these objectives and total finances to achieve the objectives. The 
Department for Work and Pensions’ (DWP) SDP is a good model, with clear trend information 
and good explanations, and all performance data reported is consistent with the SDP and 
priorities and offers an honest assessment on progress. 

SDPs were introduced to improve performance management within central government 
departments by showing key outputs and make these transparent by making these available 
on GOV.UK (note that the SDPs presented on the government’s website are the high-level 
overview of the key deliverables). Departments will have detailed plans to effectively plan and 
manage day-to-day performance against the objectives. 

Page 92

https://www.google.co.uk/search?q=direct+gov+website&rlz=1C1CHFX_enGB770GB770&oq=Direct+Gov+website&aqs=chrome.0.0l6.439j0j4&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8


CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 27

Question 1: Has the department achieved what it set out to achieve? Is there a 
relationship between the performance report in the annual report and accounts and the 
SDP in terms of targets reported against? 

When analysing performance, the first question to consider is whether the government 
department achieved what it said it was going to. If so, how, and if not, then why not? 

For example, HMRC states the following three objectives in its SDP: 

1. maximise revenues due and bear down on avoidance and evasion

2. transform tax and payments for our customers

3. design and deliver a professional, efficient and engaged organisation.

Detailed measures to achieve the objectives are also stated.

The HMRC Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 performance section summary assesses 
actual performance against the high-level objectives, providing a ‘red, amber, green’ (RAG) 
rating where green is commitment is on track or complete, amber is some risk to deliver 
and red means the commitment is not on track. The RAG rating method is widely used 
across government departments to assess performance and provide a good visualisation/
infographics on progress. 

Question 2: Is there any information on capability and efficiencies? Does the 
performance report provide information on efficiencies made by the department and or 
its capability to deliver? 

The performance section should also provide an honest assessment on progress on 
efficiencies. There are a number of measures – one measure is the number of whole 
time equivalent staff. Staff cost is often a large component of the running costs of 
any organisation and the public sector is no different. Therefore, there should be some 
information on progress. 

For example, in the DWP Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18, the number of full-time 
equivalents (FTEs) has decreased to 74,080, a reduction of 14,500 FTEs since 2012. This 
should be assessed in light of the deliverables and whether these are achievable based on 
the performance targets set and other evidence in the media which either supports or raises 
concerns on the department’s ability to deliver. 

Another measure may be the employee engagement score – this is an important indicator 
collected as part of a raft of data in the annual staff surveys completed across all government 
departments. Since 2011, the employee engagement score has increased from 44% to 60% in 
2017. This is comparable to the civil service average of 61% published by the Cabinet Office 
Civil Service People Survey 2017. 

Another measure may be the number of complaints. If these are increasing, this may indicate 
a reduction in the quality of service. As ever, the reader should always question the statistics 
that are used to highlight progress, as all organisations will highlight those statistics that 
present their performance in the best light. 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-service-people-survey-2017-results--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-service-people-survey-2017-results--2


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 28

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
The ‘accountability’ reporting requirement was introduced by the Streamlining and 
Simplifying Statutory Annual Reports and Accounts document, produced by Treasury because 
the primary user of the annual report and accounts is Parliament, and there are a number 
of key accountability requirements resulting from this that “must be met and be seen to be 
met”. 

The accountability section includes:

 � The Governance Statement and information on strategic risks to the entity

 � the remuneration report 

 � information on Parliamentary accountability – including the Statement of Parliamentary 
Supply (SoPS).

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG now the MHCLG) annual report 
and accounts 2016/17 extract clearly signposts what is included in the accountability report, 
why it is needed and where to find more information in the annual report and accounts.

Question 3: Is there anything unusual in the lead NED report?

As part of the reforms to strengthen financial management in government, there was a 
renewed drive to secure high profile senior leaders from the private sector with commercial 
experience to join central government departmental boards – the 2010 Ministerial Code 
stipulated that they should be “largely drawn from the commercial private sector”. 

Lead NEDs provide a report on the effectiveness of the board and other significant issues. 
While the Treasury’s Simplifying and Streamlining Statutory Annual Report and Accounts 
provided a guide as to what should be included in this report, it leaves it to the discretion of 
the lead NED as to how the information is presented. 

Note, in addition to individual NED reports per department, the Corporate Governance in 
Central Government Departments: Code for Good Practice states that the government lead 
NED will publish a report on progress every year. This report sets out progress across the 
government on key cross-cutting issues. This is a very informative report to review for any 
systemic issues, what the plans are to address these and whether these are on track.

Question 4: What is the government department’s risk management process? Do internal 
audit make any specific comments on the entity’s control environment?

The internal audit function is an important part of the ‘three lines of defence’ best practice 
model to managing risk, as outlined in Figure 3.4 below. 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ministerial-code
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-code-for-central-government-departments-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-code-for-central-government-departments-2017


CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 29

Figure 3.2: Three lines of defence model

Governing body/board/audit and risk
assurance committee

Senior management

First Line
Operational, policy 

and programme 
mangement

Management 
information and 

financial controls

Second Line
Corporate oversight 

– executive team 
and committees

Functional experts 
and specialist 

teams

Third Line
Government 

Internal Audit 
Agency

Reviews by our 
non-executive 

members

National Audit 
Office

Infrastructure and 
projects authority

Source: The DWP Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18

It is important to see what the internal audit’s judgement is on the control environment and 
then compare this to the accounting officer’s assessment. 

REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT
Remuneration is a very sensitive area hat attracts a lot of interest across all sectors. In fact, 
this tends to be one of the few areas, if not the only area, that is scrutinised by various 
stakeholders.  Remuneration levels in the public sector have a higher level of scrutiny as they 
need to show how they balance the needs of the taxpayer to deliver value for money and 
ensure salaries remain attractive to draw top talent. The general rule of thumb often used is 
the comparison to the prime minister’s salary. The guidance is set out in Treasury’s Guidance 
for Approval of Senior Pay: Applicable from 1 January 2018. Any remuneration packages over 
£150,000 will need prior approval from the chief secretary to the Treasury having followed a 
seven step process. 

The remuneration disclosure in central government is higher than applied to the private 
sector (as set out in the Companies Act 2006). These are: 

1. details of staffing (numbers) and use of non-payroll staff (consultants) number and 
amount paid

2. salary of the most highly paid director compared to median earnings (to work out how 
many times more is the highest paid director paid) 

3. details of exit packages.

In addition, central government departments must provide a breakdown of the individual 
components of their remuneration including pension (CETV) and any bonuses as well as 
the basic salary. This approach is deemed to enhance accountability. This requirement is 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dwp-annual-report-and-accounts-2016-to-2017
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/682643/Guidance_for_approval_of_senior_pay.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/682643/Guidance_for_approval_of_senior_pay.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/46/contents


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 30

different to the Companies Act 2006 requirement where providing a single remuneration 
figure (including salary, share options etc) was considered to provide greater clarity to the 
reader of the financial statements. 

This section is subject to audit (as the information is disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements). 

In addition, there is also information drawn from the civil service annual staff survey – where 
the department is relative to the civil service mean for the year as well as trend information. 
There is also information on diversity, number and grades, and gender pay difference. 

Question 5: What is the split between permanent staff and others in terms of wage costs, 
consultancy and temporary staff costs?

Guidance was introduced in 2014 on spending controls to help government departments to 
reduce wasteful expenditure and help reduce the fiscal deficit. Of the eight areas, one area is 
consultancy.

The example of the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) Annual Report and 
Accounts 2016/17 shows consultancy spend as £32,135,000 (representing 2% of the total).  

Figure 3.3: DCMS Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Total staff costs 
comprise: 

2016/17 2015/16

Permanently 
employed 

staff 

Others Contract 
and 

agency

Ministers Special 
advisers 

Total Restated 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Wages & salaries 1,376,177 4,394 32,135 143 92 1,412,941 1,387,260

Social security costs 141,958 579 –   14 15 42,566 128,281

Pensions 320,224 171 – –   20 320,415 285,616

Total costs 1,838,359 5,144 32,135 157 127 1,875,922 1,801,157 

Less: Recoveries in 
respect of outward 
secondments

–1,146 – – – – –1,146 –1,189

Total net costs 1,837,213 5,144 32,135 157 127 1,874,776  1,799,968 

Of which:

Core Department 35,462 1,082 6,050 157 127 42,878 40,334

Agency 4,957 409 914 –   – 6,280 5,993

Arms length body 1,796,794 3,653 25171 – – 1,825,618 1,753,641

Total Net Costs 1,837,213 5,144 32,135 157 127 1,874,776 1,799,968

Source: DCMS Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dcms-annual-report-and-accounts-2016-17


CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 31

Higher spend on consultancy may indicate an issue, such as the department using 
consultancy spend to offset the reduction in permanent staff (which may be part of the 
efficiency targets).

This note is subject to audit review; therefore, we can place assurance on the completeness 
and accuracy in the information provided. Not all of the performance section is subject to 
audit review. Often readers of the financial statements make the (not unjustified) assumption 
that all the information in the accounts is audited. However, this is not the case. Where the 
information has been subject to audit it will be clearly marked as such. 

STATEMENT OF PARLIAMENTARY SUPPLY (SOPS)
The SoPS is unique to central government in terms of accountability for the money ‘voted’ to 
it. It reports the total spend for the departmental group compared with the amount approved 
(‘voted’) by Parliament in the estimate. 

Core tables set out current and future planned expenditure in a table. They set out the four 
prior years, along with the planned expenditure for the next three years as required by ‘PES 
2016 (12)’. The outturn and planned expenditure is recorded on the same basis as the SoPS. 
The spending review in autumn 2015 set the overall departmental budget up to 2019/20 for 
resource and to 2020/21 for capital expenditure.

Losses and special payments and fruitless payments
When Parliament votes money or passes specific legislation (ie standing orders), it does not 
make any provision for any losses or special payments.

Any losses and special payments made by the government are subject to a higher degree 
of disclosure to make sure the government is being transparent about what is happening 
to taxpayers’ money. This is the reason why the losses and special payments note has 
been brought into the accountability section to give it greater prominence; however, these 
disclosures were previously required by the Treasury’s Managing Public Money as a note in 
the financial statements and audited. 

Losses include cash losses, bookkeeping losses, exchange rate fluctuation, and losses through 
fraud and error.

Special payments
Special payments are defined in Managing Public Money as payments “outside the normal 
range of departmental activity” which have been set in vote process or other legislation (ie 
standing orders) stating what the amounts allocated to departments are to be used for.

Specific examples of special payments are set out in the guidance and typically include 
extra-contractual payments, extra-statutory or extra-regulatory payments, compensation and 
special severance payments or other ex-gratia payments. 

Page 97



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 32

Fruitless payments
A fruitless payment is defined as a payment which cannot be avoided because the recipient is 
legally entitled to it even though nothing of use to the department will be received in return 
(Annex 4.10 Losses and Write Offs – Managing Public Money).

These are not regarded as special payments as these payments are legally due. However, 
as benefit has not been received in return, they should be treated as losses and have to be 
brought to the attention of parliament in the same way as stores losses. 

For example, in its 2016/17 annual report and accounts, the DfE has clearly labelled this 
section as Parliamentary accountability disclosure. It has been audited. The number of cases 
have significantly increased between 2016–17, but the total value of the losses has halved 
over the two years (although claims waived have largely remained the same). 

This may warrant additional scrutiny. For example, why have the number of cases have 
increased from 264 cases in 2015/16 to 33,031 in 2016/17 – does this highlight a bigger 
issue?

In the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17, extract 
fruitless payments in 2017 totalled £67,315 (121 cases) compared to £5,850 (50 cases) in 
2016. This may warrant some questions. 

COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL’S CERTIFICATE
The C&AG, head of the NAO, will complete a review of the accounts prepared by government 
bodies. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires the C&AG to prepare a code 
setting out how local auditors are to carry out their functions (NAO Code of Audit Practice). 
The Code is principles-based and Chapter 2 provides details on the audit of the financial 
statements.

One of the most important questions – and therefore areas to look at in a set of financial 
statements – is the audit opinion. For almost all public bodies, the C&AG will provide an 
opinion on the accounts following a detailed examination of the financial statements (the 
audit may be sub-contracted out for some government entities). 

Audit qualification 
All public sector financial statements are subject to independent audit review. This is a 
statutory requirement and the auditor will examine whether the financial statements provide 
a true and fair view of the accounts and that these have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the appropriate legislation (eg Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 for most 
departments, Exchequer and Audit Departments Act 1921 and HM Treasury directions issued 
thereunder for HMRC’s Energy Act 2004 and secretary of state directions issued thereunder 
for the nuclear decommissioning authority). 

In addition, the C&AG is required to provide: 

 � an opinion on financial statements

 � an opinion on other matters

 � matters by which they report by exception Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-annual-report-and-accounts-2016-to-2017
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/2/contents/enacted
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2015/03/Final-Code-of-Audit-Practice.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5/11-12/52/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/20/contents


CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 33

 � an opinion on regularity.

Clean audit opinion
The majority of public bodies will receive a ‘clean’ audit opinion (ie that the financial 
statements and the supporting notes are true and fair). 

QUALIFIED AUDIT OPINION
The auditor shall express a qualified opinion when:

 � the auditor, having obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, concludes that 
misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, are material, but not pervasive, to the 
financial statements 

 � the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the 
opinion, but the auditor concludes that the possible effects on the financial statements 
of undetected misstatements, if any, could be material but not pervasive.

In addition, in government, the auditor can qualify their opinion based on regularity (ie 
did the government have appropriate authority to incur the spend?). One of the ways that 
Parliament can exercise its authority over government spending is to ensure that the rules set 
out governing spend should be met. If this is not the case, then the financial statements are 
qualified. 

EXCESS VOTE 
Technically the government body does not have the appropriate authority to spend the 
money – although the department can retrospectively ask for the money such as the DfE 
(approved by the PAC) – although this is not always granted.  

Adverse opinion 
The auditor shall express an adverse opinion when the auditor, having obtained sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence, concludes that misstatements, individually or in the aggregate, 
are both material and pervasive to the financial statements. 

Question 6: Have the accounts been qualified by the C&AG?  If so, what does the 
qualification relate to? What action does the department intend to undertake to ensure 
the qualification does not recur?

The 2017/18 Ministry of Defence (MOD) accounts were qualified as they were not ‘true and 
fair’. The MOD does not apply the Treasury mandated financial reporting manual/accounting 
standard in respect of leases (International Accounting Standard 17).

As the potential value of this qualification is so high, this also transfers through to the WGA. 

Disclaimer of opinion 
The auditor will disclaim their opinion where the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence to base the opinion, and the auditor concludes that the possible Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ministry-of-defence-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018
https://www.ifrs.org/issued-standards/list-of-standards/ias-17-leases/


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 34

effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any, could be both 
material and pervasive. 

The auditor will also disclaim their opinion when, in extremely rare cases where there are 
a number of uncertainties, the auditor concludes that, even though sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence was available regarding each of the individual uncertainties, it is not possible 
to form an opinion on the financial statements due to the potential interaction of the 
uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the financial statements.

Since the introduction of resource accounts in 2000/01, there has only been one instance 
where a large central government department’s annual accounts have been disclaimed – ie 
Home Office 2004/05.

Comptroller and Auditor General’s opinion on other matters 
The C&AG is also required to provide their opinion and separately set this out to confirm 
whether the information that has to be audited in the performance and accountability 
sections has been completed. The statement usually reads as follows:

In my opinion: 

 � the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the Government Resources and 
Accounts Act 2000; 

 � in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified any material 
misstatements in the Performance Report or the Accountability Report; and 

 � the information given in the Performance and Accountability Reports for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Source: DEFRA Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 

Matters on which the C&AG reports by exception 
The C&AG is required to make a report by exception. This will typically include:

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my 
opinion: 

 � adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or 

 � the financial statements and the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 � I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or 

 � the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s guidance.
Source: DEFRA Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 

It is unusual for the C&AG to make any specific observations on the accounts, hence these 
would pique the reader’s interest. 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/defras-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018


CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 35

FINANCIAL REPORT
The financial statements comprise of: 

 � the Statement of Parliamentary Supply

 � the consolidated statement of comprehensive net expenditure 

 � the consolidated statement of financial position

 � the consolidated position of cash flows

 � the consolidated statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity

 � supporting notes.

Statement of Parliamentary Supply (SoPS)
This is the primary parliamentary accountability statement and is unique to central 
government financial reporting.

The purpose of the SoPS is to show outturn (actual expenditure and income) against spending 
limits (also referred to as ‘control totals’) authorised by Parliament. Note any spending that 
is higher than the control total is deemed to be irregular and would lead to an automatic 
qualification of the accounts (as seen previously). 

Unlike all the other primary statements, the SoPS does not follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) because these align to the national accounts rules (under the 
European System of Accounts ESA 2010, which is derived from the UN System of National 
Accounts SNA 2008) and the government budgeting under the Treasury’s Consolidated 
Budgeting Guidance. 

The SoPS is split into three sections:  

 � summary of resource and capital outturn

 � net cash requirement

 � actual administration costs.

Summary of resource and capital outturn
Treasury’s Consolidated Budgeting Guidance (updated annually to reflect updates to 
accounting standards) sets out how total government spending (known as totally managed 
expenditure) is analysed between: 

 � DEL – the government budget that is allocated to and spent by government departments 

 � AME – this is money spent in areas outside budgetary control – all spending that is not 
controlled by a government department and includes welfare, pensions and debt interest 
payments.

Control totals are further split between resource spending and capital spending.

Resource spending is money that is spent on day-to-day resources and administration costs. 
Capital spending is money that is spent on investment and things that will create growth in 
the future. 

Resource DELs also include the administration total. The aim is to ensure most of government 
spend is focused on front line services (programme costs) rather than paying for back office 
costs (IT, finance etc). Page 101



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 36

There are strict rules as to whether money can be moved between the control totals. 

Figure 3.4: Breakdown of totally managed expenditure (TME) into its 
constituent parts

Totally Managed
Expenditure

(TME)

Departmental
Expenditure
Limits (DEL)

Administration

Capital DEL

Resource AME

Capital AME

Annual Managed
Expenditure

(AME)

Resource DEL

The former DCLG helpfully presented the control totals in its 2016/17 annual report and 
accounts.

Net cash requirement 
The net cash requirement is the amount of cash that the department requires in order to 
support the above expenditure. If the department overspend against any of these voted 
control totals, this is an excess on the SoPS and would result in an audit qualification by the 
C&AG.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive net expenditure 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive net (SoCNE) is a summary of the departmental 
group’s expenditure and income for the financial year, and any gains and losses. This is 
equivalent to the profit and loss account and the statement of total recognised gains and 
losses for private sector companies. As government departments mainly spend money, it is 
the statement of net expenditure that is net of any income. 

The consolidated SoCNE shows the department’s expenditure and income for the financial 
year split between: 

 � the core department 

 � the core department and its executive agencies 

 � the departmental group. 

All departments will set out which other bodies are included in the departmental group in the 
notes to the accounts (under ‘basis of consolidation’, although most departments will include 
this as part of the performance (part of who we are) or the accountability section). 

Question 7: Are there any significant movements in expenditure?

A key question in the section is to review any large movements or trends – do these align 
with government policy announcements or the users understanding/knowledge of what is Page 102



CHAPTER 3 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 

Page 37

happening in the department? This may indicate other areas for further investigation and/or 
questions to ask of the department.  

Consolidated statement of financial position
The statement of financial position (SoFP) represents a financial snapshot of the organisation. 
This is prepared based on international financial reporting standards (as adapted for the 
public sector) and so is largely the same as the private sector financial statements. 

The SoFP used to be known as the balance sheet and includes all the assets and liabilities, 
analysed between short term (less than one year) and long term (more than one year) and 
equity at a specific point in time: the accounting year end (31 March). 

Key issues to assess are any changes in the assets and liabilities in particular.

Question 8: What are the levels of the liabilities and levels of the current liabilities when 
compared with departmental spends and what are the trends? 

When considering liabilities, the following questions might be useful:

 � What are these when compared with departmental spend? 

 � Are these increasing from the previous year?

 � What is the level of current liabilities? This is important to consider as it shows how 
much of next year’s budget is already committed. 

Using the example from the Ministry of Justice’s SoFP for 2017/18 (HC 1285), the level of 
current liabilities has largely remained the same when compared to the previous year. They 
comprise of trade and other payables and provisions (£2.2bn) which is almost one-quarter of 
total operating expenditure (at £9.3bn), which is obtained from the SoCNE. Armed with this 
information, the reader can assess whether this is sustainable (especially if there is more 
pressure on the departmental budget) or conduct some comparisons with other departments.  

Question 9: Liabilities: what are the commitments under PFI and non-PFI leases?

PFIS and PF2s have been widely used as a means to finance long-term infrastructure 
investment in the government estate and other services. This area has been brought under 
the spotlight in recent years where questions have been raised as to whether these have 
delivered value for taxpayers’ money. 

One of the key questions to ask is the size of the PFI commitments in the notes to the 
accounts. In particular:

 � What is the commitment for one year compared to expenditure – as this would limit how 
much money is available for other spending?

 � What is the total commitment over the rest of the PFI?

 � What is the capital element?

 � What is the interest element?

Page 103

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722536/MoJ_annual_reports_and_accounts_2017-18__print_.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 38

Question 10: Provisions: what are these? Are there any unusual, new or major changes in 
provisions?

One of the main advantages of implementing commercial style accounts in central 
government is that it highlights the long-term affordability of government spending – 
through the availability of information on PFI and other long term commitments and 
provisions. 

As required by the accounting standard, it is important to set aside money (‘provide’) for 
an amount the department thinks it may have to pay out due to certain criteria. For the 
government this may include HMRC’s legal claims or clinical negligence claims made against 
the NHS. (Note the NHS accounts are consolidated into the DHSC, formerly the Department of 
Health (DH).)

In the DHSC Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18, the note on provisions is very detailed as it 
includes provisions for medical negligence which has been going up significantly over the last 
few years. Any major increase in provisions would need to be met in the future limiting future 
spending as it is committed. 

Question 11: Contingent liabilities: what are these? Are there any unusual, new or major 
changes in contingent liabilities?

In addition to the level of provisions, the contingent liabilities note is worth reviewing 
to assess what these are and if there are any unusual contingent liabilities or any major 
changes.  

If the non-remote contingent liabilities are increasing, this will indicate a potential issue for 
the future. The reader should check this note in particular and consider what is the long-term 
trend and if the non-remote contingent liabilities were to crystallise and the department 
were to need to provide for this, then what would the impact be on future affordability of the 
department’s spending commitments and priorities?

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Another important note in the financial statements is the related party disclosure about 
transactions and outstanding balances with an entity’s related parties. 

IAS 24.9 defines a related party as “a person or entity that is related to the entity that is 
preparing its financial statements (referred to as the ‘reporting entity’)”.

SUMMARY
The financial statements of an organisation are critical to delivering scrutiny of the 
organisation’s financial health and long-term prospects. However, the size and terminology in 
a set of accounts can be a deterrent to many. This section provides a list of key questions to 
ask when looking at central government annual report and accounts, with examples of what 
the relevant information looks like based on the 2017/18 central government departments’ 
annual report and accounts and where to access the annual report and accounts. Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dhsc-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018
http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/docs/consolidated/ias24_en.pdf


Page 39

CHAPTER 4

Devolved administrations 

Since 1998 there has been increasing devolution of powers to Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland. This section covers the funding arrangements and where the user should look to find 
out what funding each of the devolved governments receive and what they have spent it on. 

How much is spent in Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland and England is subject to much 
debate. As seen in the spending per head analysis (by country and region) in Figure 4.1, there 
are regional differences – why is this the case?  

Figure 4.1: Public spend per head by country

8,898 

10,651 
10,076 

11,042 

9,159 

0

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

£ per head

England Scotland Wales Northern Ireland UK indentifiable expenditure

Source: House of Commons Library Briefing Paper: Public Spending by Country and Region (November 
2017)

Northern Ireland receives the most per head public spending (£11,042) and England receives 
the least (£8,898). England is further broken down into the different regions and public 
spending per head is highest in London at £10,192 and lowest in the South East at £8,111.

Page 105



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 40

Figure 4.2: Public spending per head in the region

9,680  9,429 

8,810 
8,282 

8,846 
8,155 

10,192 

8,111 
8,549 

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

£ per head

North East North West Yorkshire and Humber

East Midlands West Midlands East Midlands

London South East South West

0

Source: House of Commons Library Briefing Paper: Public Spending by Country and Region  
(November 2017)

CONTEXT
The Scottish Parliament, the National Assembly for Wales and the Northern Ireland Assembly 
were established and took control in 1999. As the history and administrative structures are 
different so are the funding arrangements for each.

The UK government is responsible for government policy in England on all the matters that 
have been devolved to Scotland, Wales or Northern Ireland.

The UK government retains responsibility for national policy on all matters that have not 
been devolved, such as foreign affairs, defence, social security, trade and. macro-economic 
management.

Within the UK government, the secretaries of state for Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 
are responsible for the Scotland Office, the Wales Office and the Northern Ireland Office 
respectively.

FUNDING 
The Scottish, Welsh and Northern Irish governments receive most of their funding in the form 
of block grants. The amounts are included in the estimates voted on by the Westminster 
Parliament. 

Page 106

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN04033#fullreport


CHAPTER 4 \ DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS  

Page 41

The amounts are based on calculations set out in HM Treasury: Statement of Funding 
Policy: Funding the Scottish Parliament, National Assembly for Wales and Northern Ireland 
Assembly. 

This guidance also sets out the inter-administration financial relations, including: 

 � accountability – the Scottish Government, Welsh Government and Northern Ireland 
Executive make decisions on managing and investing the resources available to them, 
and are accountable to their respective Parliament or Assembly

 � transparency – the system is readily understood and its operation is open to scrutiny.

The Barnett formula 
The Barnett formula is synonymous with funding, but it is only a part of the funding 
calculation – it is used to calculate the yearly change in the devolved administration’s block 
grant. The total is based on changes in UK department funding, the extent to which that UK 
department’s funding is devolved and each country’s population. 

Figure 4.3: The Barnett formula 

Change to UK 
department’s 
planned spend 

Comparability % 
the extent to 
which devolved 
services 
correspond to UK 
services 

Population 
Proportion 
Devolved 
population as 
proportion of 
England 

Source: House of Commons Briefing Paper: The Barnett Formula (January 2018)

If spending is increased, then the block grant also increases. However, if the devolved 
administrations use their tax raising powers then the block grant is reduced. The net effect is 
to ensure that neither the UK government or the devolved administrations are affected by any 
changes in powers.

Comparability percentages capture the extent to which spending by a UK government 
department corresponds to services provided by devolved administrations. It measures the 
extent to which the UK department’s services have been devolved.

Comparability percentages range from 0%–100%, where 0% represents none of its services 
have been devolved to the devolved administration and 100% if all of its services have been 
devolved. Figure 4.4 shows the comparability percentages. For instance, education is fully 
devolved across all devolved governments as it is 100% on the comparability index.

Page 107

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479717/statement_of_funding_2015_print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479717/statement_of_funding_2015_print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479717/statement_of_funding_2015_print.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7386


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 42

Figure 4.4: Comparability percentages

Spend area Scotland Wales Northern 
Ireland

 Business, Innovation and Skills 66.4% 66.3% 66.7%

Business Rates 100% 100.0% 100.0%

Cabinet Office and SIA 6.5% 6.5% 10.3%

Chancellor’s Departments 0.4% 0.0% 0.3%

CLG: Communities 99.7% 99.7% 99.7%

CLG: Local Government 100% 100.0% 100.0%

Culture, Media & Sport 76.9% 76.9% 77.6%

Education 100% 100.0% 100.0%

Energy & Climate Change 1.8% 1.8% 15.3%

Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 99.8% 99.0% 99.8%

Health 99.4% 99.4% 99.4%

Home Office 91.7% 0.0% 91.7%

Justice 100.0% 0.0% 99.9%

Law Officers’ Departments 100.0% 0.0% 91.6%

Transport 91.0% 80.9% 91.3%

Work & Pensions 1.4% 1.4% 100.0%

Source: HM Treasury Statement of Funding Policy 

Page 108



CHAPTER 4 \ DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS  

Page 43

Figure 4.5: Determining spending for devolved administrations (adapted 
from Scrutiny Unit guidance)

THE BARNETT FORMULA  
Example for Scotland 

9.85% 

75% of £100m 

Increase of £100m in 
UK departments’ 
resource DEL budgets 

25% are UK reserved 
functions 

75% are devolved 

Scotland’s population 
compared to England 

Population share 
compared to England 
(or England and Wales) 

Extra £7.388m 
to Scottish 
Government to 
spend on any 
devolved 
function  

Can be reduced (if revenue 
is devolved (eg devolved 
administration collects 
taxes). 

Non-budget block grant to 
devolved administrations: 
Scotland, Wales and 
Northern Ireland. 

Can be increased (if 
additional functions) 
are devolved. 

Change in funding 
calculated by the 
Barnett formula 

Spending baseline 
(set at the spending 
review) 

Source: Adapted from the Scrutiny Unit’s 2017/18 Main Estimates: Overview of Government Spending 
Plans for 2017/18

The Treasury also publishes the block grant transparency document providing an annual 
update on the amount allocated in the estimates to each of the devolved administrations. 

Details of the Main Estimates, the block grant and adjustments for the devolved governments 
are included in the Scrutiny Unit’s analysis. 

Page 109

https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/Scrutiny/Main_estimates_all_17_18.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons/Scrutiny/Main_estimates_all_17_18.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 44

Taxes 
Historically, the UK government has been responsible for raising the vast majority of its taxes 
and making decisions on tax policy. The taxes are collected by HMRC. 

Recently, the devolved governments have been given legal powers to control some of their 
taxes. The extent to which powers have been delegated are all slightly different: for example, 
the Scottish Government has freedom to set its different rates of income tax. Agreements are 
in place to devolve half the VAT receipts for Scotland to commence in 2019.

The table summarises all the taxes to be devolved announced in legislation between 2012–
2017.

Figure 4.6: Taxes to be devolved, 2012–2017

Taxes to be 
devolved

Scotland Wales Northern Ireland

Stap duty and 
landfill tax

Scotland Act 2012

Implemention 2015

Wales Act 2014

Implementation:

2018

Income tax Scotland Act 2016

Implementation 2017

Wales Act 2017

Implementation 2019

Air passenger 
duty

Scotland Act 2016

To be implemented in the 
future

APD Act (NI) 2012

(Long haul APD)

Implementation 2013

Corporation tax Corporation Act (NI) 2015

Implementation TBC

VAT Scotland Act 2016

50% of VAT revenues 
assigned

Aggregates levy Scotland Act 2016

To be implemented in the 
future

Source: Based on analysis from UK Legislation, House of Commons briefing papers and the Institute 
for Government

THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE DEVOLVED 
ADMINISTRATIONS

Northern Ireland
The Northern Ireland Office prepares its annual report and accounts under the relevant 
accounts directions issued by HM Treasury and in accordance with the financial reporting 
manual (FReM). 

Page 110



CHAPTER 4 \ DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS  

Page 45

The accounts are audited by the  Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) for Northern 
Ireland. The C&AG is wholly independent of the government and is appointed by the Crown.  

The status, functions and main duties of the C&AG and the Northern Ireland Audit Office are 
set down in the following legislation: 

 � The Audit (Northern Ireland) Order 1987 

 � Northern Ireland Act 1998

 � Government Resources and Accounts Act (Northern Ireland) 2001 

 � The Audit and Accountability (Northern Ireland) Order 2003

 � The Local Government (Northern Ireland) Order 2005 

 � Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2006 

 � Local Government (Northern Ireland) Act 2014.

Scottish Government
The Scottish Government is required to produce its consolidated statement of accounts 
in accordance with Section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 
2000. The consolidated statement of accounts for the Scottish Government is prepared in 
accordance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the FReM for the 
relevant year. 

The consolidated statement of accounts also includes a performance report and an 
accountability report. 

The accounts are audited by the auditor general for Scotland. The auditor general 
is appointed by the Crown, on the recommendation of the Scottish Parliament. This 
independent post was created under the Scotland Act 1998, prior to devolution in 2000, to 
help ensure that public money is spent properly, efficiently and effectively.

The auditor general will also prepare an audit report for the public audit and Post-Legislative 
Scrutiny Committee made under Section 22 of the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000. 

Welsh Government 
The Welsh Government produces consolidated accounts in accordance with the HM Treasury 
directions issued under the Government of Wales Act 2006 and the FReM. This includes the 
reporting requirements for an annual report.

The accounts are audited by the auditor general for Wales. The auditor general is appointed 
by the Crown. The independent post of the office of auditor general for Wales was created in 
2005 and the post can be held by an individual for a maximum of eight years. 

Further information is provided in CIPFA’s An Introductory Guide to Financial Reporting.

Page 111

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/1987/460/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/47/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nia/2001/6/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/2003/418/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/2005/1968/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisr/2006/89/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/nia/2014/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/46/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/32/contents


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 46

SUMMARY
The funding of the devolved governments is largely through the block grant and yearly 
adjustments made according to the Barnett formula. Increasingly, income raising powers 
(taxes) are being devolved from the UK government to the devolved governments, depending 
on the different agreements with Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

The same process for government spending control through the budgeting and estimates 
procedure and by and large financial reporting applies. Each jurisdiction has its own 
independent auditor general appointed by the Crown who provides their opinion on the 
financial accounts. 

FURTHER READING 
 � CIPFA’s An Introductory Guide to Financial Reporting (2018)

 � Scrutiny Unit Guidance on the Barnett Formula

 � HM Treasury Statement of Funding Policy

Page 112



Page 47

CHAPTER 5

 Top areas to examine in local 
government accounts 

Local authorities must prepare their financial statements in accordance with the rules set 
out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom (the Code). The Code is updated annually to take account of any changes to 
accounting standards. This update process is conducted with reference to the changes in the 
central government FReM which is agreed with the independent FRAB. This is to ensure that 
the financial statements are prepared on the same basis and accounting standards are all 
interpreted and applied the same way (for example where there is a choice in the standard). 
This is essential to complete the WGA consolidation. 

There have been considerable concerns raised recently about the financial sustainability of 
some local government bodies. The following was highlighted in the 2018 NAO report on the 
Financial Sustainability of Local Authorities (March 2018):

 � 49.1% reduction in government funding for local authorities between 2010/11–2017/18

 � 28.6% reduction in real terms spending power (government funding and council tax) 
between 2010/11–2017/18

 � Northamptonshire County Council was the first local authority to issue a Section 
114 notice – this is equivalent of a vote breach for local government, where the local 
authority is unable to prepare a balanced budget (as it is required to under the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988) and is formally announcing that it is at risk of spending 
more than the resources it has available.  

Since the NAO report was issued, Northamptonshire County Council has issued an 
unprecedented second Section 114 notice for the 2018/19 financial year. Other local 
authorities have indicated the same, such as Sussex County Council (July 2018), proposing 
to prioritise core services focused on people in ‘most urgent need’ due to rising budget 
pressures. 

Ten questions to ask when reviewing a set of local government accounts: 

1. Have the financial statements been qualified by the auditors?

2. What are the changes in assets?

3. What are the changes in liabilities?

4. What are the changes in income?

5. What are the changes in expenditure?

6. What is the movement in reserves? What is the trend information? What is the 
movement in usable reserves?

Page 113

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/contents


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 48

7. What is the level of provisions? Have there been any increases? Are there full 
explanations as to the reasons why? 

8. What is the level of contingent liabilities? In particular, non-remote contingent 
liabilities? 

9. What is the auditor’s opinion on the value for money audit?

10. Have other reports of financial distress been made?

Audit qualification
As with any set of financial statements, whether in the public or the private sector, if the 
auditors have qualified the accounts this is a major concern and one of the first areas to be 
examined. 

There are different types of non-standard opinions issued, ranging from qualified except for 
opinion, to a disclaimed audit opinion – which is the worse-case scenario. 

Figure 5.1: Audit opinions

Type of audit opinion Description

Unqualified The financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the identified financial reporting 
framework.

Non-standard opinions: 

Qualified ‘except for’ 
opinion – limitation of 
scope

The financial statements give a true and fair view, except for the effect 
of a matter where the auditor was unable to obtain sufficient evidence. 
For example, the auditor considers the accounting records for a material 
transaction or balance in the accounts to be inadequate.

Qualified ‘except for’ 
opinion – disagreement

The financial statements give a true and fair view, except for the effect of 
a matter where there was a material disagreement between the auditor 
and audited body about how the matter was treated in the financial 
statements.

Adverse opinion There was a disagreement that was so material, or pervasive, the 
financial statements as a whole were misleading or incomplete.

Disclaimer of opinion The auditor was not able to express an opinion, because they could not 
obtain evidence to such an extent that the financial statements as a 
whole could be misleading or incomplete.

Source: Public Sector Audit Appointments (December 2017) 

Each year the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd compiles a summary report on the 
results of auditors’ work for local government bodies. This provides a good overview on 
the quality, timeliness, completeness and accuracy of local government bodies’ financial 
statements. 

As at December 2017, no local authorities received an unqualified audit report for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2017. At the time of writing it is still too early to assess 
what the picture will be for 2017/18 local authority accounts as these are the first since the 

Page 114

https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/


CHAPTER 5 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS  

Page 49

deadline for completing audited statement of accounts has been brought forward from 30 
September to 31 July. This earlier closing of the accounts will support earlier availability of 
the financial statements for the users of the accounts and the timely completion of the whole 
of government accounts consolidation.  

What is the change in assets? 
Another measure of financial health of the authority is the number of debtors. If these 
are increasing, they may mask an underlying issue such as council taxpayers’ arrears and 
possible financial difficulties. If these are not managed effectively, they may result in non-
payment.  

What is the change in liabilities? 
The government changed rules following the financial crisis to ensure public sector entities 
paid all bills on a timely basis with the aim of reducing hardship on smaller and medium 
sized entities. Is this trend reversing? If current liabilities are increasing this may indicate 
financial pressures. 

The same is true for long-term liabilities. Although local government bodies must adhere to 
strict borrowing rules, any marked increases in long-term liabilities would warrant further 
investigation.

What is the change in revenue? 
Local government bodies receive income from a combination of:

 � central government through the block grant, although this has almost halved between 
2010/11 and 2017/18  

 � council tax, although the annual increase is limited by the MHCLG – the increase was 
limited to 2% (without the need for a referendum), but in 2016/17, an additional 2% 
increase was allowed to cover social care costs (this was raised to 3% (up to a maximum 
of 6% increase overall) from 2017/18–2019/20)

 � income from fees and charges, ranging from planning permission applications to car 
park charges. 

Local government bodies must prepare a balanced budget, balancing income to increasing 
demand for local public services, some of which a local authority has a statutory obligation 
to provide such as core services (adult social care, children’s services, schools etc). Failure 
to achieve a balanced budget should automatically give rise to a Section 114 notice being 
raised. 

Unlike central government bodies, local government bodies cannot retrospectively claim 
funds from the Treasury for any overspends and must manage their resources in house. In 
this regard, they are more like commercial entities, although in the UK we have not seen a 
situation like Detroit, Michigan, USA where the municipal government was declared bankrupt. 

Trend information on income is a good indicator to the financial health and sustainability of 
the local government body. 

Page 115



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 50

What is the change in expenditure? 
Although all analyses indicate that front line service delivery has not been impacted too 
drastically, other measures can be seen as a potential indicator of worsening financial health. 
These include reduction in the road maintenance budgets that can be seen in the increasing 
number of potholes in the local roads, or changes to the local refuse collection from weekly to 
fortnightly (although some may argue this is more efficient hence delivers savings for local 
authorities).

What is the Movement in Reserves Statement? 
The Movement in Reserves Statement is an important statement that the user of the financial 
statements should prioritise as part of the review. 

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the income and expenditure 
on the authority’s services in the year in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the Code. However, the amount chargeable to council tax and an 
authority’s general fund is limited by statutory requirements and requires a number of 
adjustments. These movements are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The 
statutory adjustments largely relate to arrangements for funding local authority capital 
expenditure or the timing with which some items are charged to council tax. The reserves 
of the authority represent its net worth; the usable reserves show the resources currently 
available to spend on services.

Reserves are broken down into:

 � usable reserves which can be either:

 – ear-marked reserves (for a specific project, such as a new library centre – although 
the council can agree not to use funds for the specific project at a future date and 
move the funds into) 

 – general reserves

 � unusable reserves (such as revaluation reserves and the capital adjustment account). 

Trend information as to what is happening to usable reserves, such as:

 � Are these decreasing?

 � Are earmarked reserves being maintained or are the funds associated with specific 
projects being cancelled and moved into general reserves?

 � Is there an explanation as to why general reserves are reducing? Are these to fund core 
activities? 

In Figure 5.2 which summarises analysis from the NAO review of local authorities, it is clear to 
see the scale of the financial challenge.

Page 116

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/


CHAPTER 5 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS  

Page 51

Figure 5.2: Social care overspends and use of total reserves: single-tier 
and county councils in England, 2011/12–2016/17

47.4 44.1
34.9

19.7
9.9 10.6

6.6 7.2

7.2

8.6
11.8 9.3

30.9 37.5
40.8

46.1

40.8

23.2

15.1 11.2 17.1
25.7

37.5

57

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2011-12              2012-13             2013-14              2014-15              2015-16               2016-17

No social care overspend – did not use reserves No social care overspend – used reserves

Social care overspend – did not use reserves Social care overspend – used reserves

Source: The NAO report: Financial Stability of Local Authorities 2018

Over half of single-tier and county councils in England are using reserves combined with 
social care overspend. This would strongly suggest there are concerns over the financial 
sustainability of the local authority.

Provisions
The level of and any changes to the level of provisions is a key area to explore when looking at 
the annual accounts.

Have there been any new provisions or significant movements in provisions in the 
year? If yes, have the reasons for making these provisions been set out in the financial 
statements or any material movements been explained? 

Contingent liabilities
Linked to provisions, it is worth assessing what is happening to the level of non-remote 
contingent liabilities in particular. Any marked increases could indicate future restrictions 
on funds available if these crystallise. Examples include litigation for pothole damage to 
vehicles. 

What is the auditor’s opinion on the value for money audit?
In addition to the audit of the financial statements, auditors will also complete a value for 
money assessment. Before the change to the current audit framework, the Audit Commission 
used to complete audits of the local government bodies’ financial statements, as well as 
completng value for money audits. Page 117

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-2018/


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 52

These reports are very insightful and delve deeper into the operation of the entity, the risk 
environment, whether previous reports have been acted upon etc. For example, the 2018 
KPMG interim value for money report on Northamptonshire County Council, Illustrative 
Disclosures: Guide to Condensed Interim Financial Statements, found the following:

 � In respect of both 2015/16 and 2016/17, KPMG concluded that the authority did not 
have adequate arrangements in place and issued adverse value for money arrangements 
conclusions. 

 � The issue of a further Section 114 notice does not bode well for the audit opinion in 
2018/19. 

 � The first risk identified is financial resilience.

Seven further risks were identified in the value for money report:

1. capital strategy

2. cost savings plans

3. transformational plans and capital flexibilities

4. risk management

5. off-payroll working through an intermediary (IR35)

6. chief executive payment

7. financial peer review and action plans.

Northamptonshire is an extreme and unfortunate example where many warning signs would 
have alerted individuals to the severe challenges, financial and otherwise. The review of 
KPMG’s value for money report should be an integral part of the review to assess the financial 
health and should offer other insights to the risk management framework and any other 
concerns raided by the external auditors, as they are required to under the ISA260 reporting 
requirements. 

Does the information in the financial statements correlate with other 
reports and information available? 
The financial statements for local government bodies are different to central government. 
Although the main statements are the same, the different funding and local accountability 
requirements determine the different reporting requirements. The areas to question are 
largely the same as for central government bodies, but there are some differences and the 
value for money report in particular provides many insights on potential issues.

FURTHER READING
 � Financial Sustainability of Local Authorities, NAO, 2018

 � CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom

Page 118

https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2018/03/2018-interim-ifs.pdf
https://home.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2018/03/2018-interim-ifs.pdf


Page 53

CHAPTER 6

 Top areas to examine in health

No other public service is as revered by the UK citizen as the NHS. The former chancellor Nigel 
Lawson famously said: “The NHS is the closest thing the English people have to a religion”. 

Almost one in every £5 of government spending (18%) is consumed by the NHS. This is 
second only to the total spend on state pensions (20%). It is the biggest employer in the UK, 
employing over 1.2m people and ranks in the top ten employers globally. 

The NHS is comprised of many organisations with different accountabilities, as illustrated in 
Figure 6.1. 

Page 119



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 54

Figure 6.1: Flow of funding in the health and care system, 2016/17 
(budgeted position) 

Fu
nd

s 
vo

te
d 

by
 P

ar
lia

m
en

t*

£22.2bn

N
HS

 E
ng

la
nd

£1
05

.9
bn

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

ie
s

Pu
bl

ic
 h

ea
lth

Pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

N
HS

 E
ng

la
nd

 
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n
Di

re
ct

 
co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g

 £29.2bn

N
H

S 
an

d 
ot

he
r P

ro
vi

de
rs

ie
 fo

un
da

tio
n 

tr
us

ts
, N

HS
 tr

us
ts

Cl
in

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

Gr
ou

ps

Ot
he

r a
rm

’s
 

le
ng

th
 b

od
ie

s
He

al
th

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
En

gl
an

d
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

lth
 

En
gl

an
d

£7
6.

6b
n

£6.2bn

£1
.4

bn

£1
5.

4b
n

£2.8bn

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f H
ea

lt
h 

an
d 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

Re
ve

nu
e 

DE
L 

£1
17

.6
bn

Ca
pi

ta
l D

EL
 £

4.
6b

n
Of

 w
hi

ch
 D

H 
an

d 
sy

st
em

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

£3
bn

* This includes National Insurance contribution funding not voted by Parliament. Note: Budget figures 
above may not reconcile directly with financial outturn in the Statement of Parliamentary Supply.

Source: Department of Health Accounts 2016/17

The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) consolidates all the NHS bodies in England and 
provide an overall picture of the finances. Therefore, the departmental annual report and accounts 
are a good starting point to get an overview of flow of the funding in the health and care system. 

Page 120



CHAPTER 6 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN HEALTH 

Page 55

Figure 6.2: Flow of funding in the health and care system, 2017/18 
(budgeted provision)

Fu
nd

s 
vo

te
d 

by
 P

ar
lia

m
en

t*

N
HS

 E
ng

la
nd

Lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

ie
s

Pu
bl

ic
 h

ea
lth

Pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

N
HS

 E
ng

la
nd

 
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n
Di

re
ct

 
co

m
m

is
si

on
in

g

N
H

S 
an

d 
ot

he
r P

ro
vi

de
rs

ie
 F

ou
nd

at
io

n 
tr

us
ts

, N
HS

 tr
us

ts
 

Cl
in

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g

Gr
ou

ps

Ot
he

r A
rm

’s
 

Le
ng

th
 B

od
ie

s
He

al
th

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
En

gl
an

d
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

lth
 

En
gl

an
d

M
in

is
tr

y 
of

 H
ou

si
ng

,  
Co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 L

oc
al

 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t

£126.9bn

£1
10

.0
bn

 £8.1bn

£8
1.

3b
n

£63.2bn

£3
.1

bn
 P

ub
lic

 
H

ea
lt

h 
Gr

an
t

£2
0.

5b
n

£2.7bn

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lt

h 
Se

rv
ic

es

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f H
ea

lt
h 

an
d 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

Re
ve

nu
e 

DE
L 

£1
21

.3
bn

Ca
pi

ta
l D

EL
 £

5.
6b

n
Of

 w
hi

ch
 D

H 
an

d 
sy

st
em

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

2.
9b

n

* This includes funding from National Insurance contribution that are not included in the 
parliamentary vote on DHSC budget. The funding is received directly from HMRC via National 
Insurance Fund which is provided for in legislation. Dashed line indicates boundary of consolidation 
for DHSC and shows local authority funding to health.

Source: DHSC Accounts 2017/18

Page 121



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 56

Figure 6.2 demonstrates how complex the health and social care delivery landscape is and the 
sheer number of different organisations involved. Each of the organisations will have its own 
accountabilities and be required to prepare annual accounts. 

To assess how the department has performed over the reporting year, the same questions and 
areas as suggested in Chapter 3 are applicable here as the information is presented in the 
same way (as required by the Treasury guidance) . 

In particular, the user of the financial statements should ask the following questions: 

 � Have the financial statements been qualified by the auditors?

Any qualification would automatically point to a problem. Linked to this is the C&AG 
report as there may be additional comments or concerns that do not warrant a 
qualification but may indicate other issues. 

 � What are the changes in assets?

In the 2017/18 accounts, non-current assets (long-term assets such as property, plant 
and equipment, investment properties etc) all increased from the previous year, rising 
from £53bn to £56bn. 

 � What are the changes in liabilities?

In the 2017/18 accounts, both current liabilities (less than one year) and non-current 
(more than one year) have increased, especially the latter (from £77.5bn to £89.8bn). 
This major increase in one year would merit further investigation. The major component 
driving the increase is provisions – see below for more.

 � What are the changes in trend income? 

Trend information on the level of income is a good indicator whether there are potential 
financial issues. For example, if the department is collecting more income to supplement 
higher expenditure this shows pressures in the system. This information should be 
considered with other publicly available information, such as hospital trusts increasingly 
relying on car parking income and subletting areas to major retail chains or coffee 
chains within the hospital complex. 

 � What are the changes in expenditure?

In the 2017/18 SoPS, the underspend on voted resource spend was only £692m (which 
is 0.7% of total allocation). This indicates good financial management to ensure that 
the budget was not exceeded as this would have resulted in an excess vote qualification. 
However, this highlights the pressures on the departmental budget as the margins 
between under and overspend are so tight. 

 � What has happened to the level and type of provisions? 

As highlighted by the change in liabilities analysis (from an assessment of the balance 
sheet, also referred to as the statement of financial position), there has been a significant 
increase in provisions. 

Any increase in provisions is not good for the financial outlook of the organisation as 
it means that due to a past event the department is effectively required to put some 
money aside (‘provide’) to be able to cover the future liability. This will commit future 
funds. While this is not good news, it is always better to know so that remedial action Page 122



CHAPTER 6 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN HEALTH 

Page 57

can be taken and the situation be effectively managed. This was one of the main reasons 
why commercial style accounts were implemented in central government (the last part 
of government to do so). 

Further breakdown on provision information is provided in the notes to the accounts. In 
the DHSC’s Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18, Note 16 states that a further £1.4bn 
was added to the amount that needed to be provided for (in 2016/17 it was £924m). Over 
£1bn of the provision was used in year (if the amount transferred to accrual is added), 
and there was a change in the discount rate that applies to clinical negligence claims. 
The impact of the change in the discount rate is explained further in the WGA section. 

 � What has happened to the level of contingent liabilities – in particular clinical 
negligence claims?

Contingent liabilities are important to monitor as these may crystallise (may have to 
make future payments to satisfy a liability – such as clinical negligence claim) and so 
put pressure on budgets. In the DHSC’s Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18, Note 17 
provides information on contingent liabilities. 

During the reporting period, the total clinical negligence claims which make up the 
majority of the contingent liabilities were £46,119.2m (2016/17: £35,254.9m). This is a 
significant one-year increase and an area to keep a close eye on. 

LOCAL NHS TRUSTS
Individual trusts are required under Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4) (a) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 to provide a performance report. The performance report for a NHS trust 
should include the following: an overview, clinical performance, financial performance, 
sustainability and environmental. 

The performance review is similar to that required from central government bodies. The 
presentation of these can vary across the different organisations. Some trusts opt for more 
narrative information while others provide many charts with little narrative to accompany 
the data, and a whole range in between. The quality and user-friendliness is quite varied as a 
result. Typically, an NHS Trust will include the following information:

 � accountability section

 � staff

 � structure

 � director report

 � remuneration report

 � oversight

 � statement of accounting officer responsibilities

 � quality report

 � annual accounts. 

Page 123

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 58

Many of the questions asked in the department’s annual report and accounts should be 
examined here to highlight any specific issues locally. In addition, the reader should also 
question the following:

 � Going concern assessment – do the auditors support the view that the trust is financially 
viable? There are several trusts that are now in financial distress requiring support from 
the department. According to King’s Fund analysis, 44% of trusts still overspent their 
budgets in 2017/18, with acute hospitals accounting for just under 90% of all providers 
in deficit. This was despite the additional funding for the NHS in the form of a £1.8bn 
annual Sustainability and Transformation Fund. The NHS provider sector as a whole 
ended 2017/18 with a deficit of £960m.

 � Spend on consultancy – what is the trend for spend on consultancy and agency spend 
and what is it as a percentage of total spend on NHS staff and how does this compare 
to the vacancy rate?  These are all important indicators to the productivity and 
performance of the hospital trust, both financial and clinical. 

 � Summary financial table – individual trusts will usually include a summary financial 
table. For example, the Blackpool NHS teaching hospital trust accounts for 2016/17 are 
examined in Figure 6.3. 

Figure 6.3: Comparison of the 2016/17 actual performance to the 
2016/17 plan

Plan £m Actuals £m Variance £m

Total Income 399.7 410.7 11.0

Expenses (387.8) (397.4) (9.6)

EBITDA* 11.9 13.3 1.4

Depreciation (7.4) (6.0) 1.4

Dividend** (3.4) (2.8) 0.6

Loss of Revaluation 0.0 (8.0) (8.0)

Interest income (1.1) (1.2) (0.1)

Deficit (0.0) (4.7) (4.7)

* Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and loss on asset disposal and amortisation.

** Public Dividend Capital

Source: Blackpool NHS Teaching Hospitals Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Are there clear explanations for the variances? Does the trust know why there was an issue? 
What was the positon compared to last year?

Blackpool also provided a surplus/deficit performance trend analysis for the last five years 
which is very insightful, with information provided in Figure 6.4.

Page 124

https://www.bfwh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/BTH496-Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2016-17-v2.6-eProof.pdf


CHAPTER 6 \ TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN HEALTH 

Page 59

Figure 6.4: Surplus/deficit performance trend analysis 2012/13–
2016/17

3.2

-12.4

-7.5

-17

-4.7

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

2012/13                   2013/14                     2014/15                   2015/16                   2016/17

Surplus or deficit – trend analysis £m

Source: NHS Blackpool Teaching Hospitals Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

This is not a long-term financially sustainable position. One year data is useful but trend 
analysis can provide more insight and add value. 

Another area to check is whether planned savings have been achieved as this can provide 
confidence in the likelihood of further efficiency targets being achieved. 

Many of the trusts are required to achieve efficiency targets. It is worth assessing whether 
these have been achieved and the likelihood of further efficiencies continuing to be achieved. 

SUMMARY
The health sector is complex and diverse. In England alone there are: 

 � 207 clinical commissioning groups

 � 135 acute non-specialist trusts (including 84 foundation trusts)

 � 17 acute specialist trusts (including 16 foundation trusts)

 � 54 mental health trusts (including 42 foundation trusts) 

 � 35 community providers (11 NHS trusts, six foundation trusts, 17 social enterprises and 
one limited company)

 � ten ambulance trusts (including five foundation trusts)

 � 7,454 GP practices

 � 853 for-profit and not-for-profit independent sector organisations, providing care to NHS 
patients from 7,331 locations.

Source: NHS Confederation Analysis (July 2017)

Page 125



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 60

There are different accountabilities and each organisation will prepare their own accounts. 
These provide a great source of information and insight at the national level and at the local 
level.  

FURTHER READING
 � Department for Health and Social Care Annual Report and Accounts

 � NHS Further Explained: for Local Government and Beyond (CIPFA, 2017)

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dhsc-annual-report-and-accounts-2017-to-2018
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/n/nhs-finance-explained-for-local-government-and-beyond-online


Page 61

CHAPTER 7

Whole of Government Accounts 
(WGA)

The Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) is the most comprehensive set of government 
consolidated accounts in the world. It brings together the audited financial statements for 
over 7,000 government bodies. The first WGA was published in 2009/10 providing, for the 
first time, a whole of public sector view of government income (ie taxes and other sources), 
expenditure, assets and liabilities. It has now been published for a number of years, providing 
trend information that gives invaluable information and insight. 

This section provides an overview of the WGA, where it fits with other government financial 
reporting frameworks and highlights key areas to explore further to deliver scrutiny to public 
finances.  

WHAT IS THE WGA?
The Treasury sets out what is to be included in the accounts in the GRAA 2000: 

9. (1) The Treasury shall prepare in respect of each financial year a set of accounts for a group 
of bodies each of which appears to the Treasury— 

(a) to exercise functions of a public nature, or 

(b) to be entirely or substantially funded from public money.

The government entities that are included in the WGA are the same as in the national accounts. 
The national accounts are based on statistical framework, based on the European System of 
Accounts (ESA 2010), which in turn is based on the UN System of National Accounts (SNA 2008). 
In the UK, these are prepared and published by the ONS in the Blue Book. 

The first Blue Book was published in 1952 and presents a full set of economic accounts 
(national accounts) for the UK.

Source: ONS: An Introduction to the UK National Accounts

The national accounts record and describe economic activity in the UK covering all sectors 
including the general government sector.

The national accounts are economic accounts based on a statistical framework and the WGA 
is based on international accounting standards. The WGA is complementary to the national 
accounts, but it does not conform to the accounting standards’ definition of entities that 
should be consolidated. This is one of the reasons why the WGA is qualified by the C&AG. 

The extract (Figure 7.1) from the WGA 2016/17 highlights the additional information available 
from the WGA compared to the national accounts. 

Page 127

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/compendium/unitedkingdomnationalaccountsthebluebook/2017/anintroductiontotheuknationalaccounts


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 62

Figure 7.1: Difference between the information provided by the national 
accounts and the WGA

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Liquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Illiquid Financial 
Assets

Non Financial 
Assets

Non Financial 
Assets

Government 
Borrowing 

Public Sector 
pensions

Provisions

PFI contracts

Government 
Borrowing 

Government 
Borrowing 

Government 
Borrowing 

Assets

Liabilities

National Accounts Measures WGA

Public sector 
net debt

Public sector 
net financial 

liabilities

Public sector 
net worth

Source: WGA 2016/17

Annex A to the WGA includes detailed analysis as to the different treatment under the two 
different bases. Figure 7.2 illustrates the difference between the two measures.

Figure 7.2: Annex A to the WGA 

National Accounts 2015/16 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14

£/Bn £/Bn £/Bn £/Bn

Public Sector Net Debt (National Accounts) 1727 1606 1554 1458 

Add liabilities not recognised in National 
Accounts: 2190 1764 1701 1491 

Adjust assets measured differently in 
national accounts -100 -42 -64 -91 

Add assets and liabilities excluded from 
measure of PSND: -1311 -1245 -1219 -919 

Deduct liabilities not yet recognised in WGA -70 -64 -60 -56 

Other adjustments including eliminations -15 -31 -39 -43 

Net liabilities (WGA) 2421 1988 1873 1840 

Source: WGA 2016/17

Page 128



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 63

The WGA measure for net liabilities is considerably higher (almost £700bn) than the national 
accounts measure for public sector net debt, although the amount government owes has 
been increasing under both measures. 

Trend data 
The first WGA was published for the financial year ending 2009/10 providing several years of 
trend data. The WGA includes several charts and provides explanations to identify what has 
changed and why. For example, the comparison of public sector net debt and net liabilities 
in Figure 7.3 shows that the values have been in a similar range but there was a marked 
difference in 2016/17, largely due to pension liabilities.

Figure 7.3: National accounts public sector net debt (PSND) and WGA 
net liabilities

2013/14                            2014/15                            2015/16                            2016/17

1,458 
1,554  1,606 

1,727 

1,840  1,873 
1,988 

2,421 

 0

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

Public Sector Net Debt (National Accounts) Net liabilities (WGA)

Source: WGA 2016/17 

In addition, for the first time, the 2016/17 WGA includes a breakdown of public sector 
expenditure, including a functional analysis and prior year comparators.

Page 129



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 64

Figure 7.4: Public sector expenditure breakdown - functional analysis

37%

20%

12%

5%

4%

4%

2%

2%
2%

2%
3%

6% 1%

Social protection

Health

Education

Defence

Public order and safety

Transport

Other economic affairs

Environment protection

Housing and community amenities

Recreation, culture and religion

General public services

Debt interest

Source: WGA 2016/17

As shown in Figure 7.4, it gives a country and a regional analysis of public sector expenditure 
(also including trend data for prior years). This provides a wealth of data that can be used to 
inform future decision making.  

What is included? 
The WGA is like any financial statement prepared by any central government department and 
largely includes similar information.

The 2016/17 WGA (latest available) includes information on:

 � overview and performance analysis

 � statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities

 � governance statement

 � remuneration and staff report

 � financial statements

 – statement of revenue and expenditure

 – statement of comprehensive income and expenditure

 – statement of financial position

 – statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity

 – statement of cash flows

 – notes to the accounts

 � certificate and report of the C&AG

 � annex: comparison to the national accounts. 
Page 130



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 65

Each of these areas will be examined, focusing on the specific areas for the reader to consider:

 � overview and performance analysis – not quite the same as the individual performance 
sections of the underlying bodies included in the WGA, this section provides a summary 
of performance and an explanation on trend information 

 � income – the UK government income is comprised mainly of tax revenue and other 
income that includes sales of goods and services (35%), fees levies and charges (13%), 
rental income (11%) and interest income (10%) and other income.

Figure 7.5: Total government income 

524

556

567

593

628

98

109

93

101

93

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

Tax revenue Other revenue

Source: WGA 2016/17

There is a clear upward trend in tax revenue collected by government, rising from £524bn in 
2012/13 to £628bn in 2016/17, and other revenue has remained largely similar over the five 
years’ trend data (ranging from £93bn in 2014/15 at the lowest and £109bn in 2013/14 at the 
highest). 

Tax income is further analysed according to the individual tax regimes and the tax gap (which 
is the difference between the amount of tax collected and that which could have theoretically 
been collected by HMRC). In 2015/16, the tax gap was 6% and is stated as being one of the 
lowest globally.

Expenditure
Similar to the information on government income there is a comprehensive breakdown on 
government expenditure in Figure 7.6. 

Page 131



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 66

Figure 7.6: Government spending on providing services and running costs

Government spending on providing services and running 
costs

2016/17 2015/16

  £bn £bn

Social security 223.7 222.5

Staff costs 191.1 193.3

Purchase of goods and services 194.8 192.1

Other operating expenditure 100.7 96.8

Interest costs of govt borrowing 31.8 28.3

Increase in provisions 18.6 9.3

Total 760.7 742.3

The main area of spending was social security benefits, followed by staff costs and purchases 
of goods and services (making up over four-fifths of total government spending). 

There is further detail as to what is included in each section. For example, the spending 
on social security benefits comprises of the state pension (44% of the total), working age, 
disability, housing and other. Taken in isolation, it is informative but the impact of wider 
socioeconomic and government policy factors can be better seen in the trend information.  

Assets
The major component of the government’s total assets is property, plant and equipment 
(£1,168bn of the total £1,903 bn or 61% in 2016/17). Of the total government assets, more 
than half are infrastructure assets and land and buildings.

Figure 7.7: Land and buildings 

43

44

46

44

32

32

58

56

241

229

0%         10%         20%         30%         40%         50%         60%         70%         80%         90%         100%

2016/17

2015/16

Land and Buildings

Dept of Health Dept for Education Ministry of Defence

Other central government depts Local government

Source: WGA 2016/17
Page 132



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 67

Infrastructure assets include Network Rail (which represents half of the total) and highways 
assets, ie motorways and local road network and others. 

The value of highway assets is understated as local government values the road network 
differently to central government. Local government includes highway assets at historic cost 
– what it cost to build at the time, whereas central government (Department for Transport) 
values the road network at depreciated replacement cost – what it would cost today to 
replace the road at the current time and road condition. Both of these are allowable under 
the accounting standards. In a consolidated set of accounts the accounting bases should be 
the same. It is for this reason that the WGA has one of the long running audit qualifications. 
CIPFA/LASAAC, as the accounting standard setter for local government, have been working 
closely with the Treasury and local authorities to move to the depreciated replacement cost 
basis of valuing the road network. 

Liabilities
Government liabilities comprise of public sector pension schemes (42%), government 
borrowing (30%), other financial liabilities (16%), provisions (7%) and trade and other 
payables (4%). 

Government liabilities have increased considerably since the publication of the first WGA for 
the year 2009/10 in November 2011.

Figure 7.8: Government liabilities 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

2,000

Public sector
pensions

Government
borrowing

Other financial
liabilities

Provisions
payables

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14

Trade & other

Source: WGA 2016/17

Page 133



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 68

Over the last four years, while the overall trend has been upwards in all categories, the largest 
increase is in public sector pension liabilities (although there was a decrease in 2015/16). 

While the media coverage for the WGA is limited, one area that often causes commentary is 
the size of the public sector pension liability.  

The public sector pension liability is the total pension payable for public sector employees in 
the armed forces, civil service, teachers and the NHS. This includes all public sector workers, 
from those who fully retired to those who have recently started working in the public sector. 
Note that the local government pension scheme is funded by local government employees. 

Increasing life expectancy will add further liabilities to the pension liability. According to the 
Office for National Statistics, the average life expectancy has risen to 79.2 years for males and 
82.9 years for females, though the rate of increase has slowed down. 

However, this does not provide the full explanation as to why the increase has been so 
dramatic. The pension liability is very sensitive to changes in the discount rate applied 
because the liability is paid many decades into the future, and it is difficult to accurately 
forecast what will happen to corporate yields, which in turn impacts the discount rate. An 
increase in the discount rate will lower the pension liability because future benefit payments 
are discounted by a higher amount.

The time series analysis of the change in the discount rate and how this will impact on the 
pension liability and other analysis is included for the reader to understand what is driving 
the changes. 

There has been a significant increase in the pension liability from 2015/16 to 2016/17 and 
a major component (£361bn) is due to the discount rate having fallen to 0.24% (a decrease 
from 1.37%). This relatively small fall in the discount rate had a huge impact on the 
estimated public sector pension liability.

The fall in 2015/16 public sector pension liability is explained in part by changes to the 
pension scheme – it is no longer final salary but based on career average salary, changing 
indexation arrangements from the higher retail price index (RPI) to consumer price index 
(CPI) and contributions made by public sector workers have increased.

Government borrowing
Government borrowing has been increasing (as can be seen in Figure 7.8) over the last few 
years. Borrowing increased dramatically in the aftermath of the financial crisis in 2008. Since 
2010 government policy has been to lower public spending; however, government income has 
been lower than expenditure. This shortfall has been funded through borrowing (referred to as 
the deficit). This has added to the total debt. 

Page 134



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 69

Figure 7.9: Total income and spending

622 665 660 694 721

-119 -84 -92 -48 -40

-741 -749 -752 -742 -761

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%
Percentage

Total Revenue Total Spending Shortfall

2012/13                   2013/14                     2014/15                   2015/16                   2016/17

Source: WGA 2016/17

Provisions
A provision is defined as a liability of uncertain timing or amount, where a liability is a 
present obligation as a result of past events and the settlement is expected to result in an 
outflow of resources (ie payment) (IAS 37 Provisions – Contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets). 

The main categories of provisions are nuclear decommissioning costs (over half of the total), 
clinical negligence, pension protection fund and others. 

Over the past few years there has been an increase in provisions, in part explained by 
changes in the discount rate (due to the long term nature of when the payments are likely 
to be made – for example the costs for Sellafield, which is the largest component of nuclear 
decommissioning costs, have been estimated up to 2127).

Contingent liabilities
Provisions should always be considered with what is happening to contingent liabilities. These 
are broken down into remote and non-remote. The reader should analyse what is happening 
to non-remote contingent liabilities as these are more likely to crystallise – ie there is a 
higher chance of the government having to pay money.  

Page 135

https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias37
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias37


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 70

Figure 7.10: Contingent liabilities

87.9

63.8

76.4

104.3

84

73.6

69.4

75.7

85.3

99.8

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

non-remote remote

Source: WGA 2016/17

Figure 7.10 plots the change in contingent liabilities broken down into remote and non-
remote over the last five years. The overall trend shows an increase in the number of 
contingent liabilities; the proportion between remote and non-remote has been changing.  
This is largely due to an increase in clinical negligence cases (non-remote contingent 
liabilities).

Public Finance Initiative
Another area of considerable debate over the last few years concerns the number of PFIs and 
its successor PF2 and whether these have delivered value for money. 

In the 2016/17 WGA, there is a detailed analysis on public finance commitment and what 
they are (ie a means of bringing in private sector investment into the public sector). Originally 
the accounting of PFIs meant that they were not recorded on the government’s balance sheet. 
However, with the move to accrual accounting, the asset was brought on to the balance sheet, 
as was the liability – the total cost to pay for the asset and the service charge (ie the cost of 
maintaining the asset). 

Page 136



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 71

Figure 7.11: PFI assets and liabilities 

37

39

42

39

36

37

39 39 39 39

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

Assets Liabilities

2012/13                   2013/14                     2014/15                   2015/16                   2016/17

Source: WGA 2016/17

Figure 7.12 shows the total PFI obligations analysed into the different sectors: central 
government and health, local government and public corporations (such as the BBC).

Figure 7.12: PFI split by sector  

45 45 44 44 46

35 36 36 34 33

2 2 2 2 1

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Percentage

Central government/NHS Local government Public corporations

2012/13                   2013/14                     2014/15                   2015/16                   2016/17

Source: WGA 2016/17

The debate will continue regarding whether the use of PFI and now PF2 has delivered value 
for money. For example, if the government had borrowed the money to invest in government 
buildings and other infrastructure, it could have done so at a cheaper rate than the private 

Page 137



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 72

sector. It is inevitable that the private sector companies would need to cover their costs as 
well as deliver a return on the investments they have made on behalf of their shareholders. 
Having access to the information on the value of assets, the corresponding liabilities, both in 
the short term and what the government is committed to long term, is very important to help 
assess the effectiveness of different government infrastructure financing options. 

THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities sets out the legislation (GRAA 2000), 
accounting standards (EU adopted IFRS, as adapted for public sector) and presents a true 
and fair view. The accounting standards should be applied consistently, make judgements 
and estimates, explain any material departures from the disclosures required and present the 
accounts as a going concern. 

In addition the WGA, the accounting officer is required to ensure there are processes 
and controls to collect the information. Individual departmental accounting officers are 
personally accountable and answerable for ensuring value for money for the funds allocated 
by Parliament, as set out in Treasury’s Managing Public Money guidance.

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The WGA governance statement is a little different from the individual government 
departments’ governance statements insofar as this statement is focused on the control and 
risk management framework developed to support the preparation of the WGA. 

The statement also includes information on:

 � the improvements made since the previous year

 � the use of the WGA

 � any significant governance issues in the underlying accounts and action taken to 
address these and in the consolidation exercise. 

REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT
This section provides a breakdown on the remuneration policies across the wider public sector 
and the total salaries paid, pensions and exit packages, among other analyses. The tables in 
this section have been independently checked by the auditors, who confirm that these are 
the same as those reported in the financial statements. 

The remuneration disclosures remain one of the most read sections, in some cases the only 
section of the accounts that is read by users. The same is true in the private sector as well as 
the public sector, perhaps more so in the latter as it is taxpayers’ money.  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The main financial statements, notes to the accounts and disclosures are required by the 
FReM.

Page 138



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 73

These provide an invaluable overview of what has happened over the year along with prior 
years’ information for comparison. 

The performance and overview section provides: 

 � more information/further investigation than the overview

 � where to look 

 � detailed disclosures and notes – which may highlight where to look in individual 
departmental accounts. 

CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR 
GENERAL

The C&AG certificate and report is an important component in the overall scrutiny of public 
finances. The independent review and testing of the processes, testing of the completeness 
and accuracy of the information provide assurance to the user of the WGA.

Since the publication of the first WGA for the year 2009/10 (November 2011), there have 
been several improvements in the presentation, timeliness, completeness and quality of 
the information in the WGA. However, challenges remain and there are still several audit 
qualifications remaining, as shown in Figure 7.13. 

Figure 7.13: WGA 2016/17 qualifications 

Reason for qualification Comments

Definition and the 
application of the 
accounting boundary

The Treasury defines the accounting boundary for the accounts by 
reference to those bodies classified as being in the public sector the 
ONS. The C&AG considers that it would be more appropriate to assess 
the accounting boundary with reference to the rules defined in the 
accounting standards.

Inconsistent application of 
accounting policies

The principal area refers to the difference in the measurement of 
road network by central government (on depreciated replacement 
cost for major trunk roads/motorways) and local government (which 
measures local roads on the historic cost basis). These are both 
allowable under the accounting standards but in a consolidated set 
of accounts the same accounting policies must be applied. 

Qualification of underlying 
statutory audits of bodies 
falling within the accounts 

There are two areas that are of significance in the WGA:

The Ministry of Defence – this relates to the lack of information in 
relation to the leases standard (IAS 17 Leases). 

The DfE– this relates to the lack of measurement of academy schools 
land and buildings.

This represents a marked improvement, as illustrated in Figure 7.14.

Page 139



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 74

Figure 7.14: Progress in the timeliness and quality of the WGA since first 
publication in 2009/10–2016/17 

WGA year of 
publication 

Date of 
publication 

Time taken Types of audit qualifications No of audit 
qualifications

WGA 
2009/10

Nov 2011 19 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations.

Six

WGA 
2010/11

Oct 2012 18 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations.

Six

WGA 
2011/12

July 2013 16 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations; schools 
assets valuations.

Six

WGA 
2012/13

June 2014 15 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence;  
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations

Six

WGA 
2013/14

Mar 2015 12 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations; schools 
assets valuations.

Six

WGA 
2014/15

May 2016 14 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation of 
scope; intragovernmental eliminations.

Six

WGA 
2015/16

July 2017 16 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; accounting for 3G licence; 
underlying accounts qualifications; limitation 
of scope; intragovernmental eliminations (for 
2014/15 impact the prior year comparisons).

Six

WGA 
2016/17 

June 2018 15 months Accounting boundary; inconsistent application 
of accounting policies; underlying accounts 
qualifications.

Three

Page 140



CHAPTER 7 \ WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA) 

Page 75

Timeliness
Figure 7.14 highlights the progress on the timeliness in preparing the WGA but progress has 
reversed from 2014/15 onwards. The aim is to publish the accounts within nine months of the 
year end (ie by December following the year end in March).

This aim is unlikely to be achieved until the processes to collect the academy sector accounts 
are improved. This point was re-emphasised in the C&AG’s report. 

The delay to the publication of the WGA diminishes its usefulness. Analysis and action to 
address issues arising (as seen in the trend analysis) is delayed, potentially making the 
situation worse in the short term. For example, if the level of contingent liabilities that are 
not remote are increasing, some of these may crystallise and government may have to pay 
out some money in the future. The earlier this trend is identified, the quicker any action to 
try to understand the reasons why and take remedial action to address it, such as a change in 
policy.  

Number of qualifications
The number of audit qualifications has improved and highlights the significant improvements 
made over the years. The C&AG’s report recognises the improvements and there is a 
dedicated section each year highlighting these. 

In 2016/17 the following improvements had been achieved: 

 � The WGA is the most complete and accurate picture of financial performance and 
position of the UK public sector.

 � The WGA is increasingly important to the ongoing management of public finances, 
including the use of the WGA by the OBR in its long-term fiscal sustainability report 
and the IMF’s evaluation of the UK government’s transparency and accountability. In 
the 2018 Spring Statement, the chancellor of the exchequer signalled a review of the 
government balance sheet. The Treasury has already been using the government WGA 
to assess contingent liabilities as part of the balance sheet review announced in Spring 
Statement 2018.

 � The Treasury has improved the presentation and provided better quality analysis.

Finally, the C&AG’s report highlights some high level recommendations to further improve the 
usefulness of the WGA to the reader. 

Limitations
There are limitations to the information in the WGA: the lack of detailed breakdown hinders 
further analysis. For example, total spend on ‘purchases of goods and services’ in 2016/17 was 
almost £200bn, or one-quarter of total government spend, but the only analysis is the split 
according to whether it is central government (£114bn), local government (£70bn) or public 
corporations (£8bn). In addition, the breakdown is provided from the ONS statistical estimated 
data and not from actual audited accounts information.  

More information as to what the limitations relate to could help generate meaningful 
insights on what goods and services are bought across government, so that cross-government 
procurement strategies could be developed potentially saving more or where there is Page 141



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 76

duplication. For instance, the 2010 Phillip Green Efficiency Review focused on procurement 
spending across central government. Better information from all parts of government would 
provide greater opportunity to take a holistic assessment of spending, providing opportunities 
to improve procurement and make savings.    

KEY QUESTIONS TO CONSIDER
The WGA is a huge document (almost 190 pages, although it has slimmed down from over 
250 pages when the first WGA was published). There is a lot of information which can seem 
overwhelming to the uninitiated. 

The key areas to look at as a starting point would be:

1. What is happening to assets/liabilities/income and expenditure? 

2. What is happening to the trends for all these areas? 

3. Is there is a significant change in any area? If so, is there a full explanation? 

4. Do the accounts fit with wider information?

5. What has the C&AG highlighted in their report?

6. What progress has been made to reduce/remove the audit qualifications?

7. What is the debt figure according to the National Accounts compared to the net liabilities 
in the WGA?

SUMMARY
The UK WGA is the most comprehensive set of government accounts globally as 
acknowledged by the C&AG and is intended to be the jewel in the crown to deliver greater 
transparency, accountability and scrutiny of public money. 

The wealth of information provides a high-level view and users can look into the detail of the 
individual government bodies’ accounts. Although there are still a number of challenges to 
overcome in terms of the audit qualifications that have yet to be addressed, the WGA has 
come a long way in a few short years. 

The greater challenge is to encourage greater use of the WGA so that it delivers its aim to 
provide scrutiny in public spending.  

  

Page 142

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/61014/sirphilipgreenreview.pdf


Page 77

CHAPTER 8

 Performance management in 
central government

Managing performance across central government departments and bodies is complex. It 
can be difficult in the public sector to directly link inputs (or government spend) to outputs 
and outcomes. For example, how does one directly measure the output from one additional 
teacher to the overall education results? This is even harder in the context of central 
government as they are largely the policy making arm and not the front line delivery vehicle 
for public services.

Within this context, where can the layperson find out what government is planning to do and 
how this fits into individual government departments’ plans? How do the plans compare to 
the actuals? Where should one look to find this information?

GOVERNMENT’S PLANNING AND PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK
The UK government planning and performance framework has developed and evolved over 
time to “meet the need for greater accountability and transparency” (extract from the 
Government’s Planning and Performance Framework guidance).

The government’s planning and performance framework includes the following processes:

 � SDPs set out a department’s objectives, how it will use its resources to achieve them and 
how its performance should be measured.

 � Spending reviews, the Budget and supply estimates determine and set out publicly a 
department’s funding and how it will allocate its budget.

 � The annual report and accounts present a department’s performance in a financial year, 
accountability and the outcomes it has achieved as a result of its spending and activity.

 � WGAs and the public expenditure statistical analysis set out public spending as a whole, 
giving a comprehensive picture of what the government receives, spends, owns and owes.

This section focuses on the first step in this process – the SDP. 

SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLANS (SDPS)
The government introduced SDPs in 2015 to improve the quality of planning across 
government. Before the introduction of SDPs departmental performance management and 
reporting was managed under departmental plans; these in turn replaced public service 
agreements (PSA) introduced in the Comprehensive Spending Review 1998. By 2007, 30 PSAs 
were established, setting out the highest priority outcomes for the spending review period 

Page 143

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-and-performance-framework/the-governments-planning-and-performance-framework#Single-Departmental-Plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/comprehensive-spending-review-1998


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 78

(2008/09–2010/11). Further information is provided in the 2000 Spending Review: Public 
Service Agreements July 2000 (CM 4808 July 2000.) 

Each PSA is underpinned by a single delivery agreement, shared across all contributing 
departments, and developed in consultation with delivery partners and frontline workers. 
This was designed to provide a holistic assessment of each core activity regardless of 
departmental boundaries.

SDPs set out:

 � the department’s objectives for the duration of the Parliament

 � who is responsible – lead minister (or secretary of state) and the ministerial team and 
the lead official (called the permanent secretary, who is also the accounting officer), 
and in a public sector organisation it is the person who Parliament calls to account for 
stewardship of its resource, as set out in Managing Public Money

 � how it will use its resources to achieve the objectives

 � how its performance can be measured

 � finances – split into total capital and resource budget and links to the estimates.  

SDPs are revised annually, in line with a department’s own internal planning, to reflect new or 
changes in priorities/responsibilities. 

For areas that involve more than one department, the SDPs show what each department is 
responsible for and where there is joint responsibility between departments. 

To manage day-to-day activities, departments have more detailed versions of the SDPs. These 
medium-term business plans are based on the department’s own planning process and are 
designed to be flexible to accommodate changes, set priorities and allocate resources to 
achieve its outputs and outcomes. 

The SDPs are agreed with the Cabinet Office and HM Treasury to ensure they reflect the 
whole of the government’s priorities and can be achieved within the finances allocated to the 
department. 

Departments will report how they have performed against the objectives in their SDP at the 
end of the financial year in their annual report and accounts.

The annual report and accounts is the primary source of information to assess departmental 
performance but there are various other sources. For example, one of the key deliverables for 
the Department for Transport (DfT) is to improve journeys, so a good measure is journey time 
statistics. 

One note of caution when different statistics are presented is that there is the potential 
for those statistics that present performance in the best light may be used. The reader 
needs to be discerning and look for trend information to provide an accurate assessment 
on performance and corroborate this with other sources of information. It is best to apply 
common sense and compare this information with what we know. In the case of transport’s 
performance, what has been reported in the media? What are the figures reported by the train 
operating companies? 

Page 144

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20121013052506/http:/archive.treasury.gov.uk/sr2000/psa/psa.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20121013052506/http:/archive.treasury.gov.uk/sr2000/psa/psa.pdf


CHAPTER 8  PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT 

Page 79

OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION
Performance data on government services is also provided. There are over 800 service and 
other dashboards. Users of the information should bear in mind what is reported and assess 
what other information would help provide better/different performance data. Better data 
will result in better insights and more informed decision making, hopefully leading to better 
outcomes.

PUBLIC VALUE
A recent Treasury report led by Sir Michael Barber proposes a new public value approach into 
how central government can ensure it is delivering maximum value for every pound spent on 
our hospitals, schools and other essential services.

It provides a practical, new approach to the understanding of public sector productivity and 
how it can be addressed in government. It aims to ensure that ongoing improvements in the 
delivery of public services become firmly embedded in daily working practice. 

Figure 8.1: Public value framework

Pursuing 
Goals

Outcomes

Total Funding

Managing 
Inputs

Engaging 
Users and 

Citizens

Develop 
System 
Capacity

Pillar 1

The Four Pillars of 
the Public Value 
Assessment 
Framework
Covers ‘16 areas 
to consider’ with 
criteria to enable 
judgements 
against a 4 point 
scale

The 
outcomes 
being seen 
from the 
policy or 
programme 

The Four 
Pillars of 
the Public 
Value 
Assessment 
Framework 
–how to 
use funding 
effectively
To deliver 
outcomes 
and 
maximise 
value to the 
taxpayer

The funding 
that has been 
provided for 
the policy or 
programme 

Red

Red/Amber

Green 

Amber/Green

Pillar 2 Pillar 3 Pillar 4

Source: Delivering Better Outcomes for Ctizens: Practical Steps for Unlocking Public Value led by Sir 
Michael Barber (November 2017)

Page 145

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/660408/PU2105_Delivering_better_outcomes_for_citizens_practical_steps_for_unlocking_public_value_web.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 80

SUMMARY
Increasing transparency and accountability is a key aim for the government and part of this 
is the introduction and evolution of the SDPs. The SDPs provide high level information on 
the core objectives for the department, who is responsible and finances agreed to deliver the 
priorities.

How departments have performed against these priorities is provided in the department’s 
annual report and accounts. However, this is not the only source of performance information 
as there are various sources of information depending on the departmental priority. 

FURTHER READING 
 � Delivering Better Outcomes for Citizens: Practical Steps for Unlocking Public Value

 � All central government department’s SDPs

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivering-better-outcomes-for-citizens-practical-steps-for-unlocking-public-value


Page 81

CHAPTER 9

Other sources of information 

The main focus of this publication has been on financial information that is publicly available 
to the reader, identifying where to look and the questions to ask. However, there are many 
other sources of information available to the interested individual. This chapter highlights the 
main sources of, largely, financial information, although this is not an exhaustive list. 

Sources included in this section are acknowledged as independent of political bias: the 
information is a factual presentation of the data available.

OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS (ONS)
The ONS is the UK’s largest independent “producer of official statistics and the recognised 
national statistical institute”.

The ONS’ main responsibilities are collecting, analysing and disseminating statistics about 
the UK’s economy, society and population. This covers both private and public sector data 
and comparisons between sectors. For example, the workforce statistics release covers private 
and public sector statistics and is further analysed between UK central and local government. 

All other government bodies rely on the data provided by the ONS, and it is subject to the 
statisticians’ code of ethics so that the information presented is factually accurate and not 
misinterpreted. 

As the UK’s official independent producer of statistical information, whether it is the monthly 
inflation figures, or productivity or economic growth, no one questions the numbers produced 
by the ONS. These can be subject to revisions but there are strict rules on how to do this and 
revisions are usually to reflect better information available later on.

Data published by the ONS is used nationally by the OBR, think tanks such as the Institute for 
Fiscal Studies and the Institute for Government, as well as media and internationally. 

DATA GOV UK WEBSITE
Under the Open Data White Paper: Unleashing the Potential (June 2012), the UK government 
made a commitment the under increasing transparency and building trust agenda to open 
data and make it public, allowing wider society access to data so it might be turned into 
insight and information. 

Initially some of the data published was not meaningful and informative to the general 
debate on where and how public money was being used. For example, as part of the 
transparency agenda in 2010, the requirement for all central and local government bodies to 
publish all items of spending over £500 (although some publish everything) and all contracts 
over £10,000 were made available. The Treasury provides guidance and set templates for 

Page 147

https://www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/code-of-practice/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/open-data-white-paper-unleashing-the-potential


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 82

what is to be disclosed and how it should be presented. This is part of the commitment to 
publishing many types of core transparency information, known collectively as the ‘central 
government corporate transparency commitments’. 

These include: 

 � central government contracts over £10,000

 � central government spending over £25,000

 � gender pay gap data

 � Government Major Projects Portfolio (GMPP) data

 � Government Major Projects Portfolio (GMPP) senior responsible owners

 � ministerial gifts, hospitality, travel and meetings

 � monthly payment card data over £500

 � non-consolidated performance related pay

 � prompt payment data

 � senior civil servants’ business appointment applications

 � senior officials’ business expenses, hospitality and meetings

 � special advisers’ gifts, hospitality and meetings

 � spend control data

 � workforce management information.

The GOV.UK website brings together data published by government departments and 
agencies, public bodies and local authorities. It is designed to be used to learn more about 
how government works, carry out research or build applications and services. The information 
is split into 12 different themes including business and economy, crime and justice, defence, 
education, government, government spending, transport and others. As at October 2018, 
there are over 40,000 published datasets available to all.

As well as providing more transparency by making public data public, the aim was to allow 
greater analysis (either inside government or externally).

Under this initiative, more data has been made available, but the value of this information is 
reduced. Without any supporting narrative and explanation as to what the spending was for 
and what benefit was achieved, the question as to how the spending impacts on the outputs 
and outcomes remains unanswered.

Government procurement card spending over £500 for each department is available from the 
GOV.UK website. This is available as an Excel file, a CSV file and in other formats which can 
be requested. This is designed to allow further analysis of the data (as required by Treasury 
guidance to promote consistency across government departments). 

INSTITUTE FOR GOVERNMENT (IfG)
The Institute for Government  (IfG) is a leading independent think tank “working to make 
government more effective” by providing rigorous research and analysis on the effectiveness 
of government. 

Page 148

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#central-government-contracts-over-%C2%A310,000
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#central-government-spending-over-%C2%A325,000
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#gender-pay-gap-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#government-major-projects-portfolio-(gmpp)-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#government-major-projects-portfolio-(gmpp)-senior-responsible-owners
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#ministerial-gifts,-hospitality,--travel-and-meetings
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#monthly-payment-card-data-over-%C2%A3500-
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#non-consolidated-performance-related-pay
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#prompt-payment-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#senior-civil-servants'-business-appointment-applications
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#senior-officials'-business-expenses,-hospitality-and-meetings
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#special-advisers%E2%80%99-gifts,-hospitality-and-meetings
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#spend-control-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data#workforce-management-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 83

The IfG produces data sets and analysis and publishes reports, guides and thought pieces. 
Two major reports that provide comprehensive data analysis and insight include the 
Whitehall Monitor and, in partnership with CIPFA, the Performance Tracker. 

Whitehall Monitor
The Whitehall Monitor is the IfG’s data-informed analysis of the size, shape and performance 
of government. The IfG publishes an annual report, topical commentary and regularly 
updated ‘explainers’ on different areas of government.

In the latest Whitehall Monitor (2018), the IfG brought together over 500 datasets into 94 
infographics in areas such as: 

 � workforce

 � government finances

 � managing public spending

 � delivering major projects

 � measuring performance

 � communications and transparency

 � political leadership

 � passing legislation. 

Information is presented in an easily accessible and understandable way so the reader can 
assess how central government departments are relative to one another in each of the above 
areas. 

One note of caution when comparing statistics from different sources is to check what is 
included in the definition to make sure to be comparing like with like. 

For example, in the workforce analysis, the IfG shows the number of civil servants as nearly 
400,000. However, the ONS data set states that the number of civil servants is just over 
300,000. The difference is explained by different departments being included in the ONS list 
and the IfG’s list, for instance non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs) and agencies. 

There are also many explainers and commentaries provided to help the user to have a cross 
central government view of the many other data sets; in this case it is looking at workforce 
information. For example, in the commentary accompanying the chart, the IfG further breaks 
down the data into insights, such as the fact that the top four departments account for 65% 
of the total number of civil servants working in central government and the majority work 
in the ‘core’ department, rather than in executive agencies or non-ministerial government 
bodies.

Performance Tracker
The Performance Tracker, published by CIPFA and the IfG looks at datasets across key public 
services to provide a comprehensive picture of the performance of government. Areas covered 
include:

 � health and social care 

 – general practitioners Page 149

https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/whitehall-monitor
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/our-work/performance-tracker


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 84

 – hospitals 

 – adult social care

 � schools

 � law and order

 – police 

 – criminal courts

 – prisons

 � local neighbourhood services

 � UK visas and immigration.

The Performance Tracker shows what has happened to spending, scope and quality across 
the five public services since 2010, drawing on publicly available information and data on 
different indicators. 

For example, the IfG presented a chart showing the change in spending on NHS providers (in 
real terms, after taking into account the effectives of inflation) from 2009/10–2016/17. This 
data is derived from the former DH (renamed the DHSC in the 2017 Autumn Budget). 

By bringing together these different metrics, the Performance Tracker adds to the debate on 
the impact of inputs (ie government funding) to outputs (specific government policy/delivery 
areas). There is more analysis and insight provided in the report for this area, and it has been 
simplified here to show the reader what is available and examples of how the information is 
presented and analysed. 

However, as discussed previously, performance management remains an issue within 
government, and it is often difficult to assess the impact of changing government spending 
in one area and comparing this to another area to consider if it would be better to spend the 
money elsewhere, or where it is best to spend any additional funding in the system. This 
remains a difficult question to answer due to the lack of performance data.  

INSTITUTE FOR FISCAL STUDIES (IFS)
The independent Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) was launched in 1969 with the “principal 
aim of better informing public debate on economics in order to promote the development of 
effective fiscal policy”. Today, the IFS is seen as Britain’s leading independent microeconomic 
research institute. Its remit covers many areas including tax, benefits, education policy and 
labour supply.  

One area it is renowned for is its public finances analysis including on the Budget, spending 
review and the Spring Statement. All analysis, video explainers and presentations are freely 
available from the IFS website, as well as commentary in the national press. 

There are numerous other think tanks producing valuable analysis and insights on 
government data, some focusing on a particular sector such as The Kings Fund and the 
Nuffield Trust focusing on health, or the Local Government Association (LGA) focusing on local 
government issues and others focusing on improvement to delivery of public services, such 
as Reform, or reform of public finances, specifically tax levels such as the Taxpayers Alliance 
and other functions or professional commentators, such as the professional accountancy Page 150

https://www.ifs.org.uk/about/
https://www.ifs.org.uk/research_areas/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/health-care-explained?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIhtaDpqzL2gIVyTLTCh3vzgjIEAAYASAAEgKqJPD_BwE
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIjIjew6zL2gIVbjPTCh2rlAhGEAAYASAAEgKolvD_BwE
https://www.local.gov.uk/
http://www.reform.uk/
http://www.taxpayersalliance.com/


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 85

organisations, HR professionals and the ‘Big Four’ accountancy bodies – PwC, Deloitte, EY and 
KPMG.   

OFFICE FOR BUDGET RESPONSIBILITY (OBR)
The OBR was created in 2010 to provide independent and authoritative analysis of the UK’s 
public finances.

The OBR has five main roles: 

1. Economic and fiscal forecasting – the OBR produces detailed five-year forecasts on 
economic and public finances twice a year. These are to accompany the Budget (usually 
late November) and the Spring Statement (usually March). The forecasts model the likely 
impact of the chancellor’s Budget and/or Spring Statement. The Economic and Fiscal 
Outlook report sets out details of the forecasts. 

2. Evaluating performance against targets – the OBR uses its public finance forecasts 
to judge the government’s performance against its fiscal targets. This is set out in 
the Economic and Fiscal Outlook report. The OBR also assesses the government’s 
performance on welfare spending and this is set out in the Welfare Trends report.

3. Sustainability and balance sheet analysis – the OBR assesses the long-term 
sustainability of public finances, evaluating the impact of current policies based on 
demographic and other changes. This is presented in the Fiscal Sustainability Report 
produced bi-annually to tie in with ONS update population projection. The OBR also 
uses the information published in both the WGA and the national accounts. As seen 
in Chapter 5, the government balance sheet under the national accounts measure is 
significantly lower than under the commercial style accounting standards measures in 
the WGA.   

4. Evaluation of financial risks – every two years the OBR publishes a comprehensive 
assessment of the risks facing the economy, the financial system, tax revenues, public 
spending, the government balance sheet and a fiscal stress test. This is published in the 
Fiscal Risks Report. 

5. Scrutinising tax and welfare policy costing – the OBR scrutinises the government’s 
costing of individual tax and welfare spending measures at each Budget. The government 
provides the OBR with draft costings in the run-up to each statement, and the OBR will 
subject these to detailed scrutiny and challenge.

The outcome of this evaluation is included as an annex to the Economic Fiscal Outlook report.

The OBR has also developed an accessible Brief Guide to UK Public Finances. This is updated 
following every Budget or the Spring Statement. 

This covers four key areas: 

1. How much money does the UK government raise through taxes and other revenues?

2. How much money it will spend?

3. Will it spend more than it raises (so will it need to borrow money to make up the 
shortfall) or will it spend less?

4. How much will be added to (or paid off) the national debt? Page 151

http://obr.uk/about-the-obr/what-we-do/
http://obr.uk/efo/economic-fiscal-outlook-march-2018/
http://obr.uk/efo/economic-fiscal-outlook-march-2018/
http://obr.uk/wtr/welfare-trends-report-january-2018/
http://obr.uk/fsr/fiscal-sustainability-report-january-2017/
http://obr.uk/frr/fiscal-risk-report-july-2017/
http://obr.uk/docs/dlm_uploads/BriefGuide-SS18.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 86

Each of these areas is explained in clear, understandable language.

NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE (NAO)
The NAO is a key source of information on government spending and whether the taxpayer 
has received value for money for the total government spending. The NAO is not limited to 
auditing the financial statements of central government bodies’ accounts and their agencies 
and non-departmental public bodies, although this remains a key deliverable for the NAO. 

The NAO is led by the C&AG. Both the C&AG and the NAO staff are independent of the 
government. The NAO’s budget is set by the Public Accounts Committee which also oversees 
the work. The governance of the NAO is led by a board comprising of NEDs. 

There are five main areas of the NAO’s work, as illustrated in Figure 9.1.

Figure 9.1: The NAO’s work 2017/18

Financial Audit

370

Value for 
Money Audits & 
Investigations 

65

Best Practice 
Guides: 7 

& 

Short Guides: 
25

Support for 
Parliament

evidence 
provided for 51 

hearing 

International 
Activity

Audit EU spend 
in the UK

Audit Int bodies

INTOSAI & 
EUROSAI  
members

Source:  The NAO Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 

The financial audit has been discussed in detail throughout this publication. This section 
highlights the other important role that the NAO and the C&AG perform to provide 
accountability for public finances, as is illustrated in Figure 9.2. 

Page 152



CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 87

Figure 9.2: The accountability process

Parliament 
grants funds 

to government

C&AG audits 
accounts, 
examines 

government 
spending and 

reports to 
Parliament

PAC meets to 
discuss NAO 

reports, takes 
evidence from 

accounting 
officers and makes 
recommendations

Goverment 
responds to PAC 

recommendations

Source:  Extract from An Introduction to the NAO PowerPoint presentation

To help deliver accountability, the NAO produces many helpful documents including the 
following outlined below. 

Guides 
The NAO has developed guides to help the reader have a better understanding of the different 
government departments, what each department does, how much it spends, recent and 
planned changes and what to look out for across its main business areas and services. 

The NAO brings together insights from all its work on the particular department, including 
value for money audits, financial audit, investigations and other information used to help 
support the Committee of Public Accounts hearings. 

For example, the Short Guide to the Department of Health and NHS England is split into 
the following sections: key facts, an overview of the department, key trends, an analysis on 
where the DH (now DHSC) and NHS England spend the money, spending pressures, major 
programmes and development, key themes from the NAO reports and accountability to 
Parliament. The interactive guide also refers the reader to other reports that are mentioned in 
the analysis, such as the previous issues identified in the audit of the financial statements. 

This appears to be the standard format for the short reviews. The NAO has also developed a 
guide to help those with an oversight role to understand central government accounts (NAO 
2014). The guide runs from the funding cycle to the annual report, providing an overview 
of the accounts and explaining each of the core statements (with supporting extracts from 
departments’ accounts), the notes and the trust statement. 

Page 153

https://www.nao.org.uk/about-us/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/07/Introduction-National-Audit-Office.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2017-Short-Guide-to-the-Department-of-Health-and-NHS-England.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/Guide-to-understanding-departmental-accounts.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 88

It also has numerous ‘challenge’ boxes guiding the reader to look at specific areas in the 
accounts to consider where there could be an issue. For example, in relation to leases and PFI 
commitments, the NAO proposes the following challenge in Figure 9.3.

Figure 9.3: ‘Challenge’

Challenge

Are there any significant commitments which are at risk from potential changes in policy 
or plans? For example, are any leased buildings likely to become unused before the end 
of the lease period?

Have management clearly explained the rationale behind any additional obligations 
entered into during the year?

Source: The NAO’s Guide to Understanding Departmental Accounts (2014), page 33 

Value for money (VfM) reports
The NAO conducts over 60 value for money (VfM) audits each year. These provide a rich source 
of information and are an important tool to provide better accountability. 

According to the NAO: 

A value for money study focuses on a specific area of government expenditure, and seeks to 
reach a judgement on whether value for money has been achieved. We define good value for 
money as the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes.

Source: The NAO’s What Is a Value for Money Study 

The VfM audit is a wide-ranging review that looks at financial analysis; analysis of 
management information; documentary review; interviews or focus groups with departmental 
and other staff; literature review; surveys of practitioners or service users; and benchmarking 
with other organisations or other countries.

The outcome is a report that is presented to Parliament and the PAC, which consider the 
report. The PAC often holds hearings, supported by the NAO, asking further questions of the 
senior officials on the issues identified in the VfM audit. The outcome from this is that the 
PAC drafts its own reports and the government must respond to these. Therefore, this is a 
powerful tool to deliver accountability and ensure the optimal use of resources.

The NAO report on Accountability to Parliament for Taxpayers’ Money highlighted the 
challenge faced by the lead government official for each government body to effectively 
complete its dual role: to ensure effective policy implementation and deliver value for 
money. Changes have “tilted the balance so that Accounting Officers have greater pressures 
to give weight to political drivers rather than public value” (Accountability to Parliament for 
Taxpayers’ Money, February 2016, para 5). 

Page 154

https://www.nao.org.uk/about-us/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/10/What-is-a-value-for-money-study.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Accountability-for-Taxpayers-money.pdf


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 89

The report made a number of recommendations and, as a result, HM Treasury changed 
guidance for the accounting officer in Managing Public Money, Chapter 3. In addition to the 
other requirements, the accounting officer is now required to prepare: 

 � an accounting officer system statement 

 � an accounting officer assessment of major projects.

The aim is to give the accounting officer firmer ownership of the whole system of 
accountability – this has become an increasing issue with a number of delivery partners, 
with the question as to who retains overall individual responsibility/accountability being 
important. 

One of the best examples that was cited by the NAO is the former DCLG (now MHCLG). Figure 
9.4 is an extract from the DCLG’s Accounting Officer Accountability System Statements for 
Local Government and for Fire and Rescue Authorities (September 2013).

Page 155

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/245118/Accounting_Officer_Accountability_System_statements_for_LG_and_FRAs.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/245118/Accounting_Officer_Accountability_System_statements_for_LG_and_FRAs.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 90

Figure 9.4: Accountability systems within the former DCLG
Pa

rl
ia

m
en

t

Co
re

 a
cc

ou
nt

ab
ili

ty
 s

ys
te

m
 

–
on

 re
gu

la
ri

ty
, p

ro
pr

ie
ty

 a
nd

va
lu

e 
fo

r m
on

ey

D
CL

G

Lo
ca

l A
ut

ho
ri

ty

Au
di

to
r

(o
ve

rs
ee

n 
by

Au
di

t
Co

m
m

is
si

on
)

Lo
ca

l
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t
Om

bu
ds

m
an

Th
e 

pu
bl

ic

Re
gu

la
to

rs
/

in
sp

ec
to

rs

D
H

sc
he

m
es

De
pa

rt
m

en
ts

Ac
co

un
ta

bi
lit

y
Sy

st
em

St
at

em
en

ts

Ad
ul

t s
oc

ia
l

ca
re

 a
nd

pu
bl

ic
 h

ea
lth

fr
om

 2
01

3

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d 
ch

ild
re

n’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

D
fE

D
fT

D
CL

G

CQ
C*

Of
st

ed
*

Of
fic

er
s

Fu
ll 

Co
un

ci
l

Co
un

ci
l 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e
Ul

tim
at

e 
ac

co
un

ta
bi

lit
y 

lie
s 

w
ith

 th
e 

fu
ll 

co
un

ci
l

Lo
ca

l 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t 
As

so
ci

at
io

n 
(L

GA
)

Th
e 

LG
A 

pr
ov

id
es

 p
ee

r 
ch

al
le

ng
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t 

to
 lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 
bu

t 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 
ar

e 
no

t 
ac

co
un

ta
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

LG
A 

* 
Re

gu
la

to
rs

/in
sp

ec
to

ra
te

s 
di

ff
er

 
in

 s
co

pe
 o

f t
he

ir 
ro

le
s

D
EF

RA

Lo
ca

l 
tr

an
sp

or
t 

m
aj

or
 

sc
he

m
es

Fi
re

W
as

te

Diagram showing the accountability system statements relevant to local government and the main 
organisations involved in them.

Source: Accounting Officer Accountability System Statements for Local Government and for Fire and 
Rescue Authorities (DCLG, September 2013)Page 156



CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 91

Investigations
The NAO also conducts detailed investigations into specific areas to establish the facts. These 
are based on a rapid assessment of the issue to consider whether it is a failure in service 
quality or financial management or something else, targeted to deliver timely findings. 

A high-profile example was the NAO’s investigation into the government funding of the failed 
Kids Company. This high profile investigation found:

[T]hat on at least six occasions between 2002 and 2015 officials had raised concerns about 
the finances of the children’s charity, Kids Company. Yet the charity continued to receive 
public funding – totalling at least £46 million.

This investigation shed light on cases of ministers making funding decisions despite official 
recommendations to the contrary, particularly as the final £3 million grant was made on the 
basis of a ‘Ministerial directive’. 

The ministerial directive is an important measure where the lead government official, the 
permanent secretary, is required by the minister to implement policy initiative regardless 
of whether they agree with it. The permanent secretary is also the accounting officer and so 
must ensure that the spending meets the requirements set out in Managing Public Money (ie 
regularity, propriety, value for money and feasibility).

Best practice
Through the extensive work that the NAO does, it has a unique overview of public sector issues 
and is able to identify and showcase best practice. The NAO regularly celebrates excellence in 
public sector reporting through its publication of the annual Public Sector Awards. The latest 
Good Practice from the Excellence in Reporting in the Public Sector Award – Building Public 
Trust Awards highlight good examples and highlight these for other public sector bodies to 
emulate. 

This is an interactive guide assessing over 50 reports from both the public, private and charity 
sector.

The assessment criteria are set out in Figure 9.5.

Page 157

https://www.nao.org.uk/naoblog/nao-investigates/
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Investigation-the-governments-funding-of-Kids-Company.pdf


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 92

Figure 9.5: The NAO principles of a good annual report

Accountability Transparency

 � ‘Telling the story’ of the organisation in a 
fair and balanced way.

 � Compliance with the relevant reporting.

 � Clear action points to take forward.

 � Frank and honest analysis.

 � Consideration of the challenges an 
organisation is facing.

 � Appropriate use of data.

 � Quantification of risks and performance 
measures.

Accessibility Understandable

 � Highlights key trends in the financial 
statements.

 � Concise summaries of key points.

 � Consideration of how the organisation 
engages with key stakeholders and meets 
their needs.

Use of:

 � Plain English to explain difficult concepts.

 � Infographics and diagrams to 
communicate important messages.

 � Clearly integrated structure to help users 
navigate it effectively.

Source: Good Practice in Annual Reports (NAO, 2016/17) 

Since the award was launched in 2002, there have been over 18 awards presented. This fulfils 
the NAO’s aim to raise the standards in reporting in the public sector. 

HM TREASURY
HM Treasury is the government’s economic and finance ministry, maintaining control over 
public spending, setting the direction of the UK’s economic policy and working to achieve 
strong and sustainable economic growth (What HM Treasury Does).

As a department, it is also responsible for:

 � public spending policy (including departmental spending)

 � financial services policy (including banking and financial services regulation)

 � strategic oversight of the UK tax system (including, for example, income tax, personal 
allowance and National Insurance)

 � ensuring the economy is growing sustainably

 � setting guidance for accountability and financial reporting in government departments 

 � the production of the WGA, consolidating the audited accounts of more than 6,000 
organisations across the UK public sector, including central and local government (A 
Short Guide to HM Treasury, NAO, 2017).

Page 158

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Good-Practice-in-annual-reports-2016-17.pdf page 4
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-treasury
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/A-Short-guide-to-HM-Treasury-2017.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/A-Short-guide-to-HM-Treasury-2017.pdf


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 93

Since 1866, the House of Common’s historic function of controlling expenditure has been 
delegated to the Treasury and to departmental accounting officers. The Treasury prepares 
guidance that Departments must follow. This includes: 

the Consolidated Budgeting Guidance contains the guidance for government departments on 
the budgeting framework that applies for expenditure control and is updated annually

Managing Public Money
the FReM which sets out the financial reporting standards that must be followed by the 
preparers of the accounts. 

The Treasury also sets out the standard templates for central government departments, 
agencies and other bodies to follow. This is updated annually to reflect any changes in the 
accounting standards. 

The Treasury also publishes various other guides on projects. These are a series of colours.

The Green Book covers appraisal and evaluation in central government. The Green Book gives 
guidance to civil servants on how to appraise and evaluate policies, projects and programmes. 
To support the Green Book there is a raft of supplementary guidance covering:

 � specific contexts (ranging from asset valuation to risk to optimism bias and sectors such 
as health and transport)

 � public sector business cases using the five case business model: guidance, templates, 
checklist and training. 

This helps the preparers and evaluators of business cases in central government to 
understand the standards and expectations. In addition, there is a short plain English guide 
on business cases available too.

The Magenta Book is guidance on what to think about when designing an evaluation. It 
explains how results can be interpreted and presented, and what should be considered in this 
process.

The Magenta Book outlines how thinking about evaluation before and during policy-making 
can improve the quality of results produced to evaluate that policy.

The guidance is mostly used by central government, but is also useful for policy-makers in 
local government, charities and the voluntary sectors.

The Aqua Book provides guidance on producing quality analysis for government. It is a good 
practice guide to those working with analysis and analytical models. 

Additional tools, guidance and templates to support the Aqua Book are also available. 

There is more guidance – open data, eg rules on budgeting and financial reporting, are 
available on the GOV.UK website, as well as other documents on procurement rules in central 
government. With such a wide remit, the Treasury make all the guidance and resources 
publicly available on the GOV.UK website. 

Page 159

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/190.pdf
tps://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681713/2018-19_Consolidated_Budget_Guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-financial-reporting-manual-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/government-financial-reporting-manual-2018-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-green-book-appraisal-and-evaluation-in-central-governent
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/190609/Green_Book_guidance_short_plain_English_guide_to_assessing_business_cases.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/190609/Green_Book_guidance_short_plain_English_guide_to_assessing_business_cases.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-aqua-book-guidance-on-producing-quality-analysis-for-government
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/aqua-book-resources


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 94

CABINET OFFICE 
In addition to the information that the Treasury requires government departments to publish, 
the Cabinet Office also centrally publishes transparency data. This includes information on:

 � Civil Service sickness and absence data

 � ministers’ interest declarations

 � ministers’ salary data

 � senior civil servants’ names, grades, job titles and annual pay rates

 � special advisers’ names, grades and annual pay.

This information is provided under the government efficiency policy. 

SELECT COMMITTEE REPORTS
Parliamentary select committees publish numerous reports in any Parliamentary session 
covering a wider range of issues including health, the police and education. This is an 
important means to assess scrutiny and accountability of government policy and public 
finances. 

It may not be possible to assess all the reports and committee meeting hearings, oral 
and written evidence (although this is available through Hansard unless there is a specific 
policy area of interest). In may be worth focussing on cross-government select committees 
including the PAC.

The PAC is appointed by the House of Commons to examine:

The accounts showing the appropriation of the sums granted to Parliament to meet the 
public expenditure, and of such other accounts laid before Parliament as the Committee may 
think fit (Standing Order No 148).

This committee scrutinises the VfM – the economy, efficiency and effectiveness – of public 
spending and generally holds the government and its civil servants to account for the delivery 
of public services.

As delivery models for public services have changed, so the reach of the committee, in 
following the taxpayer’s pound, has spread beyond government departments to also examine 
public bodies and, increasingly, private companies providing public services. It is for this 
reason that the PAC is seen as one of the most important committees. 

Note the committee looks at how rather than why public money has been spent and does 
not examine the merits of government policy. This is in the remit of individual departmental 
select committees.

The reports are prepared by the NAO. 

Page 160

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-service-sickness-absence
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/list-of-ministers-interests
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ministerial-salary-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/senior-officials-high-earners-salaries
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/special-adviser-data-releases-numbers-and-costs
https://hansard.parliament.uk/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/public-accounts-committee/role/


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 95

The Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee 
(PACAC)
The PACAC examines constitutional issues and the quality and standards of administration 
within the Civil Service. It also scrutinises the reports of the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman.

The Committee of Public Accounts (PAC)
The PAC is the oldest select committee in the House of Commons.

Lord Hennessy described the PAC as:

The queen of the select committees … [which] … by its very existence exerted a cleansing 
effect in all government departments.

Source: History – Public Accounts Committee 

More information on the history of the PAC – how it came into existence in 1861 when the 
then chancellor of the exchequer, William Gladstone, moved to implement Sir Francis Baring’s 
recommendation to set up a Select Committee on Public Monies – is provided in Holding 
Government to Account:150 Years of History.

Two key themes and strategic priorities for the PAC’s programme of work during this 
Parliament are: 

1. the UK’s changing constitution

2. the efficacy of the civil service and machinery of government.

There are some obvious overlaps between the areas the PAC and PACAC review, and it is not 
uncommon for the two select committees to work together on cross-cutting issues. 

These are only two of the different select committees. The following lists all (as at April 2018) 

 � Administration Committee

 � Armed Forces Bill Select Committee 2015

 � Arms Export Controls (Committees on)

 � Artificial Intelligence Committee

 � Audit Committee (Lords)

 � Backbench Business Committee

 � Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Committee

 � Citizenship and Civic Engagement Committee

 � Commons Reference Group on Representation and Inclusion

 � Communications Committee

 � Consolidation Bills

 � Constitution Committee

 � Court of Referees

 � Defence Committee

 � Defence Sub-Committee
Page 161

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/public-administration-and-constitutional-affairs-committee/role/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/public-accounts-committee/history-of-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/public-accounts/pac-history-booklet-pdf-version-p1.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/public-accounts/pac-history-booklet-pdf-version-p1.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/administration-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/armed-forces-bill-committee-2015/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/committee-on-arms-export-controls/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/ai-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/house-of-lords-audit/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/backbench-business-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/business-energy-industrial-strategy/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/citizenship-civic-engagement/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/reference-group-representation-inclusion/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/communications-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/consolidation-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/constitution-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/court-of-referees/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/defence-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/defence-committee/defencesubcommittee/


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 96

 � Delegated Legislation Committee

 � Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee

 � Digital, Culture, Media and Sport Committee

 � Draft Investigatory Powers Bill

 � Draft Protection of Charities Bill

 � Ecclesiastical Committee

 � Economic Affairs Committee

 � Economic Affairs Finance Bill Sub-Committee

 � Education Committee

 � Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Committee

 � Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Sub-Committee

 � Environmental Audit Committee

 � Estimate Audit Committees

 � EU Energy and Environment Sub-Committee

 � EU External Affairs Sub-Committee

 � EU Financial Affairs Sub-Committee

 � EU Home Affairs Sub-Committee

 � EU Internal Market Sub-Committee

 � EU Justice Sub-Committee

 � EU Select Committee

 � European Committee

 � European Scrutiny Committee

 � Exiting the European Union Committee

 � Finance Committee

 � Finance Committee (Lords)

 � Foreign Affairs Committee

 � Health and Social Care Committee

 � High Speed Rail (London - West Midlands) Bill Select Committee (Commons)

 � High Speed Rail (London - West Midlands) Bill Select Committee (Lords)

 � High Speed Rail (West Midlands – Crewe) Bill Select Committee

 � Home Affairs Committee

 � House Committee

 � House of Commons Commission

 � House of Lords Commission

 � Housing, Communities and Local Government Committee

 � Human Rights

Page 162

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/hansard/commons/gc-debates/delegated-legislation-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/delegated-powers-and-regulatory-reform-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/digital-culture-media-and-sport-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/draft-investigatory-powers-bill/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/draft-protection-of-charities-bill/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/ecclesiastical-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/economic-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/economic-affairs-finance-bill-sub-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-committee/environment-food-and-rural-affairs-sub-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/environmental-audit-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/estimate-audit-committees/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-energy-environment-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-external-affairs-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-financial-affairs-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-home-affairs-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-internal-market-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-justice-subcommittee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/eu-select-committee-/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/hansard/commons/gc-debates/european-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/european-scrutiny-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/exiting-the-european-union-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/finance-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/finance-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/foreign-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/health-and-social-care-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/high-speed-rail-london-west-midlands-bill-select-committee-commons/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/high-speed-rail-london-west-midlands-bill-select-committee-lords/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/high-speed-rail-west-midlands-crewe-bill-select-committee-commons/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/home-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/house-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/house-of-commons-commission/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/house-of-lords-commission/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/housing-communities-and-local-government-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/human-rights-committee/


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 97

 � Hybrid Instruments Committee

 � Information Committee (Lords)

 � Intellectual Property (Unjustified Threats) Bill Committee

 � Intelligence and Security Committee of Parliament

 � International Development Committee

 � International Relations Committee

 � International Trade Committee

 � Justice Committee

 � Leader’s Group on Governance

 � Liaison Committee (Commons)

 � Liaison Committee (Lords)

 � Long-Term Sustainability of the NHS Committee

 � Lord Speaker’s committee on the size of the House

 � Lords’ Conduct (Sub-Committee)

 � Members Estimate Committee

 � Members’ Expenses Committee

 � National Security Strategy

 � NERC Act 2006 Committee

 � Northern Ireland Affairs Committee

 � Northern Ireland Grand Committee

 � Palace of Westminster

 � Panel of Chairs

 � Petitions Committee

 � Political Polling and Digital Media

 � Privileges and Conduct (Committee for)

 � Privileges Committee

 � Procedure Committee (Commons)

 � Procedure Committee (Lords)

 � Public Accounts Commission

 � Public Accounts Committee

 � Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee

 � Refreshment Committee

 � Regulatory Reform Committee

 � Science and Technology Committee (Commons)

 � Science and Technology Committee (Lords)

 � Science and Technology Sub-Committee I

Page 163

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/hybrid-instruments-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/information-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/ip-unjustified-threats-bill/
http://isc.independent.gov.uk/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/international-development-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/international-relations-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/international-trade-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/justice-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/leaders-group-governance/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/liaison-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/liaison-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/nhs-sustainability-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/size-of-house-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/sub-committee-on-lords-conduct/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/members-estimate/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/members-expenses/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/national-security-strategy/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/nerc-act-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/northern-ireland-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/hansard/commons/gc-debates/northern-ireland-grand-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/joint-committee-on-the-palace-of-westminster/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/panel-of-chairs/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/petitions-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/political-polling-digital-media/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/privileges-committee-for-privileges/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/privileges/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/procedure-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/procedure-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/public-accounts-commission/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/public-accounts-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/public-administration-and-constitutional-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/refreshment-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/regulatory-reform-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/science-and-technology-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/science-and-technology-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/science-and-technology-sub-committee-i/


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 98

 � Scottish Affairs Committee

 � Scrutiny Unit

 � Secondary Legislation Scrutiny Committee

 � Selection (Committee of) (Lords)

 � Selection (Commons)

 � Services Committee

 � Speaker’s Committee for IPSA

 � Speaker’s Committee on the Electoral Commission

 � Standards Committee

 � Standards in Public Life Committee

 � Standards Review Sub-Committee

 � Standing Orders (Private Bills) (Commons)

 � Standing Orders (Private Bills) (Lords)

 � Statutory Instruments (Joint Committee)

 � Statutory Instruments Committee (Commons)

 � Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy

 � Sub-Committee on the Work of the Independent Commission for Aid Impact

 � Transport Committee

 � Treasury Committee

 � Treasury Sub-Committee

 � Welsh Affairs Committee

 � Welsh Grand Committee

 � Women and Equalities Committee

 � Work and Pensions Committee

 � Works of Art (Speaker’s Advisory Committee)

 � Works of Art Advisory Panel (Lords)

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (FOI) REQUESTS 
The Information Commissioners Office (ICO) sets out the freedom of information (FOI) 
requirements and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

Another means to ascertain specific information about public sector bodies is to use the 
freedom of information process. Most departments have established processes for this and 
usually provide a dedicated email address to contact the department with the specific 
request. 

Anyone may request any information that is held by a public authority. However, this does 
not mean that the public authority is always obliged to provide the information. In fact, there 
are some provisions in the Act to prevent certain disclosure such as details of individual court 
cases or issues of security. Page 164

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/scottish-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/secondary-legislation-scrutiny-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/committeeofselection/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/committee-of-selection-commons/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/services-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/speakers-committee-for-the-independent-parliamentary-standards-authority/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/speakers-committee-on-the-electoral-commission/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/standards/
http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/standards/standards-review-sub-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/standing-orders/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/lords-select/standing-orders/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/joint-select/statutory-instruments/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/statutory-instruments-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/education-skills-and-economy/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/international-development-committee/sub-committee-on-the-work-of-the-independent-commission-for-aid-impact1/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/transport-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/treasury-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/treasury-committee/treasury-sub-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/welsh-affairs-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/hansard/commons/gc-debates/welsh-grand-committees/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/women-and-equalities-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/work-and-pensions-committee/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/works-of-art/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/other-committees/lords-works-of-art/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-freedom-of-information/what-is-the-foi-act/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Freedom_of_Information_Act_2000%5d


CHAPTER 9 \ OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

Page 99

There are three specific practical reasons where public bodies can refuse an entire request:

1. It would cost too much or take too much staff time to deal with the request.

2. The request is vexatious.

3. The request repeats a previous request from the same person.

Central government departments often cite the high cost/too much time reason to refuse 
FOI requests. In fact, research from the IfG shows that over the last few years the number of 
unanswered FOIs has increased. In the period July to September 2017, central government 
departments received over 8,000 requests. Of these, three-quarters were resolvable (for 
the other requests information was either not held or advice was provided), one-third were 
granted in full and a further 28% were withheld in full (half of these were due to cost limit or 
exemption).  

CONCLUSION
There is a wealth of information available and through demands for greater transparency and 
accessibility (including understandability) both the volume and importantly quality of the 
information has improved considerably in a few short years. The UK is ranked eighth in TI’s 
global CPI 2017 and is recognised for the significant improvements it has made in the index 
scores since 2012.  

There are gaps in the information that is currently openly available. In some cases this 
is understandable, such as in the interest of national security, but this is not the case for 
all data and information central government does not make available. There is more that 
could and should be made available. This would enhance transparency, accountability and 
potentially help with developing options and solutions – this can be seen with the number 
of apps being developed, or how think tanks evaluate the data to offer new and innovative 
insights and solutions to provide public services that deliver value for public money.

There is an increased appetite for greater transparency. Therefore, if the public and other 
stakeholders want better information on government finances, or what the spend is on 
particular policies and other information, then the public needs to ask for this. The first step 
is to know what information is already publicly available. 

Are we there yet? No, but there is a lot of information readily available. The starting point is 
knowing what is out there, where to look and the questions to ask. 

Page 165



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 100

Page 166



Page 101

CHAPTER 10

Opportunities/areas for further 
improvements 

In a few short years, the level of government data that is made public has increased 
dramatically, from the transition to commercial-style financial reporting to information 
on individual contracts over £10,000 and reporting to information on ministerial gifts, 
hospitality, travel and meetings. However, there is more that could be done to fully exploit the 
data.  

ACCESS TO THE INFORMATION AND MAKE PUBLIC DATA PUBLIC
Access to the information would be enhanced if government departments made Excel file 
versions of the data available (similar to data sets made available by the ONS and the OBR) 
allowing greater external analysis of the information by think tanks or others able to translate 
into visualisation/info-graphics. While some of the data is available in these formats, this is 
not universally the case. 

For example, the central government departments’ annual report and accounts are presented 
on the website as well as in printable versions, but they are not available in as Excel or CSV 
files. The PACAC Report on Accounting for Democracy also raised this issue. 

There should be a list of all the public accounts and the audit opinion. For example, the 
NAO completes almost 400 audit reviews annually. The NAO publishes a vast array of 
information on the various reviews and audits completed, but there is no overall summary 
of the outcomes including information on qualifications for all to see. It would be helpful to 
have this information and to be able to track it over years to identify any trends which could 
indicate other underlying issues. 

For example, for the accounting year 2016/17, the following central government departments 
and their bodies’ accounts were qualified as illustrated in Figure 10.1

Page 167

file://C:\Users\RhiannonP\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\81GR096W\House of Commons Public Administration and Constitutional Affairs Committee Accounting for democracy: making sure Parliament, the people and ministers know how and why public money is spent  Fourteenth Report of Session 2016


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 102

Figure 10.1: Central government bodies’ annual report and accounts 
where the audit opinion was qualified in 2016/17

Account Type Period Audit Qualification: 
reason

Ministry of Defence Resource account 2016/17 Financial Statements 
(True and Fair)

HMRC Resource account 2016/17 Regularity (Other)

Department for Work 
and Pensions

Resource account 2016/17 Regularity (Other)

National Offender 
Management service

Executive agency 2016/17 Regularity (other)

Transport Focus Executive agency 2016/17 Regularity (Other)

High Speed 2 Resource account 2016/17 Regularity (Other)

Competition and 
Markets Authority

Resource account 2016/17 Regularity (Excess 
vote)

House of Commons 
Members

Resource account 2016/17 Regularity (Excess 
vote)

Academy Schools 
Sector in England

Resource account 2015/16 Financial Statements 
(True and Fair)

This information can be extracted through a thorough review of the NAO website or by 
examining the individual department’s annual report and accounts, but this is extremely 
time-consuming. A summary of all government bodies’ audit opinions would be very helpful, 
with trend information to help identify trends and information regarding which departments/
departmental bodies regularly have their accounts qualified and why. For example, the DWP 
accounts are always qualified due to regularity. 

The reason for the DWP accounts’ perennial qualification is that the budgetary process does 
not allow for any loss through fraud or error. Unfortunately, fraud and error in the benefit 
system is a reality. Therefore, there is a need for the regularity qualification. In the 2017/18 
period of the C&AG’s audit opinion (qualification) on the regularity of benefit expenditure, 
there is additional analysis providing trend data on the overpayments and underpayments for 
the key benefits, as illustrated in Figure 10.2 and 10.3. 

Page 168



CHAPTER 10 \ OPPORTUNITIES/AREAS FOR FURTHER IMPROVEMENTS  

Page 103

Figure 10.2: Overpayments and underpayments in benefit expenditure 
due to fraud and error, 2017/18 compared to 2016/17
The levels of overpayments and underpayments, as a percentage of benefit expenditure, have 
increased in 2017/18.

2017/18 2016/17 Change 2017/18 2016/17 Change

(£bn) (£bn) (£bn) (%) (%) (%)

Total overpayments 3.8 3.5 0.3 


2.1 2.0 0.1 


Total underpayments 1.7 1.6 0.1 


1.0 0.9 0.1 


State Pension 
overpayments

0.1 0.1 0.0 


0.1 0.1 0.0 


State Pension 
underpayments

0.0 0.1 -0.1 


0.1 0.1 -0.1 


Overpayments 
excluding State Pension

3.7 3.4 0.3 


4.4 4.2 0.3 


Underpayments 
excluded State Pension

1.7 1.5 0.2 


2.0 1.9 0.1 


Source: The DWP Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 and C&AG report 

Figure 10.3: Percentage of overpayments  and underpayments in 
continuously measured benefits, 2016/17–2017/18

Overpayments Underpayments

Change 2017/18 2016/17 Change 2017/18 2016/17

(£bn) (£bn) (£bn) (£bn) (£bn) (£bn)

Housing Benefit 0.1 


6.5 6.4 0.1 


1.4 1.3

Employment and 
Support Allowance

0.4 


4.3 3.9 -0.2 


2.6 2.8

Pension Credit 0.6 


5.8 5.2 0.1 


2.4 2.3

Jobseeker’s 
Allowance

07 


6.3 5.6 0.7 


1.3 0.6

Universal Credit 2,4 


7.2* 4.8 0.1 


1.3 1.2

Personal Independent 
Payment

N/A N/A N/A N/A 3.7 N/A

Source: The DWP Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 and C&AG report 

Therefore, it is imperative to review the information in the round. 
Page 169



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 104

TIMELINESS AND OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW
The opportunity to fully scrutinise the financial information is significantly hampered by: 

 � the timeliness of the availability of the information 

 � the amount of time available for review in the select committee review. 

Currently, the annual report and accounts are required to be presented by 30 November under 
the GRAA 2000. In practice, most central government bodies will try to publish their annual 
report and accounts prior to the summer recess period. This is a significant achievement as 
the resource accounts and their predecessors, the appropriation accounts, were required to be 
laid and published by 31 January after the year end.

However, given that the PAC is only able to review these when the House of Commons is in 
session this effectively means that these are not looked at until October. This is seven months 
after the year end and more than half way through the next financial year. Therefore, this 
limits the impact of any meaningful review/opportunity to learn lessons. 

For example, only 13 of the 17 main central government departments’ annual report and 
accounts for 2014/15 were assessed in oral evidence in 2015/16 (Accounting for Democracy, 
para 105, PACAC).

Suggestions to improve the timeliness of the information so that it is an aid to greater 
accountability for public spend include the following: 

Explore in-year reporting – this was a recommendation made by the Scrutiny Unit in 
the Parliamentary Control over Government Budgets 2009. The recommendation was 
implemented in part – that is, the in-year accounts were not subject to audit review. In 
2013/14, the first year departments were required to produce the accounts, all but one 
department (the DH) published their reports on or before 23 January. All but two departments, 
HM Treasury and DfE, did not supply the 2014/15 mid-year reports. No mid-year reports 
have been provided after this date. Mid-year reports that were subject to audit review would 
provide better accountability for public spend and allow for earlier review of progress on 
deliverables and an opportunity to identify and address any potential worrying risks or trends 
during the year, so that these do not crystallise and become wider issues after the financial 
year end when it is too late to impact the outcome. 

Bring forward the financial reporting publication timescales to allow for proper review and 
discussion by select committees. This would mean that the annual report and accounts will 
need to be finalised by mid-June to allow one month for scrutiny before the House rests for 
the summer recess period. 

Provide clearer, more user-friendly information by thinking about how the information is 
presented (ie plain language and better use of data visualisation). Some departments are very 
good at this and have been recognised in the NAO awards for their accessibility and plain 
language. For example, the IfG makes excellent use of and provides invaluable interpretation 
of data that the government makes available. This is not limited to the accounts but other 
measures such as the Civil Service annual staff survey amongst others in the comprehensive 
Whitehall Monitor. 

Page 170

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/20/section/5
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/265638/FRAB__118__02_Simplifying_and_Streamlining_Statutory__Annual_Report_Accounts.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Scrutiny-Unit/MYR-report-Final-24-Apr-2014.docx


CHAPTER 10 \ OPPORTUNITIES/AREAS FOR FURTHER IMPROVEMENTS  

Page 105

Further improvement to performance management – performance management has been 
seen as a perennial issue in government. The challenge is to link inputs to outputs and 
outcomes to answer the question – where best to spend the marginal pound to get the best 
value for (public) money? Central government departments have made huge improvements in 
this area but there is more to do. 

This is a complex area, especially in policy making departments where it may be difficult to 
assess the impact of the policies. However, this should not prevent departments from looking 
into ways to do this and gather the information needed. For instance, the finance director 
general at the former DH told the PAC there was a gap between the allocation of funding by 
his department and accounting for how it is spent at a local level. He stated: 

Within any fixed budget for capital, whatever the value, the direct line of sight between the 
department and how that money gets spent at the local level is quite a complex chain – but 
that is the system within which we operate… Line of sight through the system on the core 
capital budget is quite opaque.

Source:  The DH Finance Chief Says Whitehall Oversight of Local NHS Spending is “too 
opaque”, Tamsin Rutter, Civil Service World, 17 October 2017

Improvements have been made to the accounts. These include: splitting the accounts into 
three interlinked sections on performance, accountability and the financial statements 
through the Treasury’s Simplifying and Streamlining Statutory Annual Report and Accounts. 
However, there is more to be done to make accounts and reports more user-friendly. 

SUMMARY
The UK government has made huge strides in making more data openly available. Data is 
valuable but only when it is refined will it have value:

Data is the new oil. It’s valuable, but if unrefined it cannot really be used. It has to be 
changed into gas, plastic, chemicals, etc. to create a valuable entity that drives profitable 
activity; so must data be broken down, analysed for it to have value. 

Source: Clive Humby, UK mathemetician and architect of Tesco’s Clubcard, 2006

There is more to do to make the data more valuable including greater availability of the 
information held so that it is publicly available, such as the list of audit qualifications 
of central government departments and more timely availability of the information. 
This includes the reintroduction of interim accounts that have been audited, and more 
accessibility such as through providing Excel/CSV versions of all information, or becoming 
more user-friendly through greater use of data visualisation infographics. 

Some departments are already providing more, better, clearer information and demonstrate 
real thought for the reader of the annual report and accounts or other reports as recognised 
in the PwC/NAO annual excellence awards. These provide best practice examples for others to 
learn and apply.  

Page 171

https://www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/news/doh-finance-chief-says-whitehall-oversight-local-nhs-spending-%E2%80%98too-opaque%E2%80%99
https://www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/news/doh-finance-chief-says-whitehall-oversight-local-nhs-spending-%E2%80%98too-opaque%E2%80%99


SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 106

Page 172



Page 107

ANNEX:

Checklist of key questions/
areas to examine in a set of 
central government annual 

report and accounts

CHECKLIST

Performance report 

1 Has the department achieved what it set out to achieve? 

Is there a relationship between the performance report in the annual report and accounts 
and the SDP in terms of targets reported against? 

2 Is it possible to track performance measures?

Can the account lines be tied to these performance indicators?

3 What does the performance data trend show?

Are there trends in the performance data which are important?

4 Is there any information on capability and efficiencies?

Does the performance report report on efficiencies made by the department and/or their 
capability to deliver? 

Accountability

5 How informative is the governance statement? Does it clearly set out the governance 
framework?

6 What was the attendance of the various boards charged with governance? 

7 Is there anything unusual in the lead NED report?

8 Risk assessment: 

Are there any comments from the accounting officer on risk to the business? Is it in line with 
the internal audit report on risk?

9 Risk management :

Have internal audit made any comments on the entity’s control environment?

10 What is the split between permanent staff and others in terms of wage costs, consultancy 
and temporary staff costs? 

11 Is there any data on redundancy payments and levels?

12 Off-payroll arrangements – disclosure included if so what is the trend?

13 Remuneration report – is there any sense of conflicts of interest and gifts Page 173



SCRUTINISING PUBLIC ACCOUNTS \   A GUIDE TO GOVERNMENT FINANCES

Page 108

The C&AG’s report and opinion

14 Have the accounts been qualified? If so, why?

15 Are there any comments on  matters on which the C&AG reports by exception? 

16 Is any C&AG report included with the accounts/further observations by the C&AG on the 
accounts?

17 Are there any matter of emphasis noted by the C&AG?

Financial statements

18 SoPS: How much is spent on staff expenditure?

19 SoPS: What is the staff costs balance between department and departmental group? How 
does this compare to last year?

20 SoCNE: Are there any significant movements in expenditure?

21 SoFP: What are the level of liabilities and level of current liabilities when compared with 
departmental spend and what are the trends?

22 SoFP: Commitments under PFI and non-PFI leases – are there any changes from the previous 
year? 

23 Notes: Segmental report – what information is included in the report ?

24 Notes: Provisions – are there any large changes? What is the scale of provision compared to 
expenditure? Are there any unusual provisions?

25 Notes: Contingent liabilities – what are these? Are there any unusual, new or major changes 
in contingent liabilities?

26 Notes: Related parties – are there any disclosures omitted (based on knowledge of the 
department)? Are there any potential conflicts that warrant questioning/checking to ensure 
there are appropriate counter measures in place to negate any potential or perception of 
conflict?

SOURCES AND FURTHER READING
1. PESA Define Spending on Functions are Based on the United Nations’ Classification Of 

the Functions Of Government (UN COFOG) 

2. Spring Statement 2018 

3. PwC publication: Global Survey on Accounting and Financial Reporting by Central 
Governments (2nd Edition), 14 September 2015 

4. House of Commons Procedure Committee Authorising Government Expenditure: Steps to 
More Effective Scrutiny Fifth Report of Session 2016–17 

5. HM Treasury Guidance: How to Understand Public Sector Spending

6. Procedure Committee, Sixth Report of Session 1998–99, Procedure for Debate on the 
Government’s Expenditure Plans, HC 295, para 52

7. Liaison Committee, First Report of Session 2000–01, Shifting the Balance: Unfinished 
Business, HC 321, paras 76-77

8. Why? What? When? and How? Better Financial Scrutiny: A Guide for Select Committees 
Scrutiny Unit (1st edition), January 2015 Page 174

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630570/60243_PESA_Accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630570/60243_PESA_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/spring-statement-2018
https://www2.anm.gov.my/PublishingImages/SitePages/DokumentasiAkruan/4.0 P4_PwC Global survey.pdf
https://www2.anm.gov.my/PublishingImages/SitePages/DokumentasiAkruan/4.0 P4_PwC Global survey.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/19002.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/cmselect/cmproced/190/19002.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-understand-public-sector-spending/how-to-understand-public-sector-spending
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/history-of-unit/
https://www.parliament.uk/mps-lords-and-offices/offices/commons/scrutinyunit/history-of-unit/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200001/cmselect/cmliaisn/321/32102.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200001/cmselect/cmliaisn/321/32102.htm
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Scrutiny-Unit/Better-Financial-Scrutiny-2015.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-committees/Scrutiny-Unit/Better-Financial-Scrutiny-2015.pdf


ANNEX 1 \ CHECKLIST OF KEY QUESTIONS

Page 109

9. 2018 Ministerial Code 

10. The Government Corporate Governance Code and Guidance (2011) Requires a Comply or 
Explain Approach 

11. There are seven inter-administration financial relations commitments including: 
accountability, autonomy, transparency, economic efficiency, stability and 
predictability, discipline and consent – further detail is covered in the Treasury 
Statement of Funding Guidance 

12. CIPFA Briefing Paper: Funding Devolved Government Across the UK, November 2014 

13. Institute for Government: Explainers 

14. Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) – details of membership, papers and their 
annual reports

15. Further Information on IPSASBs

16. Eurostat European System of National Accounts 2010  

17. UN System of National Accounts (2008) 

18. 18th Annual Meeting of OECD Senior Financial Management and Reporting Officials, 
OECD Paris, 1–2 March 2018 

19. Efficiency Review by Sir Philip Green Key Findings and Recommendations  

20. Guidance on How to Publish Central Government Transparency Data 

21. The NAO Blog: NAO Investigates, Lee Summerfield, 7 July 2017 

22. Latest FRAB Annual Report – 20th Report of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board 
Report for the period April 2016 to March 2017 February 2018 

23. DoH Finance Chief says Whitehall Oversight of Local NHS Spending is ‘too opaque’, Civil 
Service World, Tamsin Rutter, 17 October 2017 

Page 175

file:///C:\Users\susanf\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\JV8M4LSU\1.%09https:\assets.publishing.service.gov.uk\government\uploads\system\uploads\attachment_data\file\672633\2018-01-08_MINISTERIAL_CODE_JANUARY_2018__FINAL___3_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-code-for-central-government-departments
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/corporate-governance-code-for-central-government-departments
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479717/statement_of_funding_2015_print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479717/statement_of_funding_2015_print.pdf
file:///C:\Users\Win 10\Downloads\CIPFA_briefing_funding_devolved_government2014.pdf
file:///C:\Users\susanf\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\INetCache\Content.Outlook\JV8M4LSU\1.%09https:\www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk\explainers\tax-and-devolution
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/financial-reporting-advisory-board-frab
https://www.ipsasb.org/
http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/European_system_of_national_and_regional_accounts_-_ESA_2010
https://unstats.un.org/unsd/nationalaccount/sna2008.asp
http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/18thannualmeetingofoecdseniorfinancialmanagementandreportingofficialsoecdparis1-2march2018.htm
http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/18thannualmeetingofoecdseniorfinancialmanagementandreportingofficialsoecdparis1-2march2018.htm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/61014/sirphilipgreenreview.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/how-to-publish-central-government-transparency-data
https://www.nao.org.uk/naoblog/nao-investigates /
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679429/CCS207_CCS0218928038-1_HC_303_FRAB_Report_Print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679429/CCS207_CCS0218928038-1_HC_303_FRAB_Report_Print.pdf
https://www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/news/doh-finance-chief-says-whitehall-oversight-local-nhs-spending-%E2%80%98too-opaque%E2%80%99
https://www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/news/doh-finance-chief-says-whitehall-oversight-local-nhs-spending-%E2%80%98too-opaque%E2%80%99


Registered office:
77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN

T: +44 (0)20 7543 5600   F: +44 (0)20 7543 5700 
www.cipfa.org 

CIPFA registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060

Page 176



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

FINANCE, ASSETS AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Work Programme 2019/21 

Chair: Councillor Mark Holland 

Vice-Chair: Councillor Bert Proctor 

Members: Burnett, Fear, Hutton, Kearon, Pickup, Robinson, Rout, Stubbs and P. Waring 

Portfolio Holders covering the Committee’s remit: 

Councillor S Tagg, Leader – Corporate and Service Improvement, People and Partnerships  

Councillor Stephen Sweeney - Deputy Leader – Finance and Efficiency 

The following services fall within the remit of this Scrutiny Committee: 

Corporate Strategy Revenue and Capital Budgets 

Council Structure and Democracy Surplus Assets 

External Partnerships (including Newcastle Partnership, 
Staffs. Strategic Partnership, Stoke on Trent and 
Staffordshire LEP, Town Centre BID and Constellation 
Partnership) 

Financial Monitoring 

District Deal Internal Audit 

Economic Development Strategy Procurement 

Human Resources and Payroll Treasury Management 

Keele Deal Revenues and Benefits 

LAPs Increasing Revenue Generation 

Localism Performance Management and Risk Champion 

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 9



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Customer and ICT Services Licensing (incl Taxis) 

Communications and Website Financial Inclusion (incl Living wage) 

Guildhall Health and Safety Champion 

Sports and Leisure Provision for Kidsgrove Car Parks 

Ryecroft and Civic Hub projects  

 

The core Work Programme is determined at the beginning of the municipal year. Issues can be added throughout the year with the 

Chair’s approval or where a new priority area comes to the Committee’s attention.  

For more information on the Committee or its Work Programme please contact Denise French on 01782 742211 or at 

denise.french@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 

DATE OF MEETING ITEM BACKGROUND/OBJECTIVES OUTCOME 

Thursday 19 
September 2019 

Q1 Finance and 
Performance 

  

Work Programme   

Revenues and Benefits – 
Universal Credit 

Impact on benefit claimants and organisational 
impact on NULBC. 

 

Digital Strategy Pre-Cabinet scrutiny of Outline Business Case  

ICT Strategy and 
Development 
Programme 

Review of ICT strategy and development 
programme including plans to migrate to 
Windows 10/Office 365. 

 

Monday 16 
December 2019 

Revenue and Capital 
Budgets 

Pre-cabinet Scrutiny of draft savings proposals 
and capital programme 

Alignment to Council Plan 

MTFS Pre-cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan 

Commercial Strategy Review Governance and Risk Management Assurance that risks are being 
appropriately managed.  
Compliance to MTFS. 

P
age 178

mailto:denise.french@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk


Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

DATE OF MEETING ITEM BACKGROUND/OBJECTIVES OUTCOME 

Revenues, Benefits and 
Customer Services 

Update on restructure proposals Assurance that resourcing 
levels will be sufficient to 
ensure achievement of agreed 
performance targets 

Quarter 2 Performance 
Report 

Review performance indicators. Assurance that indicators 
accurately reflect progress with 
Council Plan.  Alignment to 
MTFS and Budget. 

Thursday 16 
January 2020 

Revenue/Capital Budget 
and Council Tax 

Pre-Cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS. 

Capital Strategy Pre-Cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS. 

Investment Strategy Pre-Cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS. 

Scale of Fees and 
Charges 

Pre-Cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS. 

Treasury Management Pre-Cabinet Scrutiny Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS. 

Thursday 19 March 
2020 

Asset 
Transfer/Community 
Management 

Review examples (e.g. Guildhall) and 
determine preferred model based on learning 
points.  Consider other potential assets for 
transfer (e.g. Community Centres, Kidsgrove 
Sports Centre). 

Adequate community capacity 
and capability.  Financial 
sustainability. 

Kidsgrove Sports Centre Review progress on asset repair/transfer and 
CIC operating model. 

Financial sustainability.  
Community demands. 
 
Councillor Burnett to be asked 
to undertake some research 
into this topic initially and 
report back to the committee. 

Ethical Debt Collection Review progress of pilot schemes in Assurance that use of 

P
age 179



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

DATE OF MEETING ITEM BACKGROUND/OBJECTIVES OUTCOME 

Hammersmith & Fulham and Bristol, and draft 
NULBC Code of Collection Practice. 

collection agent is appropriate 
and proportionate, and impact 
on vulnerable residents is 
minimised. 

Outsourcing of Payroll 
Services 

Review of progress. Assurance that new 
arrangements have delivered 
an improved service and cost 
savings. 

Quarter 3 Performance 
Reports 

Review Performance Indicators Assurance that indicators 
accurately reflect progress with 
Council Plan.  Alignment to 
MTFS and Budget. 

Thursday 25 June 
2020 

LAPS Review of impact on local services. Focus on key local issues.  
Resource solutions. 

Procurements Review commissioning and procurement 
process including whole life costs of 
projects/contracts and robustness of contract 
management procedures. 

Best value. 

Quarter 4 Performance 
Reports 

Review Performance Indicators. Assurance that indicators 
accurately reflect progress with 
Council Plan.  Alignment to 
MTFS and Budget. 

Procurement Review commissioning and procurement 
process including whole life costs of 
projects/contracts and robustness of contract 
management procedures. 

Councillor Hutton to report 
back on his investigative 
findings. 

Thursday 17 
September 2020 

Financial Sustainability 
and Recovery Plan 
 
Quarter 1 Performance 
Report 

Pre-cabinet scrutiny 
 
 
Review Performance Indicators 
 

Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Assurance that indicators 
accurately reflect progress with 

P
age 180



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

DATE OF MEETING ITEM BACKGROUND/OBJECTIVES OUTCOME 

 
 
 
 
CIPFA Guide to Financial 
Scrutiny 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Information and guidance to members on best 
practice 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council Plan. 
Alignment to MTFS and 
Budget 
 
Financial scrutiny is carried out 
in accordance with best 
practice 

December 2020 Revenue/Capital Budget 
and Council Tax 
 
Capital Strategy 
 
 
Investment Strategy 
 
 
Scale of Fees and 
Charges 
 
Treasury Management 

Pre-cabinet scrutiny 
 
 
Pre-cabinet scrutiny 
 
 
Pre-cabinet scrutiny 
 
 
Pre-cabinet scrutiny 
 
 
Pre-cabinet scrutiny 

Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 

18 March 2021 Quarter 3 Performance 
Report 
 
 

Review Performance Indicators 
 
 
 

Assurance that indicators 
accurately reflect progress with 
Council Plan 
Alignment to MTFS and 

P
age 181



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

DATE OF MEETING ITEM BACKGROUND/OBJECTIVES OUTCOME 

 
 
Commercial Strategy 
 
 
Asset Management 
Strategy 

 
 
Update on progress 
 
 
Update on progress 

Budget 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 
 
Alignment to Council Plan and 
MTFS 

 

August 2020 

P
age 182


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 BACK ON TRACK - CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC RECOVERY PLAN UPDATE
	9.9.20 Cabinet Coronavirus FINAL

	6 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND RECOVERY PLAN
	7 FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW REPORT - FIRST QUARTER (APRIL - JUNE) 2020-21
	Financial & Performance Management Q1

	8 CIPFA GUIDE TO FINANCIAL SCRUTINY
	cipfa_scrutinising_2018 (002)
	FOREWORD
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
	LIST OF ANNUAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS
	CONTENTS
	OVERVIEW
	TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY – WHERE TO LOOK FOR INFO? 
	BUDGETS, ESTIMATES AND ACCOUNTS
	QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE GOVERNMENT (PUBLIC) SPENDING 
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT
	FUNDING
	ACCOUNTABILITY
	QUESTIONS TO ASK TO SCRUTINISE LOCAL GOVERNMENT SPENDING
	HEALTH 
	DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS
	THE WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA)
	PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT
	RECOMMENDATIONS 
	FURTHER READING

	CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 
	INCREASING PUBLIC SCRUTINY
	PUBLIC FINANCES 
	THE CONSTITUTION AND ITS ROLE IN SCRUTINY

	CHAPTER 2: BUDGETING IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT, SPENDING REVIEWS AND ESTIMATES 
	THE SPENDING REVIEW
	ESTIMATES
	THE SPENDING LIMITS
	RESTRICTIONS ON SWITCHES 
	SCRUTINY UNIT
	FURTHER SUGGESTED READING

	CHAPTER 3: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS
	PERFORMANCE REPORT
	SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLAN (SDP)
	ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
	REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT
	STATEMENT OF PARLIAMENTARY SUPPLY (SOPS)
	COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL’S CERTIFICATE
	QUALIFIED AUDIT OPINION
	EXCESS VOTE 
	FINANCIAL REPORT
	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
	SUMMARY

	CHAPTER 4: DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS 
	CONTEXT
	FUNDING 
	THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE DEVOLVED ADMINISTRATIONS
	SUMMARY
	FURTHER READING 

	CHAPTER 5: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS 
	FURTHER READING

	CHAPTER 6: TOP AREAS TO EXAMINE IN HEALTH
	LOCAL NHS TRUSTS
	SUMMARY
	FURTHER READING

	CHAPTER 7: WHOLE OF GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTS (WGA)
	WHAT IS THE WGA?
	THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
	GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
	REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT
	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL
	KEY QUESTIONS TO CONSIDER
	SUMMARY

	CHAPTER 8: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IN CENTRAL GOVERNMENT
	GOVERNMENT’S PLANNING AND PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK
	SINGLE DEPARTMENTAL PLANS (SDPS)
	OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION
	PUBLIC VALUE
	SUMMARY
	FURTHER READING 

	CHAPTER 9: OTHER SOURCES OF INFORMATION 
	OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS (ONS)
	DATA GOV UK WEBSITE
	INSTITUTE FOR GOVERNMENT (IFG)
	INSTITUTE FOR FISCAL STUDIES (IFS)
	OFFICE FOR BUDGET RESPONSIBILITY (OBR)
	NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE (NAO)
	HM TREASURY
	CABINET OFFICE 
	SELECT COMMITTEE REPORTS
	FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (FOI) REQUESTS 
	CONCLUSION

	CHAPTER 10: OPPORTUNITIES/AREAS FOR FURTHER IMPROVEMENTS 
	ACCESS TO THE INFORMATION AND MAKE PUBLIC DATA PUBLIC
	TIMELINESS AND OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW
	SUMMARY

	ANNEX: CHECKLIST OF KEY QUESTIONS/AREAS TO EXAMINE IN A SET OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
	SOURCES AND FURTHER READING



	9 WORK PROGRAMME

